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PREFACE

ANY hooks have been written about the

abditation of William II  ‘The chief actors
in the event have given their evidehce, and there
is an abundance of personal recollections and first-
hand details.

None the less, the ¢ale is sot yet a plain tale,
This may be due merely to the-state of confusion
ordinarily inherent in disaster such as is neither
the result of a carefully hatched plot nor the final
ebulltion of creative ideas after a long period of
spiritual preparation. Or it may be that the mere
clatter of the falling thrones of Germany obsessed
the imagination of the onlookers to the detriment
of their powers of observation,

The accounts of eye-witnesses reveal divergences
of all kinds, some significant, and omissions which
are often inexphcable. Innumerable. accounts
exist, most of them embroidered and hristling
with contradictions and unsupporfed assertions—
the whale constigu®pg a historic mist, destined
only for a ridiculous evaporation in the daylight
of fact. The truth coritained in these narratives
varits in inverse proportion to their apparent
accuracy of detail. It would heed the pen of
a satirist adequately to catalogue the fantastic
rumours wh?c?h have been from time tp time
currént as regards the last hours of William II's
reign. 1f the wild canards of the Press of the day,

xi



PRLEFACE

evén of its mork serious elements, were to be sub-
jected to the urferitical examination of pettifoggin
erudition or conscientious simplicity, the result
would be a pot-pourri of the most incredible
imaginings.t

It 1s the aim of this book to passover what may
safely be neglected, and to endeavour to clear of
their ficfitious or melodramatic accretions the
esseatial facts of the day of 9 November 1918,
which saw the end of the thirty-one years' reign
of Willians, third German Emperor, and ninth
King of Prussia. Every effort has been made to
eliminate the hatred that beclouds judgment and
to depict the men and the events as they were and
as they happened.

It, may be asked whether it is not too early to

1A few examples talien at random will serve to show the
variegated netre of these rumours: (1) By the beginning of
MNovember, abdication was already a fait accomp/f, and the
authorities were only waiting for a sufizble moment to announce
it officially; {z) William II had signed an zct of abdication on
30 Oetober before the assembled Princes of the Empire. The
Crown Prince signed fuortly afterwards; he had called upon his
farher to abdicate at once in‘order to swve the dynasty, and-iad
been sxpelled from G.H.Q., after a {iramatic scene and astormy
interview with Hindenburg: {3) Afier bitterly reproaching the
High Commsnd for having deceived him, the Katser had tried
to commit suicide, and a member of his suite had been wounded
ingrying to prevent Him; (4) The Crown Prince had been shot
wahile attempting to cross the Dutch frontier; (5) The Emperor
had fled, sccompanied by the Enlpress, ‘an elderly man, probably
Hindeoburg', Prince Joachim, General von Fa.lkmha}"ﬂ, Ad-
miral von Hiawze, the whole of G.H.Q., forty Generals, a
number of high officialsy ete, ete.

xu
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attempt a study of this nature; whether it is Jet

ossible to consider the events of November 1918
in the serene atmasphere of hisgory, In Germany
in parficular there has,been little abatement of the
rancour born of the Revolution——particular]y in
those circles which think of the Ninth of Novem-
ber as ‘the darkest day in the history of Prussia
and of Germany',

Diespite such ebullitions of the partisan spirit, it
may be claimed that this essay has not been written
too soon; the whole drama of Willian? II and of
his abdication belongs to the past, both as regards
the plot and the actors on the scene. “The curtain
falls and the great drama of dynastic glory reaches
its close.’? ng:n were there, some fear that in
men’s minds the alarms and excursions of inter-
national throat-cutting might fesult in excessive
reverence being paid to the Kaiser (by concentrat-
ing in his person all the warlike passions of a
nation), it must névertheless be realised that the
events here recounted are over and done with; shey
are already in the dim past, a pirt of history, and
can now well be.r~orded ' not only with a corx
sistent attempt at fair-niindedness, but with the
cald impartiality with which a histerian would tell
of the last days of the Imperial House of China.

In this book there is no intention whatsoever of
drawing up an indictment in the name of Eterncl
Justice, of heaping invective on a fallen fos or of
triumphantly criticising what he said or did not

! Walther Rathensa,
xiii



FREFACE

say, did or left undoh The author’s sole object
is, through a reasoned comparison of the evidence
of innumerable witnesses, to show in all sincerity
in what manner it would appear that Willizm I1's
decision to abdicate was taken, at first for him,

then by him.
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CHAPTER 1
BFFORE ABDICATION



I

The Wylsom Noig of 14 October and the Campaign for the dbdica-
tion of the Kairar—T e Wilron Note af 21 October and its
Effect an Publéc Opinion—~VPacillations of Prince Max of
Baden—Deparure of William IF for 8pa—Cabinet Dis-
custions-2=Drewws’ Mission to Spa.

‘ DGN'T you sged The,object of this i$ to

bring down my house, to set the Monarchy
asidel Read thatl It was with these words that,
on 1§ October 1918, William IT received Major
Alfred’ Niemann, the representative of G.H.Q., as
he indignantly handed him a note which the Ger-
man Government had just recejved. ‘This was the
second “Wilson Note’, addressed on 14 October
by the Secretary of State, Robert Lansing,-to the
Swiss chargé d’affaires, who was entrusted with the
protection of German interests in the United
Statgs.

‘It is necessary . .+ in“order that there ma} be
no nossibility of misunderstanding, that she Presi-
dent shguld very Soicsinly call the attention of the
Government of Germany ta the language and plain
intent of one of the terms of peace’which the Ger-
man Government has now accepted. It is con-
tained in the address of the President delivered at
Mount Vernon on 4th July last. It is as follows:

1 Emil Ludwig: Willelm der Zweite, Berlin, 1926, trans.
'Eth:ﬁl Colburn Mayne; Kairer BFilkelm 11, London, New York,
1920,
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THE FALL OF THE KAISER

““The destruction of any arbitrary Fpower anywhere
that can separately, secretly and of its single choice
disturb the pesze af the world; or, if it catinot be
presently destroyed, at the least it seduct on to
virtual impotency.” The power which has hither-
to controlled the German nation is'of the sort here
described. It is within the choice of the German
nation to alter it. The President's words just
quoted naturally corstitute a condition precedent
to peace, if peace is to come by the action of the
Gernman people themselves. The President feels
bound to say that the whole process of peace will,
in his judgment, depend upon the definiteness and
satisfactory character of the guarantees which can
be givensin this furdamental matter, It is indis-
persable that the Governments associated against
Germany should know beyend a peradventure
with whorn they are dealing.’

In thus raising the dynastic question, the second
Wilson Note was the herald of the storm which
was to carry awaythe crowns of Germany and roll
them in the dust, It was the sqcasion for an out-
burst of fury and despuir among the extreme
monarchists, who saw in‘it an attempt to deliver
Germany from the Hohenzollern’, ‘an endeavour
to put an end to the monarchic system’. The
Empress was full of indignation at ‘the audacity
of the parvenu across the seas who has thus dared
to humiliate a princely heuse’?! The great

1 Alfred Niemann: Kaiser und Revolution, Berlin, 1922,
4



BEFORE ABDJCATRON

agrarian journal, the Deuslohe, Tageszeitung.y pro-
tested furiously at the idea of this ‘raost intolerable
outrage’ that could be inflicted upon a people:
‘Must they not think a people capable ofl the
depths of treason when they expect it to abandon
a :F}rnasty which has been the architect of its great-
ness throughout the course of a glorious history?”’

Despite the noisy reactions of monarchist zeal,
thé currents hostile ta William II gathered from
this time on in ever-increasing force. In the
midst of a nation-wide weariness there was intense
agitation of feeling. Peace, which was the ideal of
the whole people, outweighed all other require-
ments. Four years of suffering and privations had
exhausted the strength of Germany. The nation,
which had been nourished on ignorance, had with
a rude shock discovered the trush and had realised
that it was at the edge of the abyss. Although
there was as yet no thought of the republic, there
was.already much talk of abdication. Before long
the word ‘abdication’, which had previously been
carefully kept out of public coaversation, was on
everyong’s lips. The Wolff Agéncy thought.it
necessaty to state that the rumours ‘that the Kaiser
is intending to abdicate® were ‘of course devoid of
all foundation’. Surely, men, thought, the Kaiser
would soon follow the examplesof the Bulgarian
Coburg.

Conrad Haussmann, the democrat of, Wur-
temberg, who fop more than a year had sup-
ported the candidature of Prince Max of Baden

5



THE RALL OF THE KAISER

to the Chancellorship and who on 14 October
became Secretary of State without portfolio in
Prince Max’s Cabinet, before he became ia 1919
one of the authors of the Canstitution of Weimar,
wrote as follows or 7 Octobes in his private
diary: ‘The Hohenzollern question is in an
extremely critical state”! On 15 October he
wrote to his daughter: “You cannot be unaware
of the attitude of the American to the Hohen-
zollern." The question was even discussed in
Government circles. Haussmann had heard that
‘the chief representatives of German industry and
finance, such as Stinnes, Gwinner, Ballin, Deuntsch
and Rathenau, hold that the only hope for the
State and for the dypasty is the renunciation of the
throne by the Kaiser and by his son, and the

roclamation of the Kaiser’s grandson, with a

egency Council which should include a strong
bourgeois representation’. He observed at the
time that ‘the chief tendency &f the moment in
Germany is towards the, elimination of William
and the Crown Prince’

Like Haussmihnn, His fellew Wurtemberger,
Friedrich von Payer,® wlio was both Hértling's
and Prince Max's Vicé-Chancellor, notes thaf in
the middle of Octoper the great manufacturing

1 Conrad Hauvssmann: Schlaglichttn, Reichstagsbricfe und
.r:i'ﬂfz:f-r.&mgm, Frankfurt, 1g9s4. Published posthumously,
Haussmaan died in 1922.
2 Friedrich von Payer: Pon Bethmaww Hollewer bis Thers,
Frankfurt, 1923.

6



BEFORE ABDICATION

interests of Berlin were- in"favour of abdieation,
In South Germany and, in particitlar, in Bavaria,
there was a feeling of the most utter despair. The
general view awas that the country should nbt for
the sake of one man suffer the enemy to impose
upon it hardet conditions of peate. Even the
diplomats hinted that the retirement of the
Emperor and the Crown Prince would he exacted
as conditions of an armidtice. Thus, Von der
Lancken, the chief assistant of the Governor of
occupigd Belgium, telegraphed frem Brussels on
ro October that Wilson was working for abdica-
tion, and again, on 17 October, that the Presi-
dent's second note bore out the accuracy of his
previous statement,

It is true that contemporary information from a
Dutch source stated at the sam® period that abdi-
cation would not be necessary. But it was diffi-
cult to believe this when the Entente Press, more
particularly in Great Britain and in the United
States, was unanimous in declaring that no peace
would be concluded with William II. The

eral .opinion in Germany, as strengthened By
information from ahroad, was to the effect that
abdication would be the means® of securing a
milder peace from the enemy and of preventing
the invasion of German territofy; abdicationy it
was held, could be used as a bargaining counter,
as a concession made to the Allies. Alhough
ther® was little hatred of the Empergr, more and
more Germans first wished for and then openly

7



THE FALL OF THE KAISER

and aven brutally demanded the deposition of the
Sovereign, who had become in their eyes either
the ¢ause of the war or the pretext for maintain-
ing il. On this subject Philipp Scheidemann, the
Socidd Democrat, wrote as follows:? [f the war
had ended in the victory of Germariy the Emperor
would have been exalted beyond all measure. He
would probably have become little less than a
demigod. Since everits tuined out otherwise a
scapegoat was loaked for and was found in the
Kaiser,' Abdication was the general subject of
conversation, in meetings public and private, in
cafés, offices, trains and trams. The Press alone
still maintained a certain reserve, since the censor-
ship had forbidden the papers to discuss the
question.
& L ¥

In his third Note to the German Government,
dated 23 October, President Wilson raised
directly the question of the rulers of Germany,
and4n somewhatinvolved phraseclogy, which left,
however no room for doubt, defined the condi-
tibns which he thought it his duty to lay down,

Significant and important as the consti-
tutional changés seem to be which are-spoken of
by the Gernlan Foreign Secretary in his note of
the 2oth October, it does not appear that the prin-
ciple of a Government reeponsible to the German
peoplethas yet been fully worked out, or that any
guarantees exist or are in contemplation that the
) 1 Der Zuramméabruch, Berlin, 1921,
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alterations of principle and of practice now par-
tially agreed upon will be permanent.

Moreover, it does not appear that the heart of
the present difficulty has been reached. It may
be that futute wars have beer brought underjthe
control of the Gérman people; but the present wir
has not begn; and it is with the present war that
we are dealing. It is evident that the German
people have no meang of commaanding the acquies-
cence of the military authorities pf the Empire in
the popular will; that the power of th2 King of
Prussia to control the policy of the Empire is
unim_paired; that the determining initiative still
remains with those who have hitherto been the
masters of IGermany.

Feeling that the whole peace of the world
depends now on plain speaking and straight-
forward action, the President deems it his duty
to say, without any gttempt to soften what may
seem harsh words, that the nations of the world
do not and cannot trust the word of those whe
have hitherto been the masters of German policy,
and to point out ohce more that in concluding
peace and attempting to ando the infinite injuries
and injustices of this war, the Government of the
United States cannot deal with any but veritable
representatives of the German people, who haye
been assured of a genuine constitutional standing
as the real rulers of Germany. If it must deal
with vhe military masters and the monarchical auto-
crats of Germany now, or if it is likely to have to

9



THE FALL OF THE KAISER

dea] with them lafer in.regard to the international
obligations of the German Empire, it must
depiand, not peace negotiatigns but surrender.
Na hing can be gained by leaving,this ersential
thitg unsaid.’

Germany complained of the threatening obgcurity
of Wilson’s language; but Germany thofoughly
understood its meaning. The President came
d:ﬁnitc:iy into the open agalnst the Kaiser, ‘that
personification ef German military force’. Be-
tween the lirtes of the Note could be read  definite
arraignment of William I1. Major Niemann was
with the Emperor and Empress when the Note
arrived. ‘'The hypocritical Wilson’, he said, ‘has
at last thrown off the mask.’ Litrie by little,
‘the imperial couple’s indignation turned fo
ineffable cantempt’.

Thus, the Reich was placed in the cruel dilemma
of having to consider whether, if it kept its
sovereign, it would be refused an armistice. It
hafl to choosec between the Hohenzollern and

eace. ‘Capitulation or negntiation—such was
he dilemma put before Germany in this Note.
They had to see that everything depended on
the person ot the Emperor.’® From now, on-

L Memorandur of General von Plessen, published as an annex
Alfred Niemann: Reoolusion von Oben, Umiturz pon Unter,
rlin, 1927,

Emit Ludwig: Hillelm der Zweite, Berling 1926, trans.
:Eth-;l Colburn Mayne: Kaiser Hilkelts 11, London, New York,
1926,

10
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wards, the problem of monarthy in Germany hid
not merely been raised; it had salready been
solved.

The Social Democrats had no further hesitagion
in imyeratively demanding abdication. As darly
as 22 October Friedrich Ebert, the deader of the
Party, had stated in the Reichstag that in demand-
ing the destruction of any ‘arbitrary power’
capible of troubling the pgace of the world,
‘President Wilson has done no more than repeat
an old socialist slogan definitely formblated by
our party in 1908 in an interview with a repre-
sentative of the Daily Telepraph’t Two days
later, even before the official text of the third
Wilson Note had reached the Wilhelmstrasse,?
Noske referred in the Reichstag to ‘the general
Opinion in the country, namely that one single
gesture from the wearer of the imperial crown
might relieve the pressure now weighing upon
milligns of people. Forwdrss, the chief prgan of
the -Social Democrats, yet further increased the
effect of this remarkable speech by wniting: “The
situation is clear The moment has come te
accept the logical consequences of the present

! Friedrich Epert: Schriften, Aufzeichnunges, Reden, Dresden,
1926,

: In his private diary, under date of 24 Octsber, Conrad Hauss-
mann, Secretary of State, wrote that the Wilion Naote was com
municated to him by Noske in tlie Reichstag at 11 a.m,, and he
communicated the contents to Soll; his colleague in the Ministry

for Forfign Affairs: * At fisdt Solf doubted the authenticity of the
Note. The Press received it before weadid.’
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distress of the German people. That great
democratic bourgeois paper, the Frankfirier
Zelunp, also broke in the following werds the
silence imposed en the Press as regards this burn-
ing question: *Thi Kaiser's speeches have en-
couraged the opinion abroad that he represents
the policy of the mailed fist. He must as soon
as possjble take a decision which will be of the
utthost importance. both for peace and for the
future of Germany, a decision which might well
wash ouf many things spoken or done in the

course of the last few years.’
o

» L]

.The immediate question was, what was going to
be the attitude of,the Government of the Reieh.
Although on 4 October Prince Max of Baden had
formed the firstdGerman Cabinet responsible to
Parliament, with the support of representatives of
the chief political Parties including even the
Social Nemocrats, there could nevertheless be no
sucpicion of lukewarmness in the monarchical sen-
timents of the Chancellor, of the House of Zaeh-
eingen, who was the heir to Grand-Dukedom,
and whose incredible genealogy positively bristled
with princely crowns. "By his mother, he was a
grandson of Tsar Nicholas I, and a direct descend-
ant both of Maximiljan, first King of Bavaria, and
of Eugéne de Beauharnais. By his wife, he was
cousin german of Tsar Nicholas Il and of the
Kings of England and Denmark. Fifty-twe years
of age, he was hecr presumptive to the throne of

12



BEFORE ABDICATION

Baden, since his cousin Grand Duke Frederick 11
was without issue. He had always maintained the
friendliest relations with his cpusih the Kaiser.
He was general of cavalry in the Prussian army,
and hyd bech of service to William II in a riost
important affair, involving both famig and diplo-
matic Gonsigderations. In 1913 the Kaiser’s only
daughter had married the son of the Duke of
Cumberland. The Ehke hallsnever recovered the
crown of Hanover which had been worn by his
father, but when his son became the Empaor's
son-in-lyw the son had been granted the ].IJDuch}r
of Brunswick as the result of some extremely
delicate nepotiations which had been conducted
by Prince Max, who was himself the sos-in-law
of the Duke of Cumberland. During the war,
ftince Max had dope useful work in devoting
himself almost entirely to Red Cross questions
and to the interests ofswar prisoners. With these
Ehi]anthrnpic activities he had managed to com-

ine a certain amount of secret diplomacy, the
object of which was to use his faily inflyence to
secure for Germany a separate peace with imperial
Russia. By this means, anjl as the result of cer-
tain speeches of a liberal tendency, he had acquired
the reputation of being in favour of u peace by
conciliation and, since 1917, demderats in South
Germany—such as Conrad Haussmann with his
slogan ‘Max equals pax’—had favoured his claims
to be Imperial Chancellor. But for various
reasons William II took no netice of him until

13
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the moment whet the storm-clqud of defeat was
abont to bredik over Germany.

ere is no teasan to supposesthat at the moment
when he assumell the reins of office Prince Max
had any conception of the possibility «f the
Kaiser's abdigation. As a measfire of prudence,
however, he had on 6 October interrogatéd cer-
tain of his Ministers on the question what would
be the attitude of the polifical Parties in the event
of this critical question becoming of first import-
ancee  Wilhelm Solf, Secretary of State for Foreign
Affairs, and his colleague at the Finance Iinistry,
Count Reedern, thought it inconceivable that the
question could be raised. Scheidemann, who was
at the sime Secretary of State without portfolio,
would appear to have replied that the question was
a purely internal one.

It was known that the war was lost, but no one
in Germany had yet conceived the possibility of
complete surrender to the enemy. No one was
prepared for utter disaster,, The new Chancellor
hadp accustomed ‘himself to the idea that the trans-
formation of the autocratic Imperial Government
into a ‘popular’ Goyernment would be accom-
plished without difficulty. His desire was to give
the people'such pelitical rights as were necessary
to prevent the rout of the armies at the front
from involving the intgrnal disorganisation of the
natien. He introduced a Bill providing that
no war could be declared ard no treaty orf peace

! K. F. Nowak: The €sllapse of Central Eurgpe, London, 1924.

14
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The military authority was subordipated to the
civil, unsversal suffsage introduced ‘Into Prussla,
and the Changcellor made responsible to Parlia-
ment. Each®revesse at the frodt was immediatel
followed by the grant of some new liberty * Buf
defeat followed defeat so swiftly that the German
Govarnment was at pains to find rights epough
to cohfer upon a people whith was already well-
nigh oppressed with the weight of its liberties.
After the collapse of Bulgaria and Turhey,
Austria-Hungary was in full process of disin-
tegration, and an intense agitation shook the
German Empire. A profound feeling of mass,
disappointmegnt gripped the nation and inspired
it with anger against rulers who, through four
years of unprecedented privationa, had promised
it victory, Discontented and threaten'ng, the
various Parties of the, Left came out into the
open against the mBnarchy and apainst any dela
i:F itaafhd.ication. Thasc}rconving:zd repu}lr;-li-:nr.z
the Independent Socialists followed Oscar, Cohn
in défining the politial situation of the Reich in
the words? ‘Either war with the Hohenzollerns or
peace without the Hohenzdllerns’; andin concert
with Flugo Haase, who was to be assassinated
in the following year, they hurled themselves
in a violent assault upon the militarist Empire,
On 23 October Max of Baden succumbed 30 a

1 Maurke Baumont and Marcel Berthelot: L' difemagme,
lendemains de guerre et de révolution, Parisp 1922,

Iy

concltided without the sanction of the Reichsig
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violent attack of influerza which kept him several
daws in bed. On the evening of the 24th he was
visted by Cenrad Haussmana, who had a long
conversation with him ‘on the subject of His
Majesty’. ‘For a democrat’, he saia, thee is no
vital imporfance in the dynastic question, but a
nation cannot exile its emperor at the orders of
the engmy.! ‘Are those your real feclings?” asked
the Prince. ‘Yes.t ‘I thank you most sincérely’
was the reply. The same night Haussmann was
present at the Cabinet meeting under the presi-
dency of Von Payer at which the main lines of
the reply to President Wilson were laid down.
Haussmann objected to making any allusion to
the dyrastic question, and repeated what he had
just said to Prince Max, concluding, ‘After the
German Note has been sent the Emperor shotld
himself decide without pressure of any kind from
the Government’

Prince Ernst zu Hohenlohe Langenburg, cousin
of Max of Baden, who avas in charge of a prisoners
of war mission at Berne, was personally devoted to
the Kaiser, dnd was even a mpember of an ultra-
patriotic party, the Fater/andspartei, which had
been founded by Admiral von :I'izaitz. On
2§ October he telegraphed to the Chancellor
shat abdication was the only method of saving
the dynasty.! Similarly, von Treutler, Prussian

1 Similarly, on 28 October, von Romberg, German Minister at
Berne, transmitted to his Governmei:t the declarationt made by
members of the Swiss Federfl Couneil. According to these

16
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Minister at Munich, telegraphed in the senseithat
abdication was the only means of saving the
dynasty.

Prinoe Max was profoundly moved. His course
was diready determined for him. Neither his
political foresight nor his political difficultics per-
mitted him to take up any stand in defence ofP the
Emperor. He communicatgd the two nlessages
in question to the Emperor without comment.
He had already decided to secure the Emperor’s
abdicatian. On 27 Octcber he received two
German officers, one of whom was Lieut.-Colonel
Draudt, later to be vice-president of the German
Red Cross, who brought him from Switzerland
a letter from Prince Hohenlohe Langenburg con-
firming personally the imperative necessity for
abdication. From now onwards he was unable
to maintain the reserve on which Haussmann had
congratulated hims that very day: ‘No pressure
has been exercised on the-Emperor or thé Crown
Prince by either the Cabinét or Parliament. They
hawe thus respected to the full the prerogatives
and the dignity of*the ¢=eperial crown.’

declararions, there was no possibility of aveiding ahdication.
The only way in which the Emperer ctuld avoid revolution in
Germany was tosscrifice himselfand to recothmend his grandsen
to the loyalty of the people and the army. Von Romberg sent
several telegrams to the same effect, all of which were published,
for the first time probably, in the White Book of 1919 concerning
the armistice, Feirsbuch Bder gr‘: Forgeschichte aer Walfenseili-
stands,
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Rather than take action himself, Max of Baden,
wharwas no firhter and in any case cumbered by
his personal loyalty, decided to use others to act
fur]l:m On 28 October he attefipted to jnduce
certain persqns whose Joyalty to William I was
beyond questisn—General von Chelius, an ex-aide-
de-camp, the Court chaplain Ernst vort Dryander,
and Cotnt August Eulenburg—Minister of the
Royal Household for the last eleven years—to
preach abkdication to the Emperor, and to ‘dis-
sipate the fog of mlsunderstandmg which pre-
vented him from seeing things as they really were.
Abdication, they were to say, would save Germany
ftom civil war, and would save the dynasty. The
difficulty was to Induce anyone to undertake a
mission of this kind except under compulsion.
The efforts of Prince Max were unsuccessful.
But the Kaiser's entourage was perfectly aware
of thl:rn, and there was from this moment no
doubt ds to the ideas and the policy of the
Imperial Chaneellor.

The Empergr's immediate entourage was still
ted full of illusions. As-date s 28 October the
Empress was convinsed that her husband was
beloved by the German people and said so naively
to the former Chancellor Michaelis.! Prince
¥lax's attitude was construed as a provocation.
In these circumstances a vital decision was taken.
The object was to protect the Kaiser, who was
already seriously troubled, from an invitation

1 Georg Michaelis, Fér Staar und Folk, Berlin, 1922,
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which the whole Court félt was on the point of
being made.
© = .

The Jastact oz the Imiperial $ragedy’ ! began on
the evening of 29 October with the departure of
the Emperor to G.H.Q,. at Spa, a departure which
was laser compared with Louis XVI's flight to
Varennes. At § p.m. on the same day Prince
Max was apprised of the Emperor’s departure
by Baron von Grunau, who had for two vears
been therepresentative of the Ministry of Foreign
Affairs gttached to the person of the Emperor.
Griinau had only just been informed of the
Emperor's departure.

The Chantellor was thunderstruck by tlfe news.
He immediately sent Solf to Count Eulenburg and
to Clemens von Delbriick, the new Chief Civil
Private Secretary, to urge them to bring pressure
to bear upon the Emperor to remain at Potsdam.

He also tried direct methods. He telephoned
to William and communlcated to. him his utter
surprise at his unexpected departure at the very
moment when questione-of the most vital import-
ance were under consideration. He ‘did all he
could to prevent’ William's departure.® The
Emperor thought the war situation necessitated

1 Wahnschaffe, in the Destrche diigemeine Zeitung, 16 Angust
1519. Wahnschaffe was Under-Secretary of State oo the
Chance]lery.

% WPildelm 11, Ereignisid und Gestalten, Berlin, 192z, English
ed., My Memeirs, 18781918, London, 1922.
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immediate decisions and that his place was with
his soldiers, The Empress also, he said, had
been surprised. G.H.Q. demanded his presence
at the front, Woen Prince Mux insisted, the
Emperor repliéd: ‘You've thrown out Ludendorff
and it's up toune to support his successor Gruner
at the beginning.” In spite of his illness, Prince
Max dtmanded an interview with the Emperor,
but the doctors forbade the Kaiser to receive
the Pringe for fear of infection.! Moreover, said
the doctors, the Prince was ill, and should take
care of himself. The upshot of the whole con-
versation was a polite but categorical refusal to
grant an interview. When Prince Max reiterated
that it was impossible that the Emperor could
absent himself from the Capital in such serious
circumstances, William Il asserted that ‘all may
yet be well if my advice is followed’. In a note
to Solf, Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, he

1 Prince Mex of Bagden: Erinmerunges und Dokumente, Berlin,
1927, trgns. W. M. Calder and C. W. H. Sutton, 2 ypls,,
London, 1928. It seems clear that the Emperor was inventing
excuses to avold receiving the Chancellor. It showld neverthe-
less be remembered that Wnuam IT had the reputation of being
extremely nervous of infections or epidemic discases. One of
his earlier Court-Marshils, Zedlitz-Triitzschier, 2 most keen and
ceitical observer, tefls us how the Emperor refused to visit one
of kis sons during an attack of pneumonia, and although pneu-
moniz is an entirely non-infections disease, held no communica-
tion with the Empress except in the open air during the whole
time that she was nursipg the prince, {Zawdlf Fadre am deutschen
Kajserkof, Berlin, 1924.)
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recommended a change in the general direction
of German foreign policy, Peacerefforts shpuld
be directed towards Great Britain., ‘As a final
resource I shall annousce my abdication.” “This
was s last decwmive action. From now on, his
part was played, and he became thg Inere puppet
of events.”!

The Chancellor thought that G.H.Q. had reall
demanded the Empezror's presence. William III'
had told him so, and tells the spme story in his
Memoirs+ It was in response to the request of the
army.’!  Thesame story had been told to Griinau
by Major Niemann and by General von Marschall,
the Emperor's Chief Military Private Secretary,
to the Minister of War. For a long time the
legend persisted that G.H.Q. had been respan-
sible for the Empergr’s remova? to Spa with the
object of mainmininﬁ' him at all costs in power.?

As a matter of fact, the Emperor's arrival
took Spa by surprise It was inevitable that he

! William Martin: Les Homamer o Erar pendant fa Guerre, Paris,
Igzg.

?!L!; lage a5 1924 William Il dsserted thatin going to Spa he was
conforming tothe urgent reqaest ofMatshal Hindenburg—Alfred
Niemann, Wanderungen mit Kaiser WilkelmV1, Leipzig, 1924.

# Thisnccusation was pressed with great vehemerite on g August
1919 by the Frankfirter Zeitung., According to Emil Ludwig,
the army commanders virally kidnapped William 1I: ‘For i’
was & kind of kidnapping’, and the Emperor became ‘the prisoner
of G.H.Q, and of his generals',

4 In cxplanation of the?Emperor's arrival the Chief Quarter-
Master General Graner, who had just succeeded Ludendorff,

21



THE FAfLL OF THE KAISER

and his escort should be a source of embarrass-
ment to the mrmy command. William II said
to Admiral Yon Hintze, who represented the
Ministry of Foreign Affairs at GeH.Q. ‘Prince
Max's government is trying to throw me out.
At Berlin I*should be less able‘to oppose them
than in the midst of my troops.’! $Spa reemed
safer to him than his capital.

Von Payer, the Vice-Chancellor, recalls the pro-
found depression caused in well-informed circles
by tnis move, ‘which was little better than a
flight’; ‘fortunately, public opinion did not pay
much attention to it'. It was not until after the
lzpse of several days that the German Press began
to comment on the departure for Spa. Like von
Payer, Max of Baden observed: ‘Public opinion
took less notice of the Emperor’s journey than
had been: feared. It was none the less clear that
the Emperor’s movementsewere dictated by his
desire te keep the crown, and mE'mmPaign of
abdication entered upon a livelier phase.

In the eyes of a people which was yearning for
peace, Williath II appeared the chief obstacle to
the realisation of their wishes, His refusal to
was told that Gengral Scheuch, the Minister of War, had con-
fided to Genelal Marschall that it was impossible to guarantee
the Emperor's security at Potsdam. Marschall and Scheuch
%oth denied this, and Major Niemann who spread the story also
withdrew it—Memeirs of Priste Max of Badea.

! Memorandum of YVon Hintze, handed at the beginning of
1919 to the Minister of the Royal Household; reprodiced as
an annex to Niemann' Reeoluriox vor Oben,
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abdicate seemed likely to delay the conclusion of
the armistice anid to expose the Reich to fresh
perils. The genegal discontent grew ‘from hour
to hour', moge markedly in cetiin towns, such as
Kiel, than at,Berlin.® It was not thought that all
the thrones of the Confederate States of the
Empire were fated to disappear. It could not be
supposed that Bavaria would be the first State to
proclaim the repuhlic;? bup there was a very
strong current of opinion, even outside the
Socialist Party, which had set in favour cf the
Emperor’s abdication.

Even the most cautious elements of the Press
began to show signs of an unusual daring. From
the end of October they frequently came out with
the headline *The Question of the Kaiser’ The
character and policy of the Sovereign became the
objects of freer and freer criticism. In the general
clamour of the Press the Miinchener Neweste Nach—
richten declared that the idea of the Emperor was
incompatible with the requirements of the nsw
era. The Frankfiirter’ Zeitung bitterly reproached
th& monarch for ndt having abdicated.  For the
last fortright, or even month ' it said, ‘Germany
has risked destruction for—the sake of one man.”

In a letter of 29 October, Scheidemann, the

1 Gustay MNoske, Fow Kaef &is Kapp, Berlin, 1920,

? William 11 confided to Major Niemann (see the latter’s
H'anderungen) that the triumph of the revolutionary movement
in monarchist Bavaria had made the deepest possible impression
on him,
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Secretary of State, requested the Chancellor to
submit the qyestion of abdication to the Cabinet
and to demand ‘voluntary reticement’ on the part
of the Emperor. ‘The great majority of the
population’, hesaid, ‘is convincegd tha% the chances
o obtaining tolerable armistice and peace con-
ditions have "been compromised by the main-
tenance of the Emperor 1n his high position. . . .
THe peace negotiativns will appear in a much
more favourable light if the change of govern-
ment, which,is now a fait accompli in Germany, is
clearly emphasised by a change in the supreme

osition in the Reich. . . . This measure cannot
E-: evaded. The Emperor must, and as soon as
possible. bear the consequences of the general
situation,’

On «the followirg morning, 30 October, Prince
Max invited Scheidemann to visit him in his
room, to which he was still confined by influenza.
He urgently begged Scheidemann to withdraw his
letter, asserting that he would do his utmost to
bring home the situation to the Emperor. He
was more likely, he said, to gbtain a voluntary
retirement if no such strong and open pressure
was brought to bear upon the Emperor. He
promised to do everything in his power to bring
about abdication. On these conditions Scheide-
mann agreed to withdraw his letter, but added
that there was now no time to be lost. He could
not remain in the Government if a decision, were
not taken at the tarliest possible moment.
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On the same day the Chaneelior was informed
of the opinion expressed by Count von Brockdorff-
Rantzau, German Minister at Copenhagen and
future Minister of Foreign Affair's of the German
Republic: If abdication was delayed, he said,
the Reich would be unable to offer any resistance
to dishonourable armistice conditidns. Abdica-
tion seemed inevitable if courage and a sense of
responsibility were to I:.-"a.imp]a::ted in the natisn.

In the morning of 31 October, the Chancellor
received Prince August Wilhelm, one of the
Emperor's sons, who had remained at Potsdam
with the Empress. Max endeavoured to make
the Prince understand that the Emperor should
retire before he was compelled to do so. August
Wilhelm maintains * that he asserted that the
Chancellor alone was qualified to advise the
Emperor to abdicate, Max of Baden re.Plied, he
said, that he couid not give such advice ‘to a
relation and a friend’, angd that morcover he was
too ill to bear the emotional strain involved.
Upon which August Wilhelm states that he
advised him to retire since his work was too
important for a sick fhan ¢ do. In his Memoirs
Max«of Baden denies that August Wilhelm used
any such language to him, but gdmits that the
Kaiser's son probably did not understand him.

1 In his diary, which is quoted by Nicmann, Kairer and Jevo/o-
tism, Awpust Wilhelm asserts that he was summoned to the
Chancellery.
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In &ny case, the interview caused the disappear-
ance of a plan which had béen conceived by
Walter Simdns, the Chancellor’s chief jassistant
and then a high efficial in the Foreign Office, of
which he was to become Head in 1920, The plan
was that during the minority ofithe eldest son of
the Crown Pfince, Prince August Wilhelm should
be regent in Prussia and Prince Max of Baden
Lieutenant-General of the Empire (Reichsver-
weser). Haussmann, Secretary of State, to whom
the plart had béen divulged on 29 October, had
very strongly advised Prince Max to refuse so
onerous a task. The regent of Prussia should, he
said, be also Lieutenant-General of the Empire.
Prince Max had warmly thanked Haussmann for
his friendly advice; but he would seem to have
retaiped the ideg that, in the public interest, his
v::h::gl might one day imposé upon him functions
of this kind.

On the morning of 31 October Prince Max
raised the question of abdicatidn at a Cabinet
meeting. Acfording to Stheideémann, he raised
the qulstion J'without beating about the busn'.!
There was, according to Scheidemann, consider-
able discussion of therquestion whether or no the
Allies woyld exact abdication, and above all,
whether President Wilson was in favour of it.
In Prince Max's view, abdkation.could be con-
templated only as the spontaneous act of the
monarch. Just as the Prince claimed libgrty of

1 Scheidemann: Der Zusammenbruch, Berlin, 1921.
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action for the Emperor, so he claimed it for the
Chanceljor

Scheidemann held that the best solution would
be that the Emperor should tetire as soon as

ossible. Count Roedern, who was Secretary of
gtatc at the Ministry of Finance, wighed to know
the views of Dr. Solf, Minister of Foreign Affairs,
who was not present at the meeting. Dr, Solf was
accoldingly sent for,

A day or two earlier,’ the Minjster of, Foreign
Affairs had received bitter complaints from?the
Emperor, who urged that an official protest should
be issued against the rumours of abdication. Solf
pointed out that abdication was being freely
sﬁuken of net only at the street corners, bureven in
the best society. To soothe the Entperor's in-
dignation he was diplomatic enough to add, ‘If
Your Majesty goes I shall go too. I cannot
continue to serve under such conditions.’ *

At the Cabinet meeting Solf stated that the

! In telling the story of this scene in his Memoirs, William 11
said that he complained Bf the whoit question to Solf, shortly
before the despatch of the last German Note to Wilson, i.e.
before 27 October.

¢ William IT concludes as follows: ‘I went, dt—to put it more
correctly—I was overthrown by my own Goverfiment; and—
Herr Solf remained.’. Solf, who.had been Minister of the
Colonies since 1911, succetded von Hintze at the Ministry of
Foreign Affairs in October 1918, After the revolution he re-
mained for a few weeks at the head of that Ministry, until he
was repliced by Count Brackdorf-Rantzan. Later he was Ger-
man Ambassador in Japan until his retirement in 1928,
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Wilson Notes, while not absolutely demanding
abdication, demanded it in general, terms,
Abdication would mean the disappearance of the
outward and visilile sign.of German militarism.
Wilson’s authority with the <Enténte Powers
would be efihanced if he brought about the fall
of the Emperor; but his demand was for ‘achange
of system’, not for a change of persons!
The Cabinet was Seriously divided, ‘naturally
enough, in a magter in which séntiment bulked so
largt’® The Democrats followed Solf. Von
Payer, the Vice-Chancellor, and Haussmann, the
Secretary of State, thought abdication desirable
and even inevitable. They pointed out that, even
in undeubtedly monarchist circles, abdication was
desired with the object of obtaining better con-
ditions of peace and of saving the monarchy.
Within Germany itself abdication would go far
to solve the difficulties withawhich the Government
was faged. Abroad it would to some extent
temper the suspicion with which Germany's
enemieg regarded her. ‘Whether it be war, or
peace, the Kdiser should abdicate. The war can
be continued only if he has abdicated. Otherwise
the German prople will think that the war is bein
continued solely on behalf of the Emperor, #nd aﬁ
enthusiasm for<it will disappgar. If, on the other

! Scheidemann: Der Zusamnierdrach, Berlin, 1921; Erzberger:
Eriaubuisse im Welthrieg, Stuttgart, 1920,
2 Friedrich von Payer: Fow Berthmann Hollwer 81 Eéers,
Frankfurt, 19323.
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hand, it is to be,peace, the conditions of peace
will be heavier if the Emperor does not abdicate.'t

The Democrats, who were in favour of abdica-
tion, rejected any idea of depouition. Their view
was that the Emperor should voluntarily abdicate,
but they refused to depose him by fofce. “There
can be o value or dignity in abﬂy cation unless it
is spantnnenus One suprgme sacrifice xarried
through in the intercsts nF pedce and of the Ger-
man people would ensure the Severeign his full
meed of.recognition.'?

Several Ministers pronounced against abdication.
“The Catholic centre’, it was said, ‘cannot demand
the abdication of a Protestant Hohenzollern.!
Groner opposed abdication with violencey Trim-
born with moderation. Erzberger todk the view
that it would be ‘more honourible to yield to
pressure from outside than to show the Emperor
the door'; he realled a conversation which he
had recently had with a republican in a*neutral
country: ‘If the Emperor is compelled by the
pecple to abdicate, foreigners will say of Germany
that the nation is brutal in victory and contempt-
ible in defeat.” With unwelceme logic he pointed
to the example given by Greece in>the matter of
King "Constantine. He did not agree’ that time

! Haussmann declares thaf he used this language to Prince Mau:
on 2g October.  On the same day he discussed the question with
Scheuch, the Minister of War, and the ex-Chancellor von
Bethmann Hollweg.

2 Haussmann, ep. cit.
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pressed. He thought Germany should wait to
see if the Entente would impose conditions so
harsh that abdication would become a recessity.

Similar argumedts were put forward by the
National Libetal, Friedberg, Vice-Pfesident of the
Prussian Ministry. General Scheuch, Minister
of War, expressed the fear that the Eniperor’s
departure miéht undermine the moral of the
army. The Cabirdet took no decision. It had
succeeded in doing nothing but making a show of
its divisions, hesitations and utter uncertainty.

The Chancellor held that abdication wag the only
course which now remained for William II, In
the afternoon of 31 October he summoned four
of his eninisters to a secret consultation. These
were Payer, Solf, Friedberg and Scheuch, together
with' Drews, the:Prussian ﬁlinister of the Interior,
who had been in office for fourteen months and
was ‘an incarnation of the hest traditions of
Prussian officialdom’.

Solf camg out into the open and emphasised the
effect which would he produced by abdication-on
the United States, which understood nothing of
the constitutional ¢hanges ip the Reich, but which
would be deeply struck by such g ‘symbolical
gesture’, Payer pointed out that South Germany
was arrayed against the Empgror. Drewsasserted,
not without emotion, jthat the national defence
could not be continued ‘so long as the working
classes and a great proportion of the imiddle
classes consider the pefson of the monarch to

Jo
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be an obstacle to peace’ Friedberg and General
Scheuch,: however, remained opponents of abdi-
cation, and continuéd the debate.

With great intistence’ and enthusiasm Drews
urged that Williagh should be forced to abdicate.,
He was sure that he was acting in the interests
of the fnonirch himself, and in the hope of a
regency. Prince Max therefore begged Ditws go
nroceed to Spa in order to acquaint his King with
the facts of the position. Count Lerchenfeld,
Bavarian Minister at Berlin, was prepared to
accompany Drews?; but he was unable to obtain
the necessary authorisation from his Govern-
ment.

The historian Max Weber has reproached Prince
Max with having wasted time ‘through dynastic
sentimentality’. But the Chancellor had to con-
sider the wishes of the Sovereign, who was
opposed to abdiestion® He could have gone
quicker in the matter only if he had had no hesita-
tions or divergence of views in his Cabinet, or if]
whea all was settledsand detormined, in acvance,
an agreement had Been come to almost without
discussion.

On the morning of 1 November Prince Max
went to the Bavarian Legation to meet the pleni-
potentiaries of the Canfederate Stites. He tolcd
them that the question of.abdication was under

! Later William IT was to tell Niemann that on 20 October

Lerchenfeld had said 1o him: ‘If Wilson dernands abdication you
will have to agree.’ (HFanderungen.)
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consideration by the Cabinet and requested them
to obtain the views of their Governments as soon
as possible Fhe voluntary® abdication of the
Emperor would be acconipanied b the renuncia-
tion of the throne on the part of the Crown Prince,
A Prussian prince of the Imperial family would
become regent during the minority of the Crown
Pgince’s eldest son.  But the difficulties in the way
of the appointment of a regent were considerable;
‘Ng onein the Imperial family could be regarded
asat the same time fit for such a place and as
enjoying, even to a moderate extent, the confi-
dence of the country.'t

The Chancellor promised to advise the Emperor
to abdicate. His views were shaved by the
majority of the members of the Bundesrar, in
particular, by tlfe representative of Bavaria. Cer-
tain merhbers expressed the fear that the measures
contemplated were not 4deguate to meet the
danger in time.

At the request of the Chancellor, his cousin,
PrincesFrederick Charles of Hesse, came to Bezlin, -
Frederick Charles had a deuble tie with the
Hohenzollerns; through his wife he was the
brother-in-law of William II, and. through his
mother a great-néphew of William I, He was
perfectly readf to proceed fo Spa.? Simons was
to accompany him'on the evening of 1 November,

1 Von Payer: Pom Bethmann Hollweg dis Edert, Frankfyre, 1923,

2 The Grand Duke of Hesse, who hiid also been approached in
the matter, refused to act.
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The Chancellor’s idea was that William I1 should
address the people and the army in a tone of
chivalry talculated o touch all hearts: *The hate
which my enemies bear ame is likely to aggravate
the condition® of the armistice s.m:{r of the peace.
I cannot consent to this, and I therefpte abdicate.
But when I am gone, Germany must not be
humiliated. After four years of heroic fighting,
her atmy must not Be compeiled to accept dis-
honourable conditions. Show your enemjes that
you are ready to defend yourselves with all your
force and at the cost of any sacrifice.” This was
the general idea developed by Simons in two
draft proclamations addressed to the army and to®
the people.

After a series of interviews the Prince of Hesse
abandoned the idea of proceeding o Spa, pleading
the disastrous effect which abdication would have
on the army, It mas in vain that Max of Baden
insisted-and that §imons ragingly prophesied that
‘Germany will have a republic singe the repre’
senggtives of monarchy are backing out of their
responsibilities’

he Chancellor was npw exhausted by overwork
and emotional strain. On the evening of 1
November he suffered a relapse. The sedative
which had to be administered to Aim kept him,
asleep for nearly thirty-six hours, and it was not
until the close of the day of 3 November that’ he
resumed his duties. ;

Politically his position was seriously shaken.
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He had incurred the hatred of the Emperor ! by
pressing for abdication and by refusing to author-
ise the publication of a liberal proclamation from
which the Sovereign expected ¢lre best results,
On 28 Octolier William II had seat him a draft
couched in germs of the warmest sympathy for
democracy. The Emperor solemnly.accepted the
new esa of reform inauguyrated by the first parlia-
mentary Governmient., ‘T'ne Emperor entrusts
the people with the fundamental rights which will
guarantee them a future of happiness and free-

m. ... The Emperor's task will be to serve
his people.’

Clearly the object was to meet the campaign for
abdication by premising that the Emperor would
co-operaté in a system of democratic government.
Theé Chancellor was embarrassed by this procla-
mation with its tone of liberalism. His idea was
that ‘an attitude of reserve would be the best
protection for the Kaiser’ The ministers were
divided. Ergberger agreed with Wahnschaffe
in fayouring the jmmediate publication of the
manifesto, Friedberg, on the other hand, was
afraid that the sincerity of the monarch might be
called into question, Payer thought it would be
dangerous to attract general attention "to the
Emperor. The Chancellor postponed publica-
tion, which did not take place until 3 November,
aftbr the receipt of an urgent telegram from

1 Mintze's Memorandum.
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William II and a personal letter from the
Empress.!

Max of Baden was convinced that if at this
date he had offered his resignation, as he had done
on 25 October in®demanding the fetirement of
Ludendorff, the rﬁsignation would haye been joy-
fully accepted. Already, Scheidemann was being
approached and asked whether, if he became

hancellor, he could avoid the necessity for
abdication.

. L] L

On 1 November Drews was received by the
Emperor. ‘His explanation of the position’,
writes William II, ‘was tantamount to sug-
gesting to me that 1 should myself arrive at
the conclusion that abdication was hecessary,

rovided that the Government did net appear to

ave exercised any pressure upon me. The
Emperor was only too prepared for 2 suggestion
of this kind. He, mulﬁr not contain his imdigna-
tion until the end of the interview ‘I pointed”
out:the fatal consequences of abdication and,asked
him how a Prussian official could reconcile such
a missioh with the oath taken to'his king. “How
comes it"”, I said, “'that you, a Prussian minister,
could have accepted such a mission?” He
apﬂaarod greatly embarrassed, andsexcused hims
self by the orders of the Chancellor. He ven-
tured timidly to defend himself, stating that®he

! In his"Memoirs Williams 1T states that he knew nothing of
this letter undl later on.

35



THE FALL OF THE ®KAISER

had thought it his dufy to accept the mission in
the general interest,”

The Emperot instructed the Minister to tell the
Chancellor that, in accordance with his duty, he
would remain at his post. %lis sons had all
promised him to refuse the regency, and if he
abdicated the army would dissolve.

Marehal Hindenburg and the Chief Quarter-
master-General, Groner, were called into cop-
sultation. They both approved the attitude of the
Emperor and supported him warmbeartedly.
The Marshal asserted that after abdication the
army would be no more than a band of marauders
and brigands straggling back into Germany.
Gronec stated that the unfortunate moral it the
interior of the country, which was underminin
the moral of the army, must be attributed mainly
to the inaction of the Government. Nothing was
being done to stimulate the wijl to resistance, to
induce’ confidence in victory, {o prevent- enemy
Press propaganda or the. defeatist campaign in
the German Press The Chief Quartermaster~
General expressed himself with blunt ferocity.
He ‘took the minister’s preath away.* Drews

-

1 Hintze's Memorandum: Hintze was not present at the inter-
wiew, but recorded it according to the account given of it by the
Emperor.  Accordingi to Drews’ friends, on the other hand,
the eMinister would appear o have been very firm.

2 Memvirs of Prince Max of Baden.

® Hintze’s Memorandum: According to Drews’ friends, the
Minister replied energetically to Gréner's reproaches.
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was supposed to be hard of hearing, and the
Emperor observed that ‘they all shouted so loud
that he could notshave missed a word'. The
Emperor was extremely satisfied with the attitude
of Gréner, wro was a Wurtemberger, and could
not do enough to express his pleasure,atit. With'
his eyes ‘sparkling with joy’, he said to Major
Niemann: ‘How splendid to see the penceable
Groner so carried awiy, and how happy 1 was to
see a South German so ready to defsnd the
Emperor and the King of Prussia.’

He took leave of the Minister with the words:
‘A Wurtemberger has had to show you what is
the proper conduct of a Prussian Patri:}t.' He
therr soothed Drews after the ‘fsank’ langyage of
General Groner, and refused his offer of resig-
nation.

The Drews mission ! had an unfortunate result,
It exacerbated the already strained relations be-
tween the Emperor and his Chancellor. Griinan
alludes to- ‘the bad feeling prodpced by the
Mipister's mission”. Later dgvelopments did not
protect Drews against the resentment of William
II. The Emperor never forgave him, and notes in
his Memoirs that Drewswas ‘one of the first officials
to speak of the abdication of his Master and King”.

On 7 November, at a Cabinet mesting, Scheide-
mann was to assert that thg Emperor had said to
Drews, ‘I shall yield only to force’, and he then

! The Press referred to it several days later, though before the
revolution,
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added: ‘If the Emperor has held such language,
the situation ig the more serious and the result is
inevitable. I Ho not know ¢f ‘the yourig classes
would fire on the peoples The older classes will
not." Prince Max attaches gseat amportance to
the effect of these words attributed to William 11
‘I shall yield only to force.

In awy case, the wards would seem to have repre-
sented the Emperor’s conviction. On 2 Novem-
ber he confided, to Hintze that he had drawn up a
plan for marching troops into Germany. After
the armistice he would be able to place the troops
at the disposal of the Government for the re-
establishment of order. 'We shall soon see’, he
said, ‘whether England will lend a hend in crush-
ing Bolshévism.” In any case he himself would
remain at his post. He would not abandon the
German people at such a eritical moment. He
would recapture Prussia and hig Capital or die on
the field of battle.

On 4 November he told the Crown Prince of
Bavaria that he could not ‘renounce a duty which.
had been assigned to him by God' If he was
overthrown, Gerfany, he said, would soon see
what would become of her.? )

He categorically refused to abdicate.

! Rupprecht of Bavaria: Mein Kricgrtagebuch, Munich, 1929,
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The Revolution at K ie!—General Griner at Ber{in-—T4e Sepenth
and Eipitd o November: Hetitude of the §ocial Democraric
Party—The' Chagicellor's Policy—Admiral von Hintze—
Final Effores of Priece Max,

HE policy of prolonging a vain resistance

by m%thsﬁs nf%e]ajr gvﬁs%thc sure t?;simns"of
provoking an internal explosion. The autbreak
happened at Kiel.!

The German Admiralty decided to attempt the
impossibfe in preparing to risk a decisive action
against the British fleet. On the evening of 3
November 4dmiral von Mann, Secretary of State
at the Admiralty, informed the Chancellor of cer-
tain serious events which were the forerunners of
the revolution. On several vessels the crews had
mutinied at sea on 29 and 30 October, and
Admirgl von Hipper had been able to restore order
only by threatening to torpedo the vessels in quesa

I The Kiel insurrection was not bhown in Germdhy until
several da sa?erit happefied, and its extreme gravity was success-
fully hidden for the same pegied both in the Reich and abroad,
In his Memoirs Noske observes that news congerning events at
Kiel wafs held back to the utmost possiblg extent. Le Tearps did
not refer to the troubles at Kiel until 8 Movember, and its news,
which was founded upon amaccount in the Frandfirter Zeitund,
gave no indication of the extent to which the revolutionary move- .
ment bad spread in the navy. It is clear that this delay was of
vital impbrtance at the moment, when the armistice negotiations
were in their earliest stages.
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tion, the destroyer’flotilla having remained loyal,
A number of mutineers had been put ig irons.

During the merning of 4 Noyember the Minister
brought yet more alarmipg news eoncerning the
troubles and mutinies in the fizet, There could
be no doubt,that the whole fleét was utterly dis-

sted with the war. Onits return to Xiel the

hird Squadron was in open rebellion. On 1
November the saifors had “demanded that°their
comrades in detention should be set at liberty.
On 2 November all discipline was lost. The
dock-workers and part of the garrison made
common cause with the sailors. The situation
was going from bad to worse, and blood had
aln:ngjz been shed.

‘The Cabinet at once decided to send Haussmann,
the Secretary of State, to Kiel, accompanied by
Gustav Noske, a member of the Reichstag, as the
representative of Social Democracy. These two
arrived-at Kiel at 7.30 p.m. on 4 Novemher, and
found the town in the hgnds of the insurgents.
The Gpvernor had been unnble to resist and had
been taken €ompletely unawares by the revolt,?
The Governor was Admiral Souchon, who had, at
the outset of the war, commanded the Goeben and
the Breslau in the, Mediterrancan.

As a Social Democrat, Noske was received with
acclamation at thestation, and the motor-car pro-
vidéd for his use was decorated with a red Eag.
He at once opened negotiations with the workers,

! Gustay Noske: Fow K& bis h‘app, Berlin, 1920,
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saildrs and soldiers, and broupht some order into
chaos by introducing soun i]ernents into a
Workers' Council which had beén set up on the
Russian model

' Haussman} returned to Berlin ir the evening of
5§ November. He had joined wjth Noske in
promising an amnesty. But the Ministers of
Marine and of War, tugefher with Ergberger,
were opposed to any such course. The Govérr
ment had conceived an altogether errongous idea
of the events at Kiel. Haussmann then hintéd at
resignation, and on the following day the Cabinet
accepted the principle of amnesty.

All the ships at Kiel had hoisted the red flag,
with the exception of the Scfilesien, which had
run away. The captain of the Koenig was killed,
together with another officer who was endeavour-
ing to prevent the old Imperial flag from being
hauled down. But Npske succeeded in establish-
ing his authority in the great port, into which at
that time about 80,000 men of the navy and tae
army were crowded. He got himself proclaimed
Governor, established himself in Admiral Sous
chon’s office, and in his new duties proved himself
worthy of the reputation for energy which he had
won"through the candour of his speech and his
immense physical strength.

Kiel had given thé signal. On g5 November its
example was followed without resistance by
Lubeck, and on 6 November by Hamburg, after
a fusillade which cost nine workers their lives.
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Riot followed riot with disconcerting rapitlity.
From the ports the movement began to extend to
north-western Germany. Hanover, Brunswick,
Cologne, etc., fell into thg hands,of Councils of
Workers and Boldiers, while on 7 November at
Munich thes gogialist writer, Kurt Eisner, amid
the acclamations of the crowd and at the kead of
the soldiery, assumeq the executive power and
protlaimed the Repablic of Bavaria. The drama
was hastening to its crisis.
#* * -

Such was the desperate situation with which
General Groner was faced during his stay at
Berlin on § and 6 November. Appointed Chief
Quartermaster-Gegeral on 28 October, he had, at
the age of fifty-one, to take up the heavy task of
succeeding Ludendorff. He had come from the
Ukraine, . where for eight months he had been
Chief of Staff of an army grqup, and had organised
the railway transport of %l‘ussian 'Erain and cattle
to Germany. His reputation as an organiser
stood high. He was a Wurtemberger, angd
ettached to the Staff. Later he was to become
Minister of Transpert of the Reich fromt 1920-3,
and Minister of the Reichswehr in 1928. When
the war broke out he was a lieutenart-colorrel in
charge of the German Field Railway Service, and
the admirably smooth working of the German
railwiky system was . attributed largely to his
energy and sense of method. After promotion to
the rank of full célonel ard then general, he was
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put in charge in May 1916 of the Army Food
Supply.Department, and in Octgber 1916 of the

egsam¢ entrusted with the execution of the
economic programme; drawn up by Marshal
Hindenburg: when he took over the Supreme
Command, for the purpose of a generil intensifica-
tion or preduction. Since the summer of 1917
he had commanded figst a division and then an
army corps on the western front, until he went to
the Ukraine, where he remained until his arrival
at Spa en 30 October 1918. ?

On § November General Groner visited Berlin
at the request of the Chancellor, who relied upon
him to dissipate the illusions of G.H.Q. and to
mike the Kaiser see reality. But in his, conver-
sations and statements the General showed him-
self fiercely opposed to abdieation. ‘He was
utterly devutecr to the cause of the Emperor.’t
To the Secretgries cf State in conclave he ex-
claimed loudly ‘The Marshal would think him-
self the lowest of the low if he abandonea the
Emperor. That ig my view,too, and a view which
is shared by all ssldiers who have’the least con-
ception of honour. . . . If thle campaign against
the Kaiser continues it will be all over with the
army, which will disband. In that case the re-
entry of the soldiery into Garmany will be
attended by scenes of the most unparalleled
brutality.” In a private interview with Groner,

1 Crown Prince Wilhelm: The Memoirg of the Croeon Primce of
G:manj, London, 1gzz.
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Max of Baden vainly attempte? to point out to
him the inevitable necessity of abdication. ‘It
seemed to me’, said Max, ‘that the Genéral was
bound by a promise madg at Spa that he would
not give way.'
owards midday of 6 November General Groner
met the leaders of the Social Demoerati¢ Party
and of the trade unons. who had been sum-
moned to the Chincellery. Ebert was there
together with the Socialists in Prince Max's
Cabinet, Scheidemann, Secretary of State without
rtfolio, Bauer, Minister of Labour, and David,
nder-Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs; also
the influential trade unionists, Lepien, Robert
Schmidt and Stidekum. Groner had collaborated
on friendly terms with the trade unions in
1916=17 in carrying out Hipdenburg's economic
programme,
ith glacial calm Ebert peinted out that abdica-
tion was'necessary. ‘Rightly or wrongly,’ he said,
‘the German people have laid the responsibility
for theig collapse upgn the Emperor. His abdis
Cation must be announced to«morrow at latest,
and one of his sons, either Oscar or Eitel Fritz,
should act for him. The Crown Prince is so
unpopular with the people that he is out of the
question in present circumstances.' Personally,
said Ebert, he was inclingd to agree to a monarchi-
cal eémpire, based upon the trade unions, and
controlled by a parhamentary system. The last
opportunity of saving the monarchy would be to
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entrust one of the Imperial princes with the
regencys

Gronet replied that there could be no question
of abdication? *When the army was engaped in
a bitter struggle against the enemy it was impos-
sible to remove 1ts supreme head. Military con-
sideratlons should be supreme. He firmly re-
fused to take any steps whatloever in the directjon
of abdication or even to broach the question to
the Emperor.

David, Stidekum and Legien pressed the neces-
sity of abdication, David in an ‘academic dis-
course’, and Stidekum on a pathetic note, which
‘brought tears to his eyes’. But Groner maifi-
taifted his view that Ebert’s proposal could not be
discussed. All the sons of William ¢ had bound
themselves to decline the honouwr of the regency
if their father was forced to abdicate.

In such circumstanees, said Ebert, discussion
was useless and gvents must be left to follow their
course. Groner carried away from this interview
the impression that the Emperor's abdication
could not be long delayed.? Latér on, he ex-’
pressed regret that he had refected the proposal

! This impression was contained in a Memcrandum published
on 27 July 1919, the authenticity of which 1s vouched for by
Hindenburg, Generals Plessen, Marschall and Schulenburg, epd
Admiral von Hintze. General Groner took no part in the
drafting of this memorandum, the publication of which ed to
observations from Wahnschaffe, Under-Secretary of State ar the

Chancui‘!er}r, Schench, the Minister of War, Prince Max, and
others,
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of the Social Democrats who did not consider the
distinction between a monarchy and a republic to
be an essential one. By collaboration with Ebert
he might perhaps, he theught, have saved the
monarchy.!

Before his departure from Berlin in the afternoon
of 6 November, Groner saw the Chanzellor. He
hag been overwhelmed by his interview with'the
trade union leaders. The revolution, he saw,
was clost: at hand. But he still refused to discuss
abdication, and expressed the view that the
Emperor should sacrifice not his throne but his life,
or should at the least expose his life. An act of
h€roism of this kind would raise the national moral
and closz the mouths of all those who were contin-
uously repeliting that the Emperor was responsible
for all the misfortunes of Germany. ‘I was con-
vinced', was the Chancellor’s simple reply, ‘that
His Majesty's entourage weuld prefer abdication.'

On 6 November G.H.Q. once again informed
the troops on the western front that for the army
no dynastic problem existed. The army was
arrayed behidd the Kaiser, who was the symbol
of the national resistance. 'hﬂtcw:rha spened the
army would rgmain faithful to its oath. *Unul
6 November the Empemr Was setﬂndcd by
GeH.Q., and on that day was :bandnncd by 1t."

E *

139 October 1925, Griner’s evidence at the Munich trizl,

October=-November 1 L]? 5.
2 Crown Prince Willielm; Te Memoles of the Cronm Prince of

Germany, London, 1924.
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The impatience, and irritability of the Social
Democrats, who were obsessed with the idea of
peace, grew in proportion as it became apparent
that the Chancellor was incapable of bringing
about a voluntary abdication of the Emperor,
From the Left the Social Democrats were
assaultéd by the Independent Socialists and the
Spartacists, who conducted ah intensive carapaign.

hey were still powerful enough to prevent a
general strike on 4 November which kad heen
engineered by the Independents, but they stated
that they could no longer keep their men under
control unless a rapid decision was taken in
favour of abdication.

There was much unrest in Berlin, William 11
became most unpopular for seeking to delay the
denouement for which public opinion clamotired.
In reply to Max of Baden, who said that ‘the
question of the Emperor’ would be settled after
the armistice, Scheidemann said on § November
that that would certainly be too late. On 6
Wovember he reminded the Cabinet that he had
already on several occasions expresséd himself on
the point With complete lucidity. In the evening
he urged his Party to leave the Government with
his Sgcialist colleagues if the Emperor had not
abdicated within the next twenty-four hours.
Social Democracy, he said, could not take, the
responsibility for the delays which the Cabinet
was telerating. It would be campelled to make
some effort to retain its popularity with the people
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who were going over in large numbers to the
Independents. The majority of the leaders were
in favour of waiting a little longer. But the
Party as a whole was divided, distracted and
without a policy.

On 7 November the Party held a further meeting
which this time was decisive. Scheilemann
urged the Socialists 10 ahandon the Government.
He was energetically supported by Wels" and
Brann aud, despite David, their views carried the
day. It was decided that the Emperor must
abdicate by midday, 8 November, at latest.

Before this meeting, early in the morning, the
Chancellor had scen the two Socialist leaders in
whom ‘ne reposed confidence, Ebert and, later,
David. Scheidgmann inspired him with deep
distrust., His temperament, said the Prince, was
so difficult to reckon upon or restrain when the
wind of. revolution was blowing, The masses, he
said, exercised on Scheidemarin ‘an. influence
comparable® to that which he exercises upon
them’,?

Prince Max decided to leave for.Spa. He
inquired of Ebert whether; when abdication was
proclaimed, he could expect to have him at his
side “in the fight against the social revolution’,

! Scheidemann was dnnoyed at the Eriticisms levelled at him in
Prinés Max’s Memoirs, and alter having let him down easily in
his own book, Der Zusammenbrach, Berlin, 19271, was very severe
upon him in his Memoiren eines Sogialdemokraren, Dresden,
1928. )
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Ebert unhesitatingly replied, I do not want the
social revolution, f hate it like poison,” It was
Ebert’s hn;pc that after abdication Social Democ-
racy would arrayitself op the side of the Govern-
ment. David wasseven more encouraging. Max
suggested Prince Eitel Fritz, the Emperor’s
second sbn, as a possible regent, since the crown
was to pass to the eldest gon &f the Crown Drince,
Ebert promised that his party would cause no
difficulties ‘in these constitutiopal qucstiogs’.
David observed that many Socialists would prefer
‘a democratic monarchy’ toa republic. The Prince
was convinced that he had succeeded in concluding
with the Social Democrats a covenant or alliance
which would save Germany from a revolutjon.

His consternation was extreme when, at § p.m.
on 7 November, Scheidemann anc Ebert brought
him the ultimatum of the Social Democrats,
which demanded the withdrawal of the Emperor
and the Crown Prjnce before midday on 8 Novem-
ber. Scheidemann and,'Ebert declared that ‘the
Emperor must abdicate immegdiately. The alter-
native is immediatesrevolution’, “Wounded and
full of bitterness’, the Chancelldr replied that the
whole foundations of his Government were now
undermined. His colleagues in the Ministry
were completely taken by surprisg by the 'viog
lently subversive aims’ of the Social Democrats.?

In reality the Socialist ultimatum represented not
1 Conra® Haussmann: Scblaplickeen, Beichiragsbriefe und
Aufeeichuungen, Frankfurt, :gzi.
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a daring blow struck at the Imperial power, but
the action of a Party which had geen carried away
by events beyond the control of men, The
leaders of Socialism were filled: with a sudden
terror when ‘they saw that they had lost their
influence with the masses. In order not to be
carried away by the popular discontent they
dgcided to direct thé mavement themselves from
Berlin. The same evening Ebert confided to
Simons that immediate action was necessary if the
Independent Socialists were not to draw.everyone
over to their side. 'A revolutionary gesture is
necessary in order to forestall the revolution.”
Prince Max gave up the idea of visiting Imperial
Headquarters and, in profound disturbance of
mind, sent'his resignation to the Kaiser in writing:

“To His Majesty, the Kaiser and King,

“Your Majesty knows that the so-called War

Cabinet has, in spite of my iuost earnest and
dnsistent warnings, for some time been ‘making
the August Person a subject of discussion.
I [therefore] read the Cabine: a declaration to the
effect that I would neither permit pressure to be
exercised on Your Majesty in the question of
abdication, nor would myself yield-to such pres-
sure in advising Your Majesty. . . .’

After emphasising the disastrous nature of the
ultimatum which Ebert and Scheidemann had
launched, the Pgince concluded:

! Prince Max.
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[n these circumstances, it is impossible to pre-
serve the' unity of the present Government any
longer. The majority of the members of the
Cabinet take up an attitude of opposition
to the Social De&g'ﬁcratic step. Since I can only
administer the affairs of the Empireso long as 1
enjoy thie cdnfidence . . . qf 2 majority in the
Reichstag . . . I beg Your Majesty . . . to 2clieye
mg of my office as Imperial Chancellor. [ natur-
ally regard it as my duty to retain in my hdhds she
conduct of Imperial affairs at this time of stress,
especially as the armistice negotiations which are
in progress might be endangered by a breach in
the continuity of Government.’

Prince Max informed the Vice-Chancellor ven
Payer of his resignation and beggtd him to call a
meeting of the Cabinet for the purpose of hearing
the news. At this melting, at which von Payer
presided, the ‘bqurgeois’ Ministers bitterly re-
proached Scheidemann for his policys  The Social
Temocrats, cried Count Reedorn, must bear before
history the responsibility of overthrowing the
Government at the outset of negotiations with the
enemy Payer also was most outspoken. ‘It is
impossible to bring about abdication over the
telephone in twenty-four hours. The Socialists
are making all collaboration.with them impossible.
Decent people do not behave like that. The
chorus of blame and criticism was swelled by
Haussmann and Soff.
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Scheidemann, in his defence, took the offensive:
Events are going from bad to worse. ‘The revo-
lutionary movement is too quick for us, and the
Emperor is responsibles For foime weeks now
he must have known what it Was his duty to do.
There is ndt a single Minister who would not
have been relieved if the Emperor liad done the
right thing in time. The revolution will be upon
us if abdication does not come at once.' Scheide-
mann éxpressed the hope that-Max of Baden would
remain in power at least until the armistice. ‘If
the Emperor abdicates, we believe we £Lan guar-
antee a favourable development of the situation;

but the Chancellor shuulcr remain,’

Simons thought that Prince Max shbuld bedome
Licutenant-General of the Empire, with Ebert as
Chancellor, until the election of a National Con-
stituent Assembly. The Prince himself suggested
to Spa that his successor should be Count von
Brockdorff-Rantzau, German Minister at Copen-
hagen, whom he sumimoned urgently to Berlin.

Late in the evening of 7 November he followed
his letter of resignation by a despatch, which
strictly defined the limits of the conclusions which
the Monarch should draw from the resignation of
his Chancellor. He pointed out the danger of a
military dictatorship, which would involve civil
wag and ‘the dissolutien of the whole organism of
the German nation in Bolshevism', The majority
of the troops would go over to the instirgents,
He urgently dissuaded the Emperor from attempt-
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ing td form a government' ‘without the participa-
tion of the Social Democrats or in avowed hostility
to them’, since 'ﬂucjh a government could now
only take the form of a military dictatorship”.
This would bt a greater danger for the Reich than
the renunciation bf the throne by the Sovereign
and theoCrown Prince under pressure from the
Socialists.

In his letter of resigriation he ¢onfined himself to
stdting that he could not remain in powsr after
the Socialist ultimatum. In the despatch which
followed his resignation, which did not arrive at
Spa until*the following morning, he pointed out
that nothing could be done against the Socialists,
This was in.effect to advise abdication. Accord-
ing to Max of Baden this 'supplementary pro-
posal’ of his was ‘intended to reserye to the Crown
some remainder of dignity and initiative, while
making it possible for, the Social Democrats to
remain in the Government’.

At midday on 8 November, Prince Max received®
the reply from Spa. Wiliinmqﬂ confified himself
to writing: ‘I reservg My decision on Your High-
ness’s request for leave to resipn, until the armis-
tice has %ecn concludéd, . . . Further decisions
will be determined by the resulting éituation. In
any case I request Your Highness to remain in
office till then.’?

! The same evening the Wolff Agency announced that the
Chanceller had offered his resignation and that the Emperor had
requested him to remain provisionally in office.
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The Emperor avoided alluding to the question
of abdication. Gritnau was more explicit: ‘His
Majesty has flatly refused to gonsider Your Grand
Ducal Highness' proposals on the.question of the
Throne, and' considers 1t as much as ever His
duty to refaain at His post.’

Even before obtaining these negativu replies
from Spa, the Chincellor had sent a further
despatch, more pressing thin that of the previous
evening, in which he urgently demanded abdica-
tion. The same morning he was informed that
the revolution had triumphed in Brunswick,
Munich, Schwerin, Stuttgart and Cologne.
Jhere was no time to be lost. Mutinies were
breaking out all pver the country.

If the penciple of monarchy was to be saved,
said- the Princg in his telegram, 'His Majesty’
should .at once declare his firm intention to
abdicate as soon as the armistice negotiations have
reached a point which permits of the issue of writs
ffor the election of a Constituenf National Assem-
bly. Such®an Assembly would have to determipe
the new forms of constitution which should have
ultimate validity for the whole German people,
including those sections of it which up to now
had no part®in the Empire. Such a National
Assembly would then regulate all the constitu-
tional questions. connected with the abdication.
Tiltthat time His Majesty would appointa Deputy.

“The above solution appears to me to offer the
following advantages:
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‘(1)*The Crown, far from :agif;lating to the
Social Democrats, compels the ial Democrats
to capitulate to it;

‘(2) The question of the renunciation of His
Imperial and Royal Highness, the €rown Prince,
and the question of the regency, which such
renunciutiors would involve, is thus postponed;

‘(3) At the elections the monarchical cavge will
have ¢he advantage over the Republican, becadse
the initiative in holding the elections will
have been taken by the Crown;

‘(4) The fighting temper of the masses will be
diverted from the street to the polling-booth, from
illegal into legal channels; and thus the peaceabls
sections of the population haye an increasing
chance of counteracting the movement. The pros-
pects of the Monarchists would be favourable.« . .

When he received this telegram for subimission
to the Emperor, Baron ¥on Griinau,! Councillor of

! Baron von-Griinau had represented the Ministry of Foreigrd
Affairs with the Emperor since 4 October 1914, just as since
March 1917 his colleaglie, von Lersner, had been Liaison
Officer betwegn the Ministry and G.H.Q. The Reichstag's
Committee of Enquiry has reyealed several interesting telegrams
from Griinau to his Ministry, One was on 14 December 1917.
The Ministry had requested Griinau to inteivene in order to
get the Emperor and G.H.{. to show some moderation in their
claims concerning the annexation of Briey. Grilinau replied thdt
he could do nothing: ‘For the moment feeling is very optinyistic
here and there are schemes for crushing the enemy.” He recalls
that on aormer occasion, e.g. in the negotiagions which took place
on 23 April and 9 Auvgust 19#7 at Kreuznach, G.H.Q. was
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Legation, a young and amiable diplomat, who was
sorely troubled by this sudden responsibility,
determined to take counsel with Admiral von
Hintze.

* & %

FormerlyNaval attaché at Pcfersf_-_urg, and later
minister in Mexico, China and Norway, Paul von
Hintze had shown tonsiderable aptitude for the
more adventurous’side of diplomacy, before be-
coming in July 1918, at the age of sixty-foir,
Secretary of State for Foreipn Affairs., IE{:: had
just ‘joyfully’ accepted the Embassy at Moscow
in the place of Count Mirbach, who had been
assassinated, when, ‘at His Majesty's command',®
he succeeded von Kithlmann at the Wilhelmstrasse.
He took up his duties on 20 July, at the moment
when the offensive in Champagne had failed and
the fortune of war was turning against German}r.

This cultivated seaman, tinged with a certain
aura of mystery and romance, had the reputation

disposed to malke Certain small concessions to France. A further,
despatch of Griinau on 1"October 1§18 has often been quoted:
My impressiod is that everyone heré has completely lost his
head.! Die Ursachen des Dewischen Zusammenbraches im Fakre
1918. Fierte Reibe im Werk des Undersuchungraussehues, April
l-i}‘zs, 2 volumes
When he was appointed German Minister for China during
the World War, he reached Peking in the disguise of a ship's
stokar,
3 Letter from the Chancellor, von Hertling, to the Vice-
Chancellor, von Payer, B July 1918. Hintze would%certainly
have preferred the Moscow Ertbassy*to the Ministry at Berlin.
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of a charmin% personality, though his fondness
for paraclox often led his enemies to describe him
as a cynical charlatan.t  Contrary to what might
have been expeeted from a career which had made
him the chosen man of the Pan-Germanists, he
based his fgteign policy on the most attentive
observations/ of realities, which speedily led to
his giving the appearance of being inspired with
the blackest pessimiém. It was not long berore
Ludendorff conceived the greatest distrust for
the character and intelligence of the Secretary of
State.* DBut when on 28 September the old
Chancelior von Hertling learned that G.H.Q.
was demanding an armistice in the almost immed-
iate future, he cried, ‘“With all his pessimism
Hintze was right.’®  So also von Paysr, the Vice-
Chancellor: “You justified von Hintze's pessimism
which was founded on a knowledge pof facts.’

1 K. F. Nowak: T#¢ Collaple of Central Eurspe, London, 1924.

3 This was according to the evidence of General vbn Mertz,
given before the Committee of Enquiry, The General reported
3cunv¢:55;tion which he had had on 1 Septemier with Luden-

orff. MNevertheless, telgrams sent’by Baron von Lersner to
Hintze on 4 and 5 October would seem to show that Ludendor®
had still full confidence in von Hineze,  Ludendorf wished the
Admiral to remain in the Cabinet as Minister of Foreign Affairs.
When® Hintze's' resignation was decided updn he expressed a
wish that Hintze should be placed in charge of the armistice
negotiations. Hintze maintains that Erzberger prevented the
Cabinet from making this appointment, He had been *pld so
in confidence by Haussmann,

* Cf. Xarl Grafvon Hertling (the Chancllor'sson).  Ein Fakr
in der Reichskanzlei, Fréiburg! 191g.
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Erzberger too adnfitted that ‘Hintze has a‘clear
view of the general situation’.

Nevertheless, when on 4 October Max of Baden
reconstructed his Cabinet, Admiral von Hintze
refused absolutely to rétain his portfolio.r ‘I
should have been utterly out of p]aE':in the new
Government,’ he said.? He was wew aware that
he had, not the confidence of 2 number of Mem-
bets of Parliament; despite the fact that he had
cnergctwli}r intervened in favour of the extension
of parliamentary rights. Von Payer regretted his
departure. Von Payer was an old Democrat who
laughed at the ‘aura of impenetrable mystery” with
which the Foreign Office was wont to surround
itself, ‘an atmosphere’, as he said, 'where. an
elected prigsthood performed solemn rites in
secrecy’, and he was more at his ease with Hintze
than with Hintze’s predecessor Kithlmann, whose
impenetrable reserve and b/gsé detachment seemed
to him to savour too much of thé old diplomacy.
He asserted that Hintze was inférior to. no one of
his predecessors or successors at the Ministry of
Foreign Affajrs, as regards either his initiative or
the objectivity of kis outlook.

Accused later of lack of erergy and of complete
‘political sterikty’ by Ludendorft (whom he was to

LiHe resigned on@g September and the Emperor refused to
accep} his resignation. He refused it a second time on 30 Sep-
tember and accepted it only at von Hintze's third request, on
3 October.

® Declaration of von Hintze before the Committee of En quiry.
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challenge in vain to a duel), arid by Colonel Bauer,
the peppery assistant of the Chief-Quartermaster-
General,t Hintze's position in August and Sep-
tember 1918 could hardly have been a bed of
roses. ‘There were no political nteasures calcu-
lated to maigitairf a situation which from the mili-
tary peint ©f view was utterly ruined.’* The
Committee of Enquiry, of the Reichstag, before
which Hintze appeared arrived at the conclusion
thiat he had done his duty to the utmost?

At Spa, after his resignation of the portfolio of
foreign affairs, Hintze represented the Foreign
Office at"G.H.Q). When Griinau approached him
on the subject of Prince Max's latest telegram he
pointed out to Griinau certain obscurities in the
Chancellor’s despatch of 8 Novembgr. * About
three o'clock in the afterncon he called Prince
Max on the telephone, who, ‘after reflection’,
begged him to take part in the mission with which
Griinau was entrusted. Von Hintze stated that
he would confind himself to transmitting the tele-
gram to the Emperor without supporting the
views contained therein. At the sgme time he
advised the Prince to send some members of the
Government to Spa.

He @also asked for information aso certain de-
tails. When, for example, should the Emperor

! Max Bauer, Der grosse Krieg iv Feld und Heimat, Erinyerun-
gen und Betrackiungen, Tlbingen, 1921,

2 Evidmce of Colonel Schwerdtfeger before the Reichstag
Committee of Enquiry, ¥el. H, p. 277.
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abdicate? ‘After ‘considerable hesitation’ the
Chancellor and his Under-Secretary of State,
‘Wahnschaffe, replied, ‘Immediately’. Who then,
said Grilnau, would be Lieuténant-General of the
Reich? No definite ansWwer was given to this
question,

Hintze and Grtinau thought that, diter weading
the telggram, the Emperor would at once- ask
whikther the army could and would remain faithful
to him, end under his direction destroy the revoli-
tmnar}r movemént in Germany. In accordance
with his agreement with the Chancellor, Hintze,
accompanied by Griinau (who was nvefjn}red to
have obtained such assistance), repaired to Hin-

cnburg and to General Griner, explained the
mission” with which he had been entrusted, and
begged them to accompany him to the Suverugn
‘The Marshal at once refused. He had, he said,
given his final o inion to, His Majest}r and h::
would have nothing to do with the matter.
Gréner, who had already been acquainted with the
trend of evénis by Wahnschaffe, was extremely
reserved. But he was equally unwilling to inter-
view the Emptmr Both Hindenburg and Groner
persisted in their resclve, even after it had been
pointed out t them that the Kaiser's deeision
would depend upon the opinion he was able to
foFm of the mdral of his troops.

And so it came about that Hintze and Griinan
alone went to see the Kaiser. 41 told His Majesty
6o
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that the Chancelloer had entrusted me with a mis-
sion that in my view devolved rather on the re-
sponsible members of the Government, of which
I was not a member; that I was carrying out this
mission althoygh.I did not on that accopntapprove
of it in anyfway. His Majesty lisfened quietly
while I read the Chancellor’s telegram and the ex-
planations given over che telephone, theh szid,
“You must tell the Chancellor that the Fymperor
has no thought of abdication.” Then turning to
me he s#id, “You at any rate do not expect any
other replly from me.” I answered, “Certainly
not, Sire."’

The Emperor at this period played a game of
bluff as if he had the whole giame in his hands.
He sent a Jetter to Potsdam in which tAere was no
hint of abdication. The general impression in his
entourage was that he was absolutely resolved to
keep the crown.?

Atter the interview Hintze went to see Grones
once again, undoubtedly t& inform him of what
had happened. He expressed his regret to
Groner that he had*not had him witit him during

' As a result of this letter? which was received by acroplane,
FPrince sAugust Wilhelm, who was at Potsdam, was extremely
surprised to learn from his brother Adalbert about one o'clock
an g November (Adalbert having been in telephonic communisa-
tion from Colberg with Max of Baden ebout 11.30) that the
Chancellor was announcing the Emperor’sabdication, Simalarly
Count Eylenburg, who was in touch with the Imperial entourage,
found it difficult to believe thit the Emperor was abdicating.
(Diary of Privce August Hilhelm.)
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the interview. , ‘Griner replied that on several
occasions he had told Marshal Hindenburg that
the army would refuse to take part in a civil war,
but it was difficult for him,to disavow the Marshal.’

Hintze forwarded the Kaisefs decision to the
Chancellor by -telephone, The Chancellor was
greatly moved at the:news. Hintze then advised
him tofspeak personally on the telephone with the
Kaiser, and the Prince did soat 8 p.m, According
to Hintze the .telephonic conversation between
the two lasted three-quarters of an hour,*and was,
so he was told, ‘serious but without viplence or
invective of any kind’. On the other hand, Prince
Max noted the ‘fury of indignation’ with which
the Emperor hatl rejected his profiosals. ‘He
himself wis only too anxious to throw all his
energy and will power into ¢he task of convincing
his Sovereign; and knowing that the general tone
of the interview might be’ difficult he had taken
the precaution of asking his Adjutant, von Pritt-
witz,* to listea and take down in writing what he
had to say.

He appenled to his cougin’s better nature.
“Your abdication’, he said, ‘has become necessary
« +« to fulfil your mission as the Peacemaking
Emperor till'the end. . . . The abdication might
produce a decisive turn in the course of the peace
negotiations and take the wind out of the Entente

! According to Prince Max the conversation lasted only twenty
minutes.
2 Since 1927, German Ambassador to the United States,
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Jingoes’ sails, . . .. Itwould be hajled as a liber-
ating anda healing act. .. . If civil war and worse
can be prevented thsough your abdication, your
name will be bleSsed by future generations. . . .’

He also appealéd to arguments of a more-
realistic natuve:

‘“The troops are not to be depended on. At
Cologne power is in the hands of the Workers’
and Soldiers' Council. At Brunswick the Red
Flag flies from the Palace. At Munich the Re-
wh ic has been proclaimed. At Schwerin a

orkers’ and Soldiers’ Council is sitting. . . .
We are steering straight for civil war. . . . The
position is to-day untenable. ... Unless thé
abdication takes place to-day 1 ean do no.more;
nor can the German Princes shield the Kaiser any
more. . . , This is the last possible moment.”’

Prince Max also endeavoured to allay the sus-
picions of the Kaiser: .

‘Such is the terrible situation in which | am
bound to speak out and.not'gloss over, things. |
hsve heard that seme persons have been de-
nouncing me for aHegecF intrigues against you.
That is a lie, as any pne of my colleagues and
associates can prove to you. But for my efforts
to shield you the question would dlready have
become acute a week ago. I speak, to you to-da
both as your relative and as 3 German Prince. ., .

Prince Max took the view that abdication should
be followed either by the renvaciation of the
throne by the Crowh Prince, with a regency for
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his eldest son, or preferably by the appointment
of a Lieutenant-General and by the convocation
of a National Assembly.

But the Emperor ann{:nunc:d his ‘unshakable
intention not to give way’. He was confident of
his ability to‘restore order in Germaky at the head
of the army. The mecsssary instructions, he said,
had alceady been given. ‘T begged him t¢ dis-
miss me and appoint a new Chancellor irmmed-
iately, now that I no longer possessed his con-
fidence. The Kaiser refused, with the words:
“Yuu sent out the armistice uﬁ'er you will have

to put your name to the conditions." * The
Prince expressed his readiness to remain in office
until the armistice was 51gm:d

After this lively conversation with his Sovereign
the ‘Chancellor ssent yet a further despatch to %
Emperor urging the necessity of abdication, The
King of Bavaria and the Duke of Brunswick had
abdicated. The Grand Duke of Mecklenburg-
Schwerin had accepted. the demands of the
Workers' and Seldiers’ Cpuncil. ‘The over-.
whelming majority of the Cabinet, which up
to yesterday showed a majority against Your
Majesty's renunciation, to-day regards this step
as the only possible means of saving Germany
from a b-,l‘::n:uiJ civil war. Herr von Payer has
deq;lart:d to mc ithat he will be unable in case of
m res:gnatmn to remain any longer in the post

of Yice-Chancellor. . . . He will be follcaved by

1 the members of the“War Cabinet. The for-
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mation of a new government-is impossible since
in the vigw of the Centre leaders also it would be
impossible to find any working majority in the
Reichstag. The, Lmpire will thus find itself
without a Chéncellor, swithout a «Government,
without any compact Parliamentarp Majority,
utterly incapable of negotiating.’

Late in the evening Wahnschaffe asked Griinau
to cammunicate thid telegram to the Kaiser.
Gelinau refused. The Emperor, he saidswas in
bed, and it was quite useless to disturb him; the
telegram would not cause him to change his
decision. Wahnschaffe urged Griinau to en-
deavour to convince the Emperor of the necessity
of a regency. Grilnau replied that the Chancellor
should either come himself or send Ministers for
the purpose. o s

Prince Max had already summoned Solf and the
Conservative, von Waldow, Ministers’ respec-
tively of Foreign Affairs and of Food, and had
urged tiiem to proceed to Spa. Solf agreed, and:
a special train was ortlered. Von* Waldow re-
fused. He was not, he said, competent in the
matter, and-he was opposed to abdicdtion so long
as the army remained loyal to the Emperor, "The
Empecor and his military advisers are the only
persons who are competent to judge of the loyalty
of the army.’ 1 >

1 Von Waldow made a point of making this addition to Wahn-
schaffe's story, in & letter published in the Kreazzeituny of
1g August 191G,
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Before trying to-find another Minister tb make
the journey, Wiahnschaffe telephoned to Scheide-
mann and Ebert. Scheidemann agreed. Ebert
made no secret of his viewlthat the Ministers
would arrive «too late at Spa. ‘The Emperor's
decision’, ke said, ‘will be ertirely ineffective
unless it is 1nmvn at latest at nine o'clock to-
morrow morning.’ Ibert told a high official in
cehfidence that the Executive Committee of the
Social Pemocratic Party had issued orders to the
workers that on the following morning they should
remain at work if the morning papers announced
abdication; otherwise they were to leave the
factories after the break for breakfast, and meet
at certain prearranged localities.? The same
night these statements were transmitted to Spa by
telephone.

Solf’s journey- to Spa was abandoned, and Solf
con_ﬁm::f himself to sending an urgent telegram
to the Emperor: ‘“The ~participation of the
Majority Socialists in the Government is an in-
dispensableccondition’ of any continuation of the
Peace Action. The Socialists leave the Goverri-
ment at onck if their Ultimatum is disregarded.
Then there only remains: the possibility of a
Military Dictatorship. Inany case in the gyes of
the Entente the Government will have become
incapable of conducting negotiations. In these
-cirfumstances the Entente will continue hostil-
ities . . . Civil war can only be averted by an

L Mermairs of Pripce Max of Baden.
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immediate decision of Your Majesty's. 1 there-
fore most reverently beg Your Majesty by this
supreme sacrifice to secure for the Empire the
peace which alone can save it from ruin.

Max of Baden states that during® that night a
proposal was made to him which he, rejected be-
cause, itz his view, it would have been equivalent
to a coup d'état. The proposal was that he ?hnuld
at once send out a message td the Press stating
thit he was convinced of the necessity for abdi-
cation, that he had demanded it, @nd would carry
it through. The people should therefore be
patient unitil the armistice was settled. A message
of this kind would have restrained populay
violence while at the same time forcing the hand
of the Emperor. Prince Max has never révealed
the origin of this suggestion. He replied %o %
that he would do nﬂﬁling against the Emperor.
He frequently wondered whether in so doing he
had done wrong), but his conscience forbade him
to agree to a coup d'érat,



111

The Decisions of G.H.Q.—Conversitions of Hindenburg and
Griner with Gemarad pon Plefien.

HE alirm had now reached Spa._In the

evening of 8 November, Major Niemann
was spmmoned to ther Cperations Bureau of
G.H.Q, He was informed that the insurrection
had' reached Cologne, Coblenz and Mainz; the
rebels were in occupation of the Rhine bridge-
heads. The army was provisioned for a few days
only and the supply w&ts were all on the right
Bank of the Rhine. Was the Emperor aware of
the position? ‘If he did not knoiv it says
Niemann, ¢t was my duty to point out to him the
gravity of the knpending danger. I replied that
such serious news should be communicated to the
Emperor by the responsibie officials.”

Niemann went at once to see General von
Marschall, a Jarge man of jolly appearance, who
had for three months been chief of the Military
Cabinet. Marschall had always advised Niemann
to tell the Kaiser the truth, and not to exhibit
everything to him through rose-coloured spec-
tacles. Thist time, however, the gravity of .the
news was too much for him. ‘According to
certain accounts; Griper is in a state of uncer-
tainty after his visit to Berlin. The men to whom

1 Niemann does not state whosvas hie interlocutor at G, H.Q.
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the Emperor has-entrusted the cgmmand of the
army should guarantee personally the accuracy of
such serious news.} Anyone who thinks it his
duty to advise Iis Majesty to abdicate should take
full responsibility™for his advice beforg the world
and befgre history.’

It was impossible that she responsibility in
question could remain 1dng unassumed. Puring
a gonference with the representatives of G.H.Q,,
held in the morning of 8 Novembgr, the Emperor
had disciosed his intention of restoring order in
Germany, at the head of his troops, and General
Groner had been requested to draw up 4 plan of
operations, The same evening, I-Er1J,::1f:,nl:n.J.r=
and Griénef had an interview o the subject with
General von Plessen. i

The conversation of this eveniiig was a fearful
ordeal for von Plessen, who for forty years had
thought it his sacred duty to shield the Monarch
from any unpleasantness, however slight, In
1918 he was seventy-seveh years old, six years
dider than Hinderburg. Sinhce 1879, when he
became aide-de-canip to the old, Emperor William
I, he had scarcely eyer quitted the Court. In
1892, he was put in charge of Imperial Head-
quarters. A General of the Court @nd a polished

9

! Memorandum of 27 July 1919. This is what William [I
told the Chancellor in the telephornic conversadon the same
evening: “The necessary instructions have already been issued’
for the Emperor to restgre order in Getmany at the head of
the army.
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man of the world, he had never been distinguished
for political acumen.

Prince Philipp Eulenburg, bn most occasions a
far-seeing counsellor of the Emperor, feared the
influence on his master of an Gfficer who talked
of nothing but ‘shooting them down', evgn when
the question was hew best to smother a Press
campaignt In October 1899 von Plessen was
clamouring for war with England. To .an
adiniral who adduced the naval superiority of the
British he replied: ‘Get a single d]?:isiﬂﬁ landed,
—and we're rid of England! If that won't do,
we and Russia can march on Egypt and Indial!’ #

Since 1914 the General had shown the most self-
sacrificing solicitbde in keeping the Kaiser in a

od huméur and full of optimism. ‘His Majesty
must have nothing but good news.'® When
Niemann arrived from G.H.Q., to inform the
Emperpr of the military “situatien, von Plessen
begged him to deal gently with the Sovereign,
whose respencibilities*were so heavy and who was

1 Johannes Haller: Pdifip Enlemburg, The Kaiser's Friewd,
English trans. by EtHel Colburn Mayne. #“vols. London,
1930,

Hermann Freiherr von Eckhardstein: Ledewsianerunges vod
politische Dewhsiirdigheiten, Leipzig, 1920, trans. Professor
Grorge Younpg: Tew Years at the Court of 8t. Fames's, 18g5—
190g, London, 19200 CF _elo Emil Ludwig, Wilbelm der
Zaveite, trans, Ethel Colbu mhﬂyn:, London, New York, 1926,

8This was said by an officer of von Plessen's department to
Erzberger, before an interview with the Kaiser. M. Erz-
berger: Erdebmisse im Welthrieg, Stuttgart, 1920,
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terribly sensible of the gravity of recent events;
at all costs, he said, the Kaiser's moral balance
must be preservad. * All means were good means,
provided they hid the tryth from him. But events
were stronger than the devices of the aged
courtier; devices which in other circumstances
might have seemed worthy*of sympathy. Since
14 August the German retrzat on the Yestzrn
frent had been a source of grave disquistude to
the Emperor. His depression and despair were
generally noted. ‘In a man of His ajesty’s
mercurial temperament and keen imaginative
powers, it often happens that success inspires him
with the most grandiose conceptions and, in-
versely, that failure weighs upon him more heavily
than would be justified by an imparfial examip-
ation of the military situation.’ * The defeats of
2 September in the neighbourhoods of Arras and
Cambrai completely upset him and forced him to
take to his bed,sin that very Castle of Wilhelms-
hohe which had been paced by Napoleon 111 in
his captivity after Sedan in 1870. His immediate
entourage were atraid of a complete moral and
physical collapse, 28 a result of his general
condition of, excitement and exhaustion® The

! Satement of General Wetzell before the Committen of
Enquiry of the Reichstag, Until,September 1918 Werzall was
in charge of the Operations Bureau of G.H.Q.

A Niegpann, in the Tag, 11 May 1923. Niemann yublished
in the Tap certain souernirs, avhich he subsequently isued in
his book, Kaiser und Revofution. In editing this volume he
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Empress, though herself seriously ill, sncceeded
in bringing some comfort to her stricken husband.
On 18 September he recovgred his optimism;
Plessen hacr visited certain army headquarters and,
as he had done for more tham a quarter of a
century, brought him the most encouraging news.!

But in the evening of 8 November von Plessen
was faled by army.commanters who had taken a
sudden-decision; they held that the operation on
thé’ home front' of which the Emperor had
dreamed could not be carried out, and they told
him so.

G.H.Q. had been informed that in the great
cities of Germany, on the coast, in the West and
in the South, Workers' and Soldiers’ Councils had
sgized power. The revolutionaries were in occu-
pation of the lihie of the Rhine and of the most
important railway centres. The great supply
depéts,.which, in anticipation of tke armistice, had
been constituted along and behind thé Rhine,
were in thei hands?® Supplies for the arm
would not hold ouf* for more than two or thrée
days, being dependent upon the depfts at Dussel-
dorf, Cologne, Coblenz and Mainz, as also on
those of Leipzig, Halle, Magdeburg and Ham-
burg. If civil war were to break out, the depdts

attenyiated to a considerable, extent certain articles which he
had already published. Colonel Schwerdifeger drew attention
to this detail before the Committce of Enquiry of the Rgichstag.
1 Schwerdtfeger's report.
¥Memorandum of 27 July 1919,
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would bg pillaged- and a state of .famine would
result.

The troops in the interior of the country had
almost all gone over to the revolution. Ewen
those who were regarded as absolutely sound had
succumbed to the contagion. Ewven‘the army at
the front showed some signs of the dry-rot of
disintegration. Thousards of stragglers ahd in-
numerable deserters were storming trains a% Liége
and Namur. One division, which was con-
sidered a‘torps d'élire, whose duty was to cover the
rear of G.H.Q. against the insurgents from
Cologne and Aix-la-Chapelle, refused to obey its
officers and, despite their orders, set out for home.
It became hecessary to dismiss the Landsturm
troops occupying the district of Aix-li-Chapelle,
otherwise they wouldshave dismissed themselves,
The army was no longer to be relied on. The
troops would not fire’ upon their comrades in
uniform or on their fellow-countrymen. It was,
impossible to march on Berlir' at the head of the
aroops or to make shem right-abour-face for the
purpose of restoring order in Cjermany.

It would have been extremely difficult to find,-
concentrate and employ trustworthy regiments
when, from the North Sea to Switzerland, the
armies were in contact with the enemy. On the
other hand, in Germany the troops might esily
find that they were engaged in serious ﬁghtinF.
It was to be expected that sericus battles would
take place on the line of the Rhine, and there were
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6oo kilometres between the Western front and
Berlin. Among the insurgents were well-trained
and well-armed troops occupying fortresses. To
attack such troops formations weuld be needed
stronger than any whichi, in the most favourable
circumstances, could be hurriedly groyped to-
gether. More munitions and equipment would
be ne{ded. The givil wdr would have to be waged
in addition to the war against the Allies, who
wéuld undoubtedly continue the pursuit. It was
unthinkable that the army should be drzgged into
a bloody struggle against the revolutionaries with
an implacable enemy at its heels, The army was
no longer in a condition to support such a burden.?
Von Plessen, who was thunderstruck by these
statement§ from G.H.Q., seemed to be not
properly clearcas to the situation. He under-
estimated the strength of the opposing forces and
counted on a spirit in the army which was no
longer existent there. His case was that in no
circumstangas couid ‘the .Emperor and the army
submit to ‘a handful of revolutionaries, a band ‘or
infamous sailors’] All the officers, he said, would
be severe in their condemnation of such weakness,?
Hindenburg and Groner maintained their, views
1 Crown Prinde Wilkelm: The Memoirs of the Crown Prince
::{G.frman!y. London, 1924.
According to von Plessen Marshal Hindenburg was disposed
to admit the justice of his arguments, but Gréner maintained
his view. On the other hand, the Memorandum of 27 July

1919, on which Hindenburg,collahorated with von Plessen,
makes Hindenburg agree with Gréner.
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‘while fylly appreciating yon Plessen’s senti-
ments’, “With a heavy heart’ the Marshal
associated himsglf ‘with the judgment which
General Groner had ‘based on a minute exam-
Jination of the situatioh. In existing circum-
stances ,po success could be expected and a
‘responsible adviser had to consider that complete
collapse was certain.’
#* * L]

Max of Baden did not know until much later’of
the interview between Hindenburg, Gréner and
von Plessen.  He thought it of capital importance.
The meeting had taken place about an hour after
the Prince's telephonic conversation with the
Emperor. At that time William Il was con-
vinced that the troops were sound, e¥en to the
extent of fighting for him agaiast the revolu-
tionaries, and Prince Max thought that the
Emperor's optimism was shared by G.H.Q.

During the night of 8—g9 November Colonel von,
Haefften, who represented 'G;H Qs at the Min-
15try of Foreign Affairs, had’ af fruitless conver-
sation with Groner from Berjin. During the
same night the Vice-Chancellor von Payer had
once ggain tried to gain the support of the Chief
Quartermaster-General, but had failed. ‘I got the
impression’, he said, ‘that Groner had now besn
forced to recognise the necessity of abdication,
but was not in a position to predict the Emperor’s
decisidn,’ As a matter of fact, the' Marshal -and
his chief subordinite had communicated their
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views to von Plesser, and their views were con-
trary to those of the Monarch. But they did not
communicate them to Williaqm II until the
following morning. ‘It will always remain a
mystery to,me’, writes Prince Max, ‘what induced,
the Suprenie Command to let the night pass
without giving the slarm. The Kaiser ought at
orce §o have been told—ithout regard for his
sleep~(-that his refusal to abdicate was based, on
fake premises. The men in Spa were well aware
of the desperate situation of the Government,
For the last twelve hours, almost without inter-
mission, they had been getting alarm signals
from us with the burden: “We can hold up the
Revolution to-ddy—but not to-morréw.”’

‘The Emperor’s most devoted adherents, such as
Niemann, were violent in their reproaches of
the Chref Quartermaster-General for not having
warneq the Sovereign eatlier, by infovining him
that G.H.Q. was abandoning the principles which
it had violently ratinimec%' on 1 November to
Drews, and solimmly on & November in thie
Manifesto t thd troops on the syestern front.
*Sincerity in this matter wauld have been a manly
act,”

As a matter of fact, after his return from Berlin,
(GGeneral Groner had painted the situation in the
darkest possible colpurs, 'He spoke of the
extremely bad impression he hac{}0 received in
Berlin, The revolution was upon us. ... The
people wished for peace at any price. The
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Government’s authority was non-existent. The
campaign against the Empetor was in full swing
and abdication was wellnigh inevitable. The
troops in the intéricr could not be relied upon.
.+. The men returned from leave had already,
contaminated the army. They would refuse to
fight aguinst the insurgents. . . . The army was
no longer to be relied, upon and the country was
face to face with revolution.’

"The above report, which is recorded by Willizm
11 himself in his Memoirs, would ppear to show
that the Kaiser had been given clear information
by his Chief Quartermaster-General. It was the
Emperor’s business to understand that abdication
was necessary; and in General Groner's view it
was the business of other people to make him
understand it more clearly still.

The Emperor’s immediate entourage did. not
undertake the task. Von Payer wondered what
were the Zeal opinions of ‘those fellows’. ‘Have
they really -been able to persu}de themselves, in
=nite of everything, tha, after four years of war,
after such terrible sacrifices, afler sq gigantic a
defeat, after ail that has happened in Russia, the
Kaiser, with all his resfmnsigﬂil}' for the situation,
can continue to reign as if nothing had occurred
to change things? Or do they think that if his
refusal to abdicate involves revolution, the
officers, the nobility and the monarchists could
or would risk their lives to maintain him on the
throne? Or is it siraply that they have no ideas,
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no power of taking .a decision, and arf Simply
letg;g things take their course to their inevitable
endr’

As a matter of fact, the Kalser'did not decide to
abdicate until he had been unmistakably informed
that the soldiers would not follow him. There:
can be no doubt that this critical moment was
delayed by the scruples of Marshal Hindenburg,
w?‘mse,. loyalty to the Emperor kept him silent and
prevented him from intervening personally in'the
matter.
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CHAPTER 11
THE NINTH OF NOVEMBER AT SPA



I

The Conference in thé Faienoon—Griner versus Schulenburg—
The Crocon Pr:ﬁcf;—ﬂm’mr]f Heye's Communication—dAbdi-
cavion gf the Imperdal Throme, but ot of the Crowom of Prusiia.

THE Emperor was lodged at the Chitean de
la Fraincuse,! which in July 1920 was to be
the, headquarters of the Spa Reparation. Cop-
ference. During the first days after his arrival
he remaified in the Imperial train, pending pre-
parations for his reception at the delightful
chiteau, where panic was to link hands with
treason’.? Major Niemann was enthusiastic in
his descripfion of the harmonidus simplicity of
the place, the white well-proportiontd facade
ornamented with elegant colonnades, rising in a
single storey above a magnificent park. From the
marble efgrance hall, which was reached through
a peristyle, the yisitor passed into a large salon,
whose bow-windows afforded 7a melancholy out-
fdbk on to flower-beds faded dn+{'discoloured with
the tints of aytumn » To the left was the dining-
room, to the right a small sitting-room with an
adjacgnt room which was the ofhice of the aide-

' The property of M. Auguste FPeltzer, & prominent Helgian
manufacturer.
2 Niemann: Wanderwnges mit Rlairer Wilkelm II, Leipaig,
1924.
gﬂtnﬂ.m Prince Wilhelm: Tde Memoirsiof the Cromwn Prince
of Germany, London, 1924.
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de-camp on duty. Srom the entrance’ hall on
the ground floor a large staircase led to the first
floor where were the Emperbr’s apartments,

Early in the morning of g November, William
Il read the telegrams from Berlin which were
forwarded t6 him by Groner.! He putamarginal
note (probably the dast of his reign) on Prince
Max's message, a note Whith shows that he paid
no great attention to his Chancellor. Agaihst the
lzit sentence of the telegram, ‘The Empire will
thus find itsel® without a Chancellor, avithout a
Government, without any compact Parliamentary
Majority, utterly incapable of negotidting,’ the
Kaiser wrote: ‘This is what has happened
already.”? He was full of contempt for ‘the
miserablecembarrassment of a Government which
has no imitiative, strength or will to survive, and
which simply lets events take their course’.?

The Emperor was not zlone in being-disturbed
by the telegrams from Berlin, Griinan had gone

'In his Memoirs Willlum 11 summarises as follows the rtale
grams, of the contents of which he wasinformed on g November:
“The Chancellbr informed me, as he had already informed me
on 7 November, that the SocialuDemocrats, even the Social
Democratic Secretaries of State, were demanding my abdication.
This view was pow shaged by the other members of the Govern-
ment who had hitherto been opposed to it, and also in the Reich-
stzg by the Parties composing the parlizmentary majority.
The Chancellor begged me to abdicate at once, otherwise it was
to be expected there would be sericus street fighting in Berlin, und
bloddshed. Such fifhting had already begun on a smill scale.’

® Hintze's Noses, ' % Memsirr of William 11,
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to see Hintze, and the two iplomats, who were
seriously alarmed by, the repeated telephone calls
of the Chancelloy during t e night, went to see
Hindenburg and Griner, who read the telegrams.
The soldiers repested tosthe diplomats, what they
had said, to von Plessen the previous evening.
‘There could be no question of undertaking a
campaign against ‘thé home front'. There was
no doubt that the army could do nothing Jgainst
the revolution and they would tell the Emperor so.!

A little Jater Niemann came to sée Groner. ‘In
terms reserved and almost taciturn’ the Chief
Quartermaster-General pointed out the danger
to the army and to the sudgpiics of the army as
a result of the progress of the revolutionarpmove-
ment., Niemann asked whether the Kdiser knew
to what extent the evil had spread. Groner
replied that in a few hours there would be no
doubt on the matter, Various officers from the
front had come to Spa to give an account of the
moral of the army, and.the result of the enquiry
would be communicated to the Kaiser. Niemann

1'The decision, dbserves Niemann, was therefore taken before
the views of the officers from the front (sec Chapter IV, pp.
zrg—230) had heen heard. According to Nowak (Chasr,
Munich, 1922), Groner told the diplemats that even before
hearing the evidence of these officers he could assure them that
the army would not follow the Emperor. Like Niempnf,
Schulenburg reproaches Gréner for not having waited for the
opinions for which he had asked the officers from the front, It
is probable.that the swift march of eveits and the repeated
telephone calls from Berlifi hastened Groner’s decision.
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was then recalled by telephone to the Chateau
de la Fraineuse.

Niemann had been no more than three months
in the persqnal service of ithe Emperor, after
serving on various staffs,;servieg which had taken
him to all the fronts, to G.H.Q. and even, to the
Embassy at Constantinople as military attache
As a member of the staff of the army group com-
manddi by Duke Albrecht of Wurtemberg he had
in July 1918, after the failure of the offensive in
Champagne, drawn up a report on the general
situation which had attracted the attention of
Ludendorff.t Several days later he was appointed
the representative of G.H.(Q). attached to the
Emperpr.?

1At Avesnet on 1 Auvgust 1918, Ludendorff had reproached
Hienfann for having, in his report, contemplated concessions to
the enemy. Such concessions would be dangerous, especially
as regards England (Niemann, & giser and Recofution). Despite
his failures in July, Ludendorf was thereforectill full of aptimism.
Thus, on the same day, von Radowitz wrote from G.H.(. to
the Vice-Chancellor von PFayer that Ludenderff hoped 1o be
soon ‘in & position to unﬁﬂtﬁkﬂ further offensives’. Before tlie
Commirttee of Enquiry of the Reichetag, Professor Delbriick
reproached Lulendorff with having shown<his duplicity in
allowing himsell to be represented by men of comparatively
moderate views, such as Major Niemann, with the Emperor
after August 198, and, Colonel von Haefften, at the Foreign
Office after July 1916.

£Njemann’s chief business was to keep the Emperor informed
of the military sitwation. Id" his report before the Committee
of Enquiry of the Reichstag, Colonel Schwerdtfeger proved that
G.H:Q. had given Niemann the fullest documentary aud other
information.
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When Niemann: arrived at La, Fraincuse, he
found the Kaiser preparing to set out for a morn-
ing walk, ‘his face grave but with no trace of
nervous agitatipn’. William II left the chiteau
and told the guagd that, he would remain in the
neighbourhood in order that he might'be informed
if the Marshal asked for hiin.

The morning of 9 November was cold and fagay.
A thick mist lay all around La Fraineuse. ‘Rain-
drops were falling gently from the trees togetner
with the last leaves of autumn ‘which the rain
had brought down.” Niemann thought that this
atmosnhere had a reviving effect on the Emperor,
but the Crown Prince, who arrived at Spa aboiit
midday ii? a motor-car from the province of
Namur, arrived ‘perished with cold and with his
limbs completely benpmbed’

The Emperor spoke of the outbreak.of Bol-
shevism which had already spread over Austria-
Hungary and was about to extend to Germany.,
From the final telegtam of Mrx of Baden,
ainnouncing the deposition of German Kings and
Grand Dukes, Nieniann had drawn the conclusion
that the revolution was directed not against the
person of the Emperor, but against the social
order as a whole. [t is possible that William II
reasoned on similar lines. In any case, his con-
versation with Niemann was on the subject of
Bolshevism. ‘In face of a peril which threatens
the whole of Europe it would Le absurd to con-
tinue the war, Such mania must be confronted
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by solid ramparts.” £t is to be hoped that the
enemy will ultimately see the danger to the whole
of Luropean civilisation if Germany is delivered
over to Bolshevism.'

Niemann agreed entirely with the views of the
Emperor, ¥hose imagination was already launch-
ing him at the head of a crusade against the red
pegil; but he was still trolibled by the information
given thim by thé Chief Quartermaster-General,
and he ventured to allude to it. In order to
subdue Bolshcvism the army must i the first
instance subdue the revolutionary movement in
Germany and extinguish by force the revblutionary
fires lighted by the sailors. Unfortunately, the
army would appear to be dangerously.threatened
by the insurrection in the Rhenish cities.

Still carried away by his dream of an opportune
truce, the Emperor contented himself by replying,
“We will overcome all these difficulties by swift
military action.’ This was the language which
he had held the evening before in his conversation
with the Chancellor. He beljeved what it wasde
his interest to believe, but it was not long before his
hopes were to be rudely shaken. A doldier on duty
ran up to announce that thé Marshal had arrived,
and the Emperor icrurned to La Fraineuse.

» .

Plessen and Marschall were already at La
Fraincuse together with General Count Friedrich
von, der Schulenburg, ex-Chief of Staff of the
Corps de Garde, who hid been for the last two
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years ‘Chief of Staff of thé Crown Prince's army
group. Whenever Schulenburg’s name occurs in
the reports or memdirs of persons who had deal-
ings with him duriag the war, it is mentioned
with praise. Heswas only about fifty years of
age. Ludendorft extold the clear iitellect and
aytraordinary energy of this jreliable colleague’ in
whom he had full confidence.?

So too Baron von Eckhardstéin, who knew him
between 1go2 and 1906, when military attaché/in
London,, attributes to him the.easy tact of a
diplomatist who was both a courtier and a man
of the world, and the long-sighted adaptability of
a politician.* Finally, the Crown Prince, with
whom he:was on the best of terms, alludes to
the breadth of his culture, the tirelesshess of
his enthusiasm, and the absolute purity of his
character, and sums Kim up as a true gentleman
of the old Prussian school.?

On 9 November old Prussia was to' find a
champion in Schulenburg. .He had just reached
Spainsomewhat mysterious circumstances, having
been summoned there by telephone during the
night. ‘Thefeasons for the invitation were never
given; neither was thie name of the person from
1 Ludendorf: Meine Erirg;:ﬁnwmn&m, rorg-rgr8, Berlin,

1g1g. English Edition: My IFar Mewories, rorg-ig18, Lon-
don, 1920, ]
¥ After the war Schulenburg become a member of the National
Party in the Reichstag.
¥ Meixz Erinnerungen an Dentichlands *Heldenkarmpf, Berlin,
1923.
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whom the order emanated.’! A Accompanied by
three officers,® Schulgnburg set out at once. He
arrived about 8.30 a.m. at the Hotel Britannique,
the seat of G.H.Q., hnd prpceéded immediately
to the Operations Bureau on the*first floor. On
the staircase he ran into Colonel Heye, ‘who
appeared most astopished and even somewhag
taken aback to see him'.3- After a short interview
with Heye he turnéd to his companions and said:
‘Nobody” here is overpleased to sece us. We
seem to have stumbled right into something which
is no business of ours.’

Like Colonel Heye, Groner, and <even the
Marshal, seemed surprised and somewhat dis-
turbed to find that the Crown Prince’s Chief of
Staff was,with the Emperor. "There was a
definite object in his presence.’* It is tempting

1 According to the anonymous memorandum reproduced by
the Crown Prince in his Erfnpersnzen, it wos Major von Stilp-
nagel, who would appear to have put through the eall at Spa,
The message was received at the Crown Prince's headquarters
by Major von Bock. Accordin to General von Eisenbagl-
Rothe (Der Kaiser am g Novesrber, Bétlin, 1922), Schulenburg
was involved incthe events at Spa on g November mercely as the
result of a chance visit to G.H.Q).

20ne of whom was the author of the memorandum quoted
by the Crawn Prinece, sp. cir.

2 Crown Prince Wilhelm: Tie Memoirs of the Cromn Prince
ofeGermany, London, 1922,

& Nbwak: Schulenburg's presence was so astonishing that Hintze
wrote in his notes: ‘His Imperial Highness the Crown Prince
arrived in company with General Count Schulenburgd  Simi-
larly, William 11 writes in his"Memeirn: *The Crown Prince
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to believe that Schulenburfrvhad been summoned
by some person in the immediaté entourage of
the Emperor, who ¢ounted upon the fervour of
his loyalty and the ardou! of his monarchist
sentiments to sustiin or rekindle the enthusiasm
of the Sovereign. As early as Augustsig16, when
the question of substituting Hindenburg for
Falsenhayn at G.H.Q. was under discussion, von
Plessen had sought Schulenbutg's advice.t

I the dining-room of the Hotel Britannighe
Schulenbyrg met Plessen and Marschall, who
wore a troubled air. They told Schulenburg that
Hindenburg and Groner were about to explain
to the Emperor the necessity of abdication.
‘You have.all gone mad here,’ cried the general.
“The army is with the Emperor.” He denounced
the spirit of despair, ‘almost of lunacy’, prevalent
at Spa.? Plessen and’ Marschall then conducted
Schulenburg to the conference which had been con-

came with hiz Chief of Staff, Count Schulenburg.’ It will be
geen that, to explain Schulenburg’s presence,’it was necessary
to suppose that he had sccompanied his immediate chief, the
Crown Prince. In reality, he came independently of the Crown
Prince. There can be no doubt on this point. The question
who summeoned him must remain a mystery,. In his Memoranda
ol 7 Lecember 1918 and 26 August 1919 Schulenburg assigns
no motive for his journcy. *

* Max Bauer: Der grosse Krieg in Feld und Heimat . |
Ttbingen, 1921,

* 8o too one of the officers accompanying Schulenburg stated
that the members of G.H.Q. with whori he was eble to Jave
speech, scemed to him ‘porplexed, not to say distracted”.
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vened in the Sovereigh's presence.  They seemed
to regain confidence as they talked with the Count.?
The conference with the Emperor began in a
dramatic fashion, which is gonfirmed by all wit-
nesses. With profound ematich, Hindenburg
spoke first;«and, ‘in a voice choked with sorrow’,
begged the Emperer to accept his resignation.
As a Prussian officer he could not tell his King
w}ﬁl*&t he was now ‘forced to tell him. He found
itYincredibly hard to have to advise His Majésty
against a scheme which in his heart he warmly
approved, but the execution of which he must,
atter profound consideration, declare impossible.
Greneral Gréner was to speak next; as an officer
of the army of Wurtemberg he could uss language
which was forbidden to a grmsian officer.* This
svag a good beginning! The Emperor blenched
visibly. Wash%m to be abandoned by ‘the man
who, both to him, the Emperor, and to the
people, represented, the supremé authority, and
to whom he the Emperor, had subordinated
himself’?* The Emperor walked to the fireplaces
where a log-fire was burning, and stood with his
back to it, shivering slightly. ‘Lét us look into
the matter first,'® he murmured, and with a
gesture he invited Groner to speak.

1 Crown Prince Wilhelm: Te Memsirs of the Crown Prince
of Germany, London, 1g22.

? Memorandum of 27 Julf* 1914, 3 Niemann.

4 Crown Prince Wilhelm: T'e iffmfr: of the Crows Prince
¢f Germany, London} 1922,

5This js what Schulenburg repofts him as saying, in his
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The Chief Quartermaster-Genera] explained the
situation at some length. A military operation
against the interigr of Germpny was, he said, im-
practicable,* 'The situation of the army was des-
perate, Germany swas in the power of the revolu-
tion. Certain of the trli’bps in the indrior of the
cruntry had gone over to tho rebels in States the
most widely separatetl. The railways, the tele-
graphs, the bridge-heads of the Rhine, and the
supply depfits were in the possession of revoiu-
tionary bedies. ‘These were already in occupation
of Aix-la-Chapelle and Verviers.® At Berlin civil

Memoranda of 7 December 1918 and 26 August 1919, pub-
lithed as an appeadiz to Niemann's Revolution von Ofen . ..
According tothe Memoranda of 6 April 1919 and 27 July 1919,
‘His Majesty reserved the final decision for himsslf,”

1 This is all he is reported as having said in the Memorandum
of 2z July 1919. The demils which folldv in the text are
given by Schulenburg in his Memorandum of 7 December 1918,
In The Memoirs of the Crown Prince of Germany, Londgn, 1922,
the Crown Prince Wilhelm summarises Gréner’s statements
in a similar fashion. Of course, all_the various memoirs and

. . . ¥y
memoranda without exception give the spirit and not the
letter of the various spedches, which they report in different
words,

* As regards the “insurgenty of Verviers', Lieut. von Schwerin,
wehn, was at Spa with the Rohr Bartalion, narrates that on
¥ November newswas received of revolutionary outbreaks among
the troops on the lines of communication. “Three trains filled
with armed mutineers were at Verviers station, with the red fizg
at the carriage doors and ready to march on Spa.’ He slates
that the accuracy of this information has been denijed. Von
Schwerka’s Memaorandum is published as 2n annex to Niemann,
Regolution von Olen
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war might break out any moment. The army
was provisioned for a few days only, and a disaster
through sheer starvation was fo be expected if
the insurgents cut, off supplies—which they
would certainly do.! If was ympossible to place
any furtheér reliance in‘the army. In these cir-
cumstances, it wastuttgrly impossible to right-
about-face in good ﬂrdEzr, in face of an enemy
who would afterwards be on the heels of the army,
in order to make a march of several weeks’
duration on Berlin, with the accompaniment of
civil war. This was the view not only of the
Marshal and of the Chief Quartermastér-General,
but of all the heads of departments at G.H.Q.,,
of the, Director-General of Supplies and of the
Chief of the Field Railway Service.* The army
waé no longer in a condition to fight and was
anxious above all for some rest. An armistice
must be accepted on no*matter what terms, and
it must be concluded as soon as possible.?
G.H.Q. was,not in a position to withdraw from
the front the divisions which were capable of figlit-

1 According t& his Memoirs this was the chicfimpression which
the Kaiser received from Griner's statement. “The army had
provisions for no more than six days or o week, and +hr in-
surgents, who were in occupation of all the'supply depéits and
the bridze-heads of the Rhine,were in a position to cut off its
sEpplies.’ -.

2 (réner’s statement up i here was reproduced in this form
by Schulenburg in his Memorandum of 7 December 1918,
What follows comes"from other sources.

3 Mermoirs of William 11
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ing. A general débicle might well follow. There
WEere no maore rES-EWf}IS,l

‘Despite a certain considered reticence, the
general effect of Griner’s statement was to make
it necessary for thg Emperor to abdicate without:
uttering 3 word in self-defence.’®* The Crown
Prince, who was much annoydd by the statement,
violently attacks Groher in his Memoirs, and
represehts this future Minister of the Republica
the evil genius of Spa, wellnigh as a traitor, L‘m:{i
endorff’s successor was ‘inaccessible to those con-
siderations of decency which a few moments before
had prevented the old Marshal from speaking.. . .
Roughly and brusquely he swept away the most
ancient and honourable traditions and thoughtof
nothing but of goingstraight tohisgoalai.d deliver-
ing the blow which it was his mission fo deliver.’

It is probable that Groner, as a Wurtemberger,
had not fallen under the old Prussian tradition
which makes of the monarch wellnigh a divine
being. Butthe Crown Prince himself admits that
the- %hiﬂf Quartermaster-General’s opinion was
that not only of Hindenburg, who approved it in
silence, but of almost 2ll the heads of army groups
and of the majority of the representatives of
'G.H.Q). Whythen reproach Groner, for having
said what all these responsible chiefs thought?

Groner's ‘terrifying’ communication had a pro-

1 Nowak : Tihe Collapse of Central Eurspe, London, 1924.

2 CrowntPrince Wilkelm : The Memoirs 6 the Crown Prince
of Germany, London, 1g227
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found effect upon the Emperor, who stood speech-
less with perplexity; prostrated by consternation
and absorll: d in his own reflections, in the midst
of a gloomy silences A movement by Schulen-
burg made to catch the Emperor’s eye aroused
William from his stupor, and he asked the Count
to give his views.

Bchulenburg did, not share Groner's unqualified

pessimism. %-Ic thaught that the statements of
thc Chicf Quartermaster-General did not give
an altogether correct view of the situation. The
troops were showing the utmost heroism in
stubbornly resisting the enemy’s advance, and they
were well under the control of their leaders.
True, they were at the moment exhausted, and
their one aesire was for rest.  If an armistice were
once concluded, it would be most difficult to
induce.them to continue the struggle apgainst the
enemy. But if they werfe given some breathing
space, ‘time to sleep and delouse themselves’, if
they could cecuperate jn good qudrters, their
demoralisation would soon disappear. In a week
or ten days sufficient forces® wanld be available.
These troops could then be told how they had
been disgracefully betrayed by the navy and.how
their food supplies were threatenéd by a crowd
of Jews,* war profiteers, slackers and deserters.

1 Schulenburg’s speech is fummarized frem his two Memor-
anda of 7 December 1918 and 26 August 191g. It should
be hoted that the sécond memorandum makes no niention of
the Jews.
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There was no question of' thaking the whole
army about-face in cyder to.march on Germany
and extinguish the revolution. That would be
an impracticable nier?.tinn, hut it was not ncces-
sary. Why not’ ghoose certain nodal points at
which fo take action againhst the rebeld  Instead
of capitulating without  stiuggle, they should
deal with the situation’in the spirit of unyielding
firmnest which it demanded. *Why not begin by
sending picked troops to Verviers, Aix-la-Chapelie
and Cologne, all with the most mod4rn equipment,
smoke bombs, gas, bombing squadrons and
flammenwerfer? . .. They would be able to
restore order.’

On a further point, the supplies of the army
would hold out for several days. 'Ysu are in
occupation of fertile Belgium, which at necessity
can supply us for at least a week., The Bolshevists
have not yet cut off our supplies. It remains to
be seen whether they will dare to do so. If an
appeal were addressed to the country.it would rise
as one man to free, itself from the disgrace of
starving its beloved*army which has undergone
such sufferings.’

The ideal plan was to restore order city by city
and by force of arms. There could be no doubt
that in such an operation the army would support
the Emperor. IF;. this way civil war would be
avoided.

Much, encouraged, the Empevor immediately
agreed with Schulenburg’s view, and seemed to

95



THE FALL OF THE KAISER

recover some.of His vitality. FHe did not want
civil war, but good troops should immediately be
sent to recapture Verviers, Aix-la-Chapelle and
Cologne.?

General von Plessen hastened to express the same
view. ‘His Majesty cannot purely and-simply
capitulate to the revoluton. Everything must be
done to restore order. The expeditions against
Verviers, Aix-la-Chapelle and Cologne shiould be
put in hand at once.'?

A somewhat: long discussion then took place.
Groner maintained his view and pointed out the
dangers of Schulenburg’s proposal. The revelu-
tion was much too far advanced to allow of such
operations. The insurgents had already created
an organisation which would preclude the success
of an offensive. They would cut off supplies.
The army could not be counted upon and would
not follow the Emperor. At Verviers there had
already been an unfortunate check, with troops
who were thought to be sound. ‘Sire, you have
no longer an army.’

Schulenbyrg contradicted Gréner, and on behalf
of the Generals of his army group gave an assur-
ance that the army was 51;1]%7 loyal. It could no
longer continue the war against ‘the enemy, but
it could perfectly well restore order district by
district, and reconquer the country in good order

1 Schulenburg’s Memoranda,

! Memorandum of 6 April 1919, drawn up by* Plessen,
Marschall and Schulenburg.
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under the leadership of the Emperor,? Neither
officers nor soldiers whuld disgrace themselves by
deserting their Sovereign.

During this exchange of views, the Emperor had
remained quiet. He now showed traces of ner-
wvous eycitement, There» was an obelous gulf
between the opinions of Schulanburg and Gréner.
How could the Chief Cuartermaster-General have
come tosadmit so disastrous a depreciation in the
mordl of his troops? Surely he had questioned
the army chiefs in a matter of such exceptional
importance? Count Schulenburg was opposed to
General Griiner's views.

The Chief Quartermaster-General confined him-
self to replying: *My information 1s different.’
The Crown Prince wonders what this ‘other infor-
mation’ could have been, and who had supplied
Groner with it. The Emperor, whose irritation
was noted by Niemann, -then turned on Gréner,
‘his eyes blazing” with anger’, and said coldly: ‘1
must request that you confirm your statement in

1 The Memorandum of 27 April 1919 coutrins at this point
an interesting detail Contrary to what the Crpwn Prince's
Chief of Staff thought and stated, among the officers of his army
group who were interrogated at Spa in the morning of g Novem-
ber, not one believed it possible for the Emperor to reconquer
the country at the head of his troops, ana four give ambiguous
answers, 1 his may perhaps be some proof of Schulenburg's
self-deception; a chivalrous self-dezeption, but sclfdecepton
mane the less.

® Memopanda of Schulenburg, and Mesiirs of the Crewn
Prince.
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writing, but first of all interrogate all the army
commanders.

After this natural revolt of disappointed hope,
William II sought for a “compromise. He
repeated that he did not wWish to provoke a civil
war, and*that he would make no such demand
on the army; butche ipersisted in his desire to
lpad his army back into Germany in good order
after the conclusion of the armistice.!

At this point, seeing the necessity of speiking
clearly, Gréner once more intervened, in the dis-
cussion with the object of putting an end to it.
“The army’, he said, *will re-enter Germany as an
organised force under the orders of its Generals,
but not under those of Your Majesty. The army
is no lopger with Your Majesty.”s ‘He spoke’,
writes the Crown Prince, ‘as if any further dis-
cussion was useless in ¥iew of the programme
which he himself had imposed on the conference.’
There was no further possibility of temporising.
Schulenbmﬁ protested warmiy and with deep
emotion. He repeated at the top of his voice that
the army would follow the Emperor if it was a
question &f reconquering the”country, Neither
the officers nor the soldiers would so disgrace
themselves as to desert their Emperor and’ King
in the face of the enemy.

b Memoranda of Schulenburg and Memorandom of 6 April
1919.

® According to al] witnesses this was Groner's actual statement
word for word. It is reporfed in all the memorarda on the

subject,
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Yielding to Schulenburg’s irsistgnce, Hinden-
burg then spoke. Degpite hig sorrow the Marshal
maintained his 1::11;‘11 and, as always, endeavoured
to be conciliatory. The sentiments znd general
principles expressed by Count Schulenburg must,,
he said, be shared by every Prussin officer.
Unfortunately, the disastrpus news which G.H.Q,
had received from the Interior and from the army
showed; all of it, the impossibility of copin
successfully with the revolutionary mmrcmcng
He could, no more than his Chief Quartermaster-
General, take from now on any responsibility, in
view of allsthe circumstances, for the loyalty of
the army.!

Not knowing what attitude to adopt, the
Emperor adjourned the meeting, which had
lasted three-quarters of an hour. He was, ‘or
appeared to be, resigied. ‘Interrogate all the
army commanders as to the moral of the army,
If they tell me that the army is no longer with me
I am ready to go} but not before.’* With these
wozds his brow contgacted: ‘In all his struggles of
the last few days against his Ministers and the
growing agitatiofi of public opinion, tHe Emperor

1 Memoranda of Schulenburg. According to the Memorandum
of 6 April 1919, which is the only one to mention this further
speech, Groner edded that all the heads of Jepartmenis at

.H.Q. shared the view expressed by the Marshal,

3 Memoranda of Schulefiburg. Momorandum of 6 April 1919,
These army commanders are clearly the officers who had been
convenedsat Spa and whom Colonel Heye Was then interrogat-
ing. See Chapter IV, pp.214-230.
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had always been fustained b his firm and proud
belief in the loyalty, of his isoldiers. It appeared
that this too was no more than the illusion of a

dream.?

The Emperor proceeded at ence into the garden
of the chiteau. It wasinow about eleven p'clock.

The memorandurh piblished on 27 July 1919
by the protagonists in thé drama, Hindenburg,
Dlessen, Marschall, Schulenburg and vHintze,
states that during the morning conference the
question of ahdication was not touched upon. It
was not until the end of this conference that the
first request for abdication arrived from Berlin; 2
after that the requests for abdication followed one
another with such insistence that the conference
had to be adjourned.® It is probable that there

1 Njemann.,

2 Wahnschaffe, the Uder-Secrdtary of State at the Chaneellery,
has pointed out that the Chargellery had transmitted to Spa a
request' not for ebdication, but for the aanouncement of the
decision already taken by G.H.Q. on the subject of abdication.
He recalls the fact that; on his arrival at Spa, Schulenburg
learned from Plessen and Marschsll that Hindenburgsadd
Graner were going to explain to the Emperor the necessity
for abdicatiof. Furthermore, sccording’ w Schulenburg’s first
memorandum, Groner and Hindenburg formally stated at the
conference that gbdication was inevitable, (Desssehe Allpe-
meine Zeitung, 16 Avgust 1919) Maxr of Baden made the
same ohzervations as Wahnschaffe in an article in the Frondfurrer
Zeloung on g Augugt 1919, which followed shortly on the publi-
caton of the Memoranduni of 27 July.

 Wahnschaffe, at Berlin, had engaged in a rcgular duel over
the telephone with Admiral von Hintze at Spa; for the varying
fortunes of this duel, see Chapter I11, pp. 180-198.
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was no formal questipn of abdicatisn during the
military conference; but althqugh the subject was
not spoken of it was in everyone's mind. All
evidence showed, the impossibility of struggling
against the revolution, and this impossibility was
emcrhﬂﬂseﬂ by G.H.Q. E-‘_.;tch}impﬂssibxl‘i meant
and logically involved aldication. Schulenburg
was right in observing that: *‘The content of the
statement submitted by G.H.Q. on the morning cf
9 November was equivalent to the necessity of
abdication. For the Emperor thereswere only two
alternatives, either to restore order at the head of
the army, of to bow to the revolution and abdicate.’

L = *

In the garden of La Fraineuse the Emperor was
accompanied by the Marshal and his generals;
from time to time Hinfze and Grunau appeared
with the latest news from Berlin, “The discus-
sion continued in the form of conversations
between His Majesty and .various groups of
perzans, and betweensvarious groups among them-
selves." ! William IT walked to and fro in the
garden ‘followed by all his generals, but most
often with the Marshdl'* He was entirely self-
controlled, and discussed and argued at length,
halting abruptly sometimes, the betler to con-
vince his interlocutors, or to develop his own

! Memorandum of 27 July 1919, and Scjond Memorandum
of Schulenburg.
® Hintze,
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arguments.! Among the ydrious groups there
was much shaking: of hedds, and the general
atmosphere was on¢ of despontency.® Groner's
statement liad made a profound impression upon
all; and cJearly also upon the Emperor. ‘He was
obviously undecided; His general demeantur was
that of melancholy resignation, and betrayed that
hic had realised the possibility of abdication, and
{rould steel himself to this hard decisiod.'? He
was deeply moved by the news telephoned from
Berlin, and seemed resolved to sacrifite his own
person in order to avoid civil war.

. For a few moments Griinau was alone with him,
He seized the opportumity to carry out the
missien with which he had been entrusted by the
Chancelléry on the previous, evening. ‘In the
view of the wesponsible military chiefs,” ran his
message, ‘abdication was now the only possibility.
The Emperor could not allow civil war to break
out after four long years of war and privations,
on the very eve of the Armistice, In such a case
the entire responsibility wocld fall on him. He
would stapd accused of having.in his selfishness
caused the ruin of his country. On the other
hand, if he were now to withdraw, the people
would be gratefil to him for what he had done;
they would honour the greatness of his resolution

! Crown Prince Wilkelin: Tde Memsirs of the Crown Privce
of Germany, Londan, 1922,
2 Niemann. 3 Griinau’s Report,
& First Memorandum of SchulenBurg.
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and his tragic fate) Such 2 sacrifice would not
be in vain in the interests of the principle of
monarchy and of the dynasty.’

In reply, the Empergr rejected any idea of civil
war. But he was donvinced that in existing cir-
cumstances his abdicatior)would lead fo the pro-
clamation of a2 Republici and that this would
render the Reich absolutely powerless, He gave
expressitn to his bitter feclings against the Demec)
cratic Government which had done nothing to
counteract® currents of thought directed against
the monarch and the monarchy. In spite of all
this, he hatl willingly agreed to all the schemes
of reform and to all the consequent changes of
personnel in the Government. But the Govern-
ment thus created had allowed itself to bz dragged
at the chariot wheels of the Social Democrats,
whose one watchword was ‘absolute power’.

In conclusion,.the Empgeror expressed his readi-
ness to abdicate if such was the will of the German
people. ‘He had reigned long enough’, he said,
{o see how thanklesa was a monarch’s task. He
had no intentiop nf tlinging to power, He had
done his duty in not leaving his post and in
refusing to desert his people and his army. It
was now up to others to show if they would do
better.' Griinau states that the Emperor wag
ready to draw the inevitablg political conclusichs
from Gréner's speech, and to abdicate at once.
But tho Kaiser was not for long” sére-d-1éte with
Griinau, and, as fdmiral von Tirpitz once
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remarked:® ‘It was necesspry to talk rére-d-réte
with the Emperor.  The presence of more than
one party to the conversation ws easily calculated
to divert his true personal judgments by Ela}?ing
upon the:urge, which was sd,strong in him, to
show himself in all thejphases of his character.’

The Emperor was theli rejoined by his generals,
who had in the meantime continued their conver-
sations. Plessen asserted that, in arriving at a
decision on the subject of abdication, it would
be necessary to make a clear distinction between
the question of the Imperial crown and that of
the royal throne of Prussia.

Schu{cnburg furiously supported von Plessen,
The Emperor would be wrong to recede from
his decision of the previous day, to restore order
at the head.of his troops. Groner had mis-
judged the situation. All experience at the front
showed for certain that® the army was with the
Monarch. In any case, the, Prussian troops
remained loyal to their King. They would not
desert him, and they would not understand” his
abdication ‘In any and every circumstance the
Emperor should remain King of Prussia. He
should gather his Prussians round him, and then
see what the Reich would dol If the Emperor’s
abdication ‘'was inevitable, the crown of Prussia
at least should be saved from the wreck. This
was a purely Prussian question which the Emperor
should settle with his Prussian Ministers-and his

1Von Tirpitz: My Memoirs, London, 1919.
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Prussian Chamberss Prussian offiters and soldiers
would not tolerate the a':.‘&&r:{"e which would follow
the disappearance of their King. If only for the
sake of his brave army, His Mgjesty should
remain King of Drussia.’

Himntzesasked Schulenburg whether the Prussian
troops were ready to fight for their King against
the people. After some hesitation, Schulenburg
replied in the negative. But he repeated his
view that the Emperor should remain King of
Prussia. \

The ambiguity thus evolved left the monarch
and his raost devoted adherents some particle of
hope. In Griinau's words it constituted ‘a wel-
come compromise’, William hastened to reassure
Plessen and Schylenburg. In any event he wopuld
remain King of® Prussia and, ag such, would,
not desert his army. The Marshal . entirely
approved and, threw dis whole weight jnto the
scale in favour, of Schulenburg. On the other
hand, Gréner stated—not, it appears before the
Einperor, but to Hindenburg and Schulenburg
—that a decision df this nature might have been
salutary a fortnight ago, but that now it was
too late; the course”of events had by now pre-
cluded any such possibility.

* »

During these discussiops, which began wbout
11.30 am., the Crown Prince arrived. On 8
November he had received, at*his Headquarters
! Griinau.
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at Waulsort, bn unexpectes. order from the
Emperor to present himself at Spa on the follow-
ing morning.® ‘Not 4 word in explanation of this
precipitate sammons!, I kngw that it boded no
d|’ Atthe Chiteau de la Fiaineuse, where he
arrived ‘shortly after micdday’, the Crown Prince
was received by von Gontard, the Court Marshal,
The Court Marshal was ‘careworn and serious
oft demeanour; to each question I put Kkim he
replied by raising his arms helplessly to the
skies—which was, after all, a most ecloquent
method of answering’. At ¢ a.m. he had been
called to the telephone by the Empress' and had
iffformed Potsdam that the Emperor was in good
health gnd that there was no change in the
situgtion sirce the previous day.* But for some
long time von, Gontard had taken a markedly
pessimistic view of the situation. On 29 Septem-
ber, when alone with Cofint Reedern, Secretary
1The Crown Prince’s Memoirs (The Memoirs of the Crown
Prince of Germany, Londong rg22) give a fairly detailed account
of the day of g November. It is commpn knowledge that thise
memoirs were written by Karl Rosner,san experienced novelist,
from notes and: peneral indications supplied by the Crown
Prince. Count Reventlow has expressed preat regret that a
Jewish journalist should have been entrested with the task of
expressing the viewsof g Prince of Aryan stock. The Crown
Prince’s narrativl is most dramatic. But, as the Frandfiirter
Zefery said on 6 May, 1922: 1t is no Lpght matter to lse a
throne which one’s family has cccepied for centuries. In the
circumstances, objectivity is hardly to be looked for in the

Crowh Prince’s story.
¢ Diary of Prince August Wilhelm,
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of State for Finante, he had confilled his gloomy
presentiments to him: the army was threatened
with a great cadastrophe; this was the view he
had brought away from ,G.H.QQ. When the

Minister replied.that peace would probably im-
volve'the loss for Germany of Alsace-Lorraine,
and of a portion of her Fastern provinces, the
Court Marshal had replied that this would havato
be putap with.! He saw complete disaster ahecdd.

Although bearing the title of General and having
had a career in the Army, von Gqntard, who had
belonged to the Court for twenty-two years, had
nothing &f the military man about him in his
essentially peace-time duties about the Palack.
A descendant of the architect of Frederick the
Great, this man, of fifty-seven, whowe naturally
sanguine temperiment and dark eyes were evi-
dence of the French dwigré in him,* was attached
body and soul, to the Kaiscr.

On being informed of the Crown Prince's.
arrival, Count Schulenburg ran up, ‘pale and
visibly a prey to dvep emotion’, and hastened to
advise him of recent developments. In his com-
pany, the Crown Prince procncdﬁd’ at once to
the garden, where the Emperor, ‘who was ges-
ticulating vidlently with his right hand’, was in
the midst of a group ‘of about %half a dozen

! Evidence of Count Reedern before the Committee of Enquiry
of the Reichstag, 20 December 1923,

*Kabi Rosner: Der Kinig, Weg und Wende, Startgadt and
Berlin, 1021, :
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L]

ersons in field grey’. ‘All these men were
visibly wilting under, the burden of a situation
which had now become untenable and without
solution. There they were, frozen in a silence
which said,more than words, while the Emperor
alone confinued to talk.... From infe to
time the Emperor’s ‘eyes sought the Marshal's,
who, without speaking, confined himself to agree-
infr by a nod. The Emperor also turnéd fre-
quently towards old General von Plessen as if
seeking for his approval.’

As soon as the Emperor saw his son he went
towards him and gave him his hand? Hardly
l¢aving him time to greet those present, he began
at once to explain the situation to him. ‘I was
struck by the change in him, His face was pale
-and thin, his features drawn. . . . It was pitiable
to see.’” The others drew aside a little, and
General.Groner went hastily back ta La Iraineuse.

According to his own expressions the Crown
Prince brought into +this ,atmosphere of politics
‘the simple mentality of 2 soldzer from the fromt’
He gave his views at once. ‘Seg what you gain
by widening the basis of Government? When the
process is complete you are shown the door.’! He
asked whether the,sailors had not ‘been already
‘stood up agafnsta wall'* He supported Schulen-
burg's plan with force and conviction.?

! Hintze,
EK.F. Nowak: T' dp!.’spx of Central Europe, Lundany'1924.
¥Von Plessen.

108



THE NINTH OF NOVEMBER AT S5PA

‘The Emperor informed him of the progress made
the revolution and of the triumph of the
orkers’ and Soldiers’ Councils. ‘His abdica-
tion as Emperor seemed to be increaSingly neces-
sary, and 1t was his intention to transfer the
supreme command of the German Army to
Marshal Hindenburg. The Crown Prince en-
deavoured to comfort his father and to show him
that afl was not yet lost. ‘If abdication 1s
Emperor vpas really inevitable, my father should
at least reinain indisputably King of Prussia.
“Obviously,” said the Emperor, and he said this
so naturaily, while looking me straight in the
‘es, that I thought I had already made consider-
able progress with him in obtaining this single
promise which he now gave me.’

The Crown Priiace was of opinion that come
what might his father should remain with the army.
He promised to accompany the Emperar, with
his own army group, in order to win back Ger-
many at its head when the.opportunity offered
itself, Probably these were words rather than
advice properly sp éalled.

At this moment General Gréner retutned accom-
panied by Colonel Heye. Itwasnotyetone o'clock.

* » »

Wilhelm Heye, who in 1926 wad to succeed
General von Seeckt at the head of the Gerihin
army, and to occupy his high position until his
retirement in 1930, was then forty-nine years of
age. He had been attached to various staffs on
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the Eastern trént with von Weyrsch's arniy, and
on the Western front with the army group under
the command of Duke Albrechtiof Wurtemberg,
before coming to G.H.Q. in September 1918,
where he gsucceeded Colonci Wetzell as Chief of
the Operdtions Bureau, combining wjth -these
duties the direction of various departments which
had, until then, been directly subordinate to the
Chief Quartermaster-General. The object of this
arrangement was to lighten the task of Ludendéorff,
whose health was likely to be endangerad by the
appalling amount of overwork to which he was
subjected. As early as the end of August 1918,
the Tsar FFerdinand of Bulgaria had mentioned to
the Kaiser the ‘nervy’ condition of Hindenburg's
augpotic agsistant.?

Niemann prauses Heye, who miad 'distinguished
himself, to an extraordinary degrec as a staff
officer’ for his outstandisg qualitics as ‘a soldier
and a man. Ludendorff praises the firmness of
his character and the clanty of his intelligence.
His attitude in November,calthough far less
harshly criticised than that of General Groner,
has been somewhat acridly discussed, in particular
by Colonel Bauer and Genetal Kabisch, and Heye
has seen fit to jusfify himself.?

Colonel Hirye's mission was to ask thirty-nine
otficers of high rank, commanding units at the
front, who had arrived at Spa on the morning of

1 Niemann: Kafsertund Revolution, Berlin, 1922.

2 Inan articlein the Dewirede Aulgemrine Zeitnng, No. 17, 1922,
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9 November, what was the attitudk bf the troops
to the Emperor and to Bolshevism. Could the
Emperor at the Jead of his troops ‘reconquer the
Fatherland by force of arms’?  'Would the troops
fight ‘the Bolshevists' on thé home front’? 1

When requested to report to the Emperor on
the results of his enquiry, Meye made his com-
munication ‘in his uSual sonorous tones'? An
armisticg, and an immediate armistice, was necci-
sary for the army, which would not fight against
the revolution in Germany under the orders of the
Emperor. ‘The troops remain?loyal to His
Majesty, but they are tired and indifferent and
want nothing except rest and peace. At the
present moment they would not march against
Germany, even with Your Majesty at thefr hes.l.
They would no march against Bolsheviem.
They want one thing"only—an armistice at the
earliest possible moment. For the conclusion of
an armistice every hour gained is of importance.’?
! For this meeting, see Chapter IV pp. 214-230.

! Hintze. N

¥ Memoranda of Schulepburg, and Memorandum of 27 July
1919. These memozanda give the number of officers who
replied in the aflivmative, in the negative, or ambiguously to the
questions pat them. The txact figures were not available until
a little after this.interview with the Emperor, since Colonel
Heye had been summoned to La Fraineifse before he had finished
the enquiry, Heye could mention only the replies given by the
officers whom he had had time to consult.  Since he had already
interrogated 75 per cent. of the officers present, he wasenritled

to be orace as to the conclusions which hd could draw from his
consultations,
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‘Colonel Héyk’s communicatién was mads in the
presence of all those who had met at the Chitesu
and were about His Majesty. A long silence
followed."*

In his enthusiasm for the Emperor, Schulenburg
was still otrong enough to break this terrible
silence. He contiiued his arpuments, The
trgops could be counted ‘upon if an excessive
efort were not demanded of them. ‘Ther would
remain loyal if all that was asked was that they
should return to Germany and restore order at
certain points! Faced with the direct question
whether. they would abandon their *War Lord’
and renounce their oath to their colours, there was
no doubt that they would support the Emperor.
Gertain cqrps had wavered, but the mass of the
troops was still disciplined @ind loyal to the
Monarch.

‘In reply, General Grorer merely shrugged his
shoulders 'and raised his upper lip with an expres-
sion of deep regret.’® 'Oath“to the colours?
War Lord? These are only words, an idea.
Groner has been violently:reproached by the
monarchists for this phrase. “1The monarchists
have endeavoured to percelve in it the mark of
an ultra-modern and wellnigh. revolutionary
spirit. Neyertheless, it did no more than express
dnopinion of a purely military nature. In a civil

1 Hintze.

*Crown Prince Wilhelm: The Memoirs of the Cremy Prinze
¢f Germazy, London, 1922,
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war the ocath of allegiance is not enough to main-
tain the loyalty u§ the troops to their Sovereign,

Schulenburg replied by reproachipg Gréner
with not knowing the spirit of the army, and with
not ‘having his fisler on its pulse’. In the cire
cumstinces, his words assumped the ndture of a
challenge. They werethe words of a general who,
from his experiences at the fighting front, was
speaking to one of his colleagues whom he con
sidered less as a captain in the ficld than as a
techniciar’and an organiser, Later, Schulenburg
was to recall the fact that Gréner came from the
Ukraine, that he had succeeded Ludendorff only
a few days previously—he had arrived at Spd
only on 30 October, Thus the Chief Quarter-
master-General oquld not know the troaps on tie’
Western front,  1h the trenches and under fire is
where one gets to know the moral of the army.
The favourite geading or the men is the Bible and
certain of the Psplms. Their high sentiments of
duty are coupled with a profound sense of religion.
Thearmy wﬁich fopfour and a half years has done
its duty, and is permeated with such a spirit,
would be incapable, even when foredone and
exhausted by battle, of breaking its ocath and
deserting its King.’

Thus the two army chiefs were at prips. One
bowed before the reality of facts; the other, with
the tenacity of his illusions which he pushed to a
wellnigh blind obstinacy, seemed the very ingar-
nation of old Prussim  I'wo worlds diametrically
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opposed wefe brought face to face;—two con-
ceptions between which the gulf was too great to
be bridged.” 1

The Emperor asked whether, without him, the
army would return ‘to Germany in good order.
Groner <aid, yes; Schulenburg, no» Colonel
Heye intervened to dissipate any vain imaginings.
‘I¢ is only under the command of its Generals
that the army will return in good ordet to the
Fatherland. TIrom this point of view the army
leaders have their troops well in handz If Your
Majesty wishés to march with them the troops
will ask nothing better and will besdelighted;
‘but the army will fight no more, either abroad or
at home.”®* Any appeal to arms would be an
Tilusion.

Against this argument Schdlenburg fought an
obstingte losing battle. “The army’, he said,
‘would not fight against an enemy within the
country, but His Majesty could well return to the
Fatherland at the head of his troops.” At this
point Admiral von Hintze ixtervened in the dis-
cussion. ‘This idea seemed fo me to bear no
relation to“the realities of the moment. 1 openly
declared before His Majesty, and before all
present, that Hig Majesty had no need of an
army in grder to take a walk., His Majesty
fietded an army which would fight for him.'

! Crown Prinee Wilhelm, Tde Memoirs of the Crown Prince

of Genmany, London, 1922,
¥ Memorandum of 27 July 1919.
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Schulenburg wad speaking sagain  when von
Hintze, who had departed for a space, returned
with a decisive *message from Berlin, It was
from the Chancellor and was an urgent request to
His Majesty to savé a ddsperate situation by
abdicating’. It was now 1.15 p.m.

*The Emperor’, writes the’ Crown Prince, ‘re-
ceived the news in dumb stolidity, his lips pinched
and bloedless, his face pale, as though he had ageti
in 2 moment by several years. Only those who
knew him: well, as I did, could judge of the effort
which he was making to master his emotion and
to allow ro sign of it to appear. When Hintze
had finished the Emperor made a slight movement
of his head and with his eyes sought the eyes of the
Marshal, as if he might find there some idid and
comfort in his misfortune. . .. The grand old
man, in deep emotion, ‘preserved an impenetrable
and helpless silence. . . The Emperor was now
alone. . .. My father's voice was distressingly
choked by his emotion when he briefly ordered
Hintze to telephore to the Chancellor.’

Though Hintzes language is less theatrical his
evidence is yet more moving.

“The Emperor rentained sunk in thought for
one or two moments. Then, without discussion
with me or anyone else, he ordered mg to transmit
his decision to Berlin, He would abdicato 4s
German Emperor, but not as King of Prussia.’

1Botks Schulenburg and the Crowid Prince note s this
detail.
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The Eriperior then proceeded to dictate on the
apot the tollowing message:

(1) That an armistice should at once be con-
cluded;

(2) That in order to save bloadshed (since there
was no cliance of success for a war in Germany),”
he would abdicate as German Emperor, but not
as King of Prussia, His Majesty would remain
hmg of Prussia in order to prevent the entire
disintegration of the army, which would be
deprived of its leaders owing to the siniultaneous
resignation of ‘its officers;

(3) That His Majest}r was opposcd to civil
War;

{4.) That His Majesty would order Marshal von
Hindenburg to take the commard of the German
Field Army, and would in all:probability himself
remain, with the Prussian troops.

Tt would appear that this message might have
been transmitted directly to Berlin, with the
omission probably of a superfluons and somewhat
disturbing sentence (‘since there was no chance of
success for a war in Germany’)  But in the case
of a docurdlent of such importance, Hintze was
uppasﬂd to an improvised téxt, and states that he

?ucated Gritnau, Marschall and Schulenburg to
help him ingdrafting a final text. It was essential,
he aid, to weigh and discuss the exact terms of
the message. Itis now a question whether Hintze
must bear the helvy responsibility for this decision,
which Max of Baden repiobates so strongly in his
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Memoirs. Schulenburg openly claims it.  In his
view, the docurjent could be communicated to
the Chancellor only after its approval and ratifica-
tion in good and due form by the Emperor.

Interrupted as it was by'incessant telephone
calls from Berlin, the drafting of this'act was a
laborious business. After the lapse of about half
or three-quarters of an hour it was submittedto
WiHianiﬂI, who signed it. Its terms were as
follows:

(1) His Majesty assents to the German Govern-
ment’s empowering the Armistice Commission,
now with the enemy, to conclude an agreemens
immediately, even before the armistice conditions
have become known here;

(2) To avoid blepdshed His Majesty is ready
to abdicate as German Kaiser, but nbt as King of
Prussia, His Majesty also desires to remain King

1 First Memerandum of Schulenburg. ‘I urged thet His
Majesty's decision should in the first instance be put in writing,
and that it should not botelephoned to the Chancellor until it
had been definitely approved and signed by His Majesty.
Upon which His Majesty instructed von Hintze, Generals von
Plessen and von Marschall gnd myself to drafe the declzration.’
Schulenburg makes no further mention of the matter in his
second Memorandum, but the Crown, Prince confirms the
version given in the first Memorandum. Amorg those invited
to help in the drafiing he also mentions von Plessen, of whoin
therc i3 no question in Hintze’s notes, and he makes no mention
of Grilnau who is mentioned by Hintze, Ijis true that Griinay
might b2 considered as Hintze's secretary.

% See Chapter 111, pp. 190-1g8.
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of Prussia ih orddr to prevent sthe army from
becoming leaderless and breakirg up, in' conse-
quence of (the resignation of the majority of
officers which would be simultaneous with such
abdication;

(3) His Majesty dpes not desire a civil whr;

(4) His Majesty, on abdication as German
Kaiser, will command Marshal von Hindenburg
to take over the supreme command of the:German
army, and will in August Person remain with the
Prussian troops. Further decisions %ould be
reserved for the Imperial Administrator [Licu-
tenant-General of the Empire];

“(5) The army commanders and the Supreme
Command are of the opinion that the abdication
of the German Kaiser and Supreme War Lord at
this moment will proveke the gravestconvulsions in
the army, and they can therefore no longer assume
responsibility for the armiy holding rogether,

(Signed) Wiruiam, LR.
G.H.Q., g November 1919,

A comparison of the above document with the
improvised'note which the Emperor dictated to
Hintze is of considerable interest.

The Armistice, it will be noted, should be con-
cluded at all costs, even before ite conditions are
knwn ‘here’, ie. at Spa, at G.H.Q. On the
same day, at 8 p.m., Lrzberger was to receive
from G.H.Q. a“wireless message in which, after
certain modifications of the. armistice conditions
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were asgked for, tht final sentence wee the follow-
ing shattering phrase: ‘If you do not succeed in
obtaining these modifications you muyst none the
less conclude an armistice.’ ! 'Wahnschaffe, at his
end of the telephonerin Beilin, was surprised to
hear ¢hat,such wide powers had been granted to
the Armistice Commission.*

The document as despatched mentions a Lisu-
tenant-General of the Empire (Imperial Admir-
istrdtor). As Willlam II remained King of
Prussia, the Reich would have had a Lieutenant-
General, just as Hindenburg was'to receive the
supreme sommand of the army of the Reich
instead of the Emperor. The question arises,
who would have been this Lieutenant-General?
Hintze had conceived the idea that the dame of
Prince Eitel Fritz, was being canvassed, and on
the previous evening fe had raised’ the question
with the Chancellor, who had given him no
definite reply. Max ‘of Baden had from time to
time had the hope that he might save the mon-
archy if he himself became Lieutenant-General of
the Reich. William II had come to dislike
Prince Max intensely; but it would still have
been possible for hinz to agree to the appointment.
He did not, however, have to do so.

It will be noted that the Kaiser's message threw
the full responsibility for abdication upon-stae

! Erzberger, Erhebnisse im Welthrieg, Stuugart, 1920.

1 was unaware that the Emperor had’ been asked to gramt
such wide powers.’
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Chancellpr. The ;essential difference between
the mesaaFe, and the instructi‘ns dictated by
William IT is that the former dbes not speak of
this abdication, which in any case was a partial
ane, as a sacrifice définitely made, a sacrifice to
which the:Sovereign had in all sincerity. resigned
himself. It spoke ohly of the Emperor’s ‘readi-
ness' to abdicate, ‘to avoid bloodshed’, and above
dil, civil war? The Crown Prince pointed out
with reason as a conclusion: ‘Thereafter it “was
for the Chancellor to make a further report on the
situation created in the country as the result of
the Imperial message, and it was not juntil after
such further report had been received by the
Emperor that the Emperor could decide defin-
itely what remained for him to dp.’®

Thus, according to the inferpretation placed
upon the Monarch's instriictions by the Imperial
entourpge, there was no question of anything but

1 Memairs of the Crown Prince.—Note that the Monarch was
‘ready to abdicate’ a3 Emperor; ‘in the, event of abdication’, he
would give the supreme command to Hindenburg.—Similarly,
whereas William II's original instructions stated that ‘in all
probability’ he would remain with the Prussian troops, the
actual act of abdication eontained the formal declaradon *will
in August Ferson remain with the Prussian troops’,

250 also Schulenburg in his second Memorandum: “The
Emp=ror did ot proclaim his abdication. It was the Chancel-
lor's duty to inform him whether such abdication was inevitable
in order to prevent bleodshed, and, in the afirmative, to make.
some proposal 'with & view to giving legal effect to the decision
which in such a case the Empeior would take.
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a possible and copditional ai:digatiqn as' Emperor,
but not as Kinglin the event of the Chancellor
persisting, despite the views attributed to the
Generals,! in demanding abdication. The under-
lying idea that the sacrifice pf abdication might,
possibly not be required was scarcely hidden,

Was it _possible for the Kaiser to abdicate as
Empegror without abdicating as King of Prussia?
Under the Constitution of the Empire, as draw.t
up in 1871, a German emperor existed only be-
cause there was a king. According to Article 11
of the Constitution of the Empire ‘the Presidency
of the Cenfederation belongs to the King of
Prussia, who bears the name of German Emperor’s
Thus the King becomes ‘German Emperor’ by
the fact that he js King of Prussia. The-title of
Emperor is bound, up with the Prussian crewn
and cannot be separatéd from it. " William II
ceased to be Emperor it.could ﬂnltir’ be because he
ceased to be King of Prussia; and the King who
succeeded him in Prussia would be de jure German
LEmgperor.

L In saying that ‘the asmy commanders and the Supreme Com-
mand are of the opinion that the abdicaton of the German
Kaiser and Supreme War Lord at this moment will proveke the
very pravest convulsons in the army’, the Imperial mesage
presented the facts in a somewhat singular fashion, It is prob-
able that the military leaders took the view that a)dication wonld
undermine the moral of the arniy; but Ludendorf™s successor
had the whole of G.H.Q. with him in thinking that such a
decision was inevitable, and Hindenburghad agreed with, this
view.
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Profesgor ;Thoma of Heidelherg University
states rha{"'ti:ere has never been jfiny doubt on the
question ainong jurists, and comes to the conclu-
sion that General Schulenburg gave proof of ‘the
most appalling errot of judgment in suggesting
partial abdication’. He quotes various.authors i
support of his view? .

‘ﬁf;w:r for a moment’, said von Simons,® ‘could
Vee have dreamt of anything so constitationally
and politically impossible as a partial abdication.’
The Chantc!f'ﬂr could not conceive how William
could possibly, even for a moment, have con-
sented to such an attitude, which was contrary to
the fundamental law of the Empire; its effect
was to divide the Imperial and Royal power into
two separate parts.®

The Vice-Chancellor von Payer merely writes
that at the ‘moment pedple in Berlin did not
know ‘whether to laugh or to cry’ at the Emperor's

L Frankfirter Zeitang, 21 August 1g1g.—Albert Haenel,
Studien zum deatschen Stpatirecds, Vol, 11, 1880, pp. 56 e sey.
—Laband, Dar Staatirecht desdeatrchen Reickip Vol Velgrn,
pp. 217—20.—George Meyer-Anschutz, Ledréuch des destichen
Staatirechts, 1914, p. 500 —P, Abraham Der Thronverzicltnach
deatichem Staatirecht, Berling 1906,

2 According to Max of Baden.

3 In his second Memorandum, Schulenburg observes that the
Chancellor’s programme—namely, abdication, the appointment
of ayLicutenan-General, and the convocation of a Constituent
Assembly—was not provided®for either in the Imperial Consti-
tution. Similarly, Niemann persists in his view that the scheme
recammended by Schulenburg was ‘a perfectly practical
suggestion’.
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commuiication. ‘As though there wa any time
left for such jurfstic subtleties!’ W nschaffe,
the Under-Secretary of State at the Chancellery,
g'wes his view less brusquely but quite as clearly:

The idea that Hijs Idajesty would abdicate as,
Emperor znd not as King was a profound surprise
to me. The procedure scemed to me utterly
impossible, in the first place, for constitutional
reasons.’s Unless the fundamental basis of the
Imperial Constitution were altered it was impos-
sible to imagine a King of Prussia who was not
at the same time Emperor. Morcover, a partial
abdication of this kind would never have had the
ﬂﬂitical effect expected of it. I said so at once tor

err von Hintze.'

It is easy to imagine the ‘political effect”which
William's abdication as Emperor and not as King
would have had. His enemies in Germany, and
yet more out, of Germany, would have seen 1p such
a decision a species of hypocritical camouflage, a
feint intended to lull or deceive them, and to
reseive some means of regaining absolute power
at the first opportunity. They would have
trumpeted their view that his abdication as
Emperor meant nothing unless he also abdicated
as King. In.actual fact, the Imperial throne,
albeit a more exalted dignity, Was no more than

an accessory, and its real suppoft wad the thione
of Prussia.



11

News of Frince Mox's Froclamation—Meecing at Hindenburg's
Quarieri—Farther Conference eich the Emperar,

AVING decided on partial abdieatior,
William II retired tp La Fraineuse while
Hintze, Schulenburg and Marschall drafted
the act of abdication. He lunched asvith the
Crown Prince and his immediate circle, "The
general atmosphere was one of consternation.
“The Emperor’s features were drawn, and he kept
nervously biting his upper lip. Conversation was
out of the question. One or two words passed
in an undertone. It was difficult to swallow even
a mouthful of food. Those were painful mo-
mente,’ 1 “That silent pathering, in that cheerful,
well-lit roord, where, round a table decorated
with freshly cut flowers, there wss gathered
nothing but anxiety, misery and despair, will
always remain one of my saddest memories.'*
Lunch was not a long dffair,.and the party-soon
broke up. The Emperor+ proceeded to the
drawing-room. Here he was engaged with the
Crown Prince and Schulenburg—who, after the
completion of his draft, had again put in an

1 Niemann.

%'Trhe Crown{Prince.—The accounts given by Niemann and
the Crown Prince would seem to show that the Emperor lunched
at La Fraineuse, nu?ﬁaa was his usual custom, in the Imperial
train. Cf. Nowak, Tde Collopre of Cemtral Eurcpe, Eondon,
1924.
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appearafice—'wiien suddenlys Plessgn  arrived
with the information that Hintze had greceived a
further message of a yet more di&[:uncarting
nature, from the Chancellery’.* *The door of the
room opened, and an® agitated voice was heard
callinf: ““ire, would you be.so good as to come
here for a moment?” '? Hintze had not yet left
the telephone. William at once went to him, and
learnt thit the Chancellor had, through the Wolft
Bureau, announced his abdication not only as
Emperor, “but as King of Prussia? ‘Not even
the dignity of King of Prussia; Ae was to be
neither Emperor nor King.’t In the crowning
catastrophe of his life, he had been degraded to’
the humiliating role of a spectator. .

‘Over my head!, he wrote, ‘the Chansellor had
himself proclaimed my abdication, which had not
yet been decided, and the renunciation of the suc-
cession by tha Crown Prince, who had not been
approached in the matter, He had handed the
government over to the Socialists and had made
HerrEbert Chancelior! The wireless was spread-
ing the news everywhere. The whole army had
heard it. Thus they took out of my *hands the
decision whether | would stay or go, and whether
or no I would abandon the Imperial title and
retain the royal crown of Prussia.’

It was not yet 2.15 pan The Crown Prince

=1 Thé& Crown Prince. 2 Wiemann,

%8ee Chapter 111, pp. 169-170. )
 René Vivieni, Répamiean Keiter, Paris, 1923,
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had gope pyck into the dining-rojym with Schulen-
burg, I}DLSL in a fever of anticipation, They were
well awaré that something altogether unexpected
had just occurred, ‘something calculated yet
<urther to upset a situation already fraught with
confusioh and dismay'. After som¢ ‘minutés
which seemed like centuries’, the Emperor re-
tirned and during the next few moments they
remained ‘in stricken silence, unable <o stak.

The ground seemed to give way under our
feet'. The Emperor, who was endedvouring to
‘maintain sofne show of his natural poise and
dignity’, was stirred to the depths of his being and
kept expressing his wonder ‘whether what he had
just heard could be true’.? He asked Schulen-
burg his edvice. ‘Itis a coup d'ésar,’ said Schulen-
burg, ‘an agt of violence to which Your Majesty
should not yield. The crown of Prussia belongs
to Your Majesty and ft is absoly*<ly necessary
that Your Mjajcst , as War Lord, should remain
with the army. I-guarantee that thé troops will
remain loyal to Your Majesty. *“I am”, h said,
“King of. Prussia, and I will remain King. As
sw.:h% will stay with my troops.” "?

The Kaiser’s entourage was stirred by ‘the live-
liest emotion’, and by ‘righteous-indignation’ at
the Berlin conp d'¢tat, which certain of them char-
acterised &s a, ‘traitor’s blow’.? Von Gontard

1 The Crown Prince.
@ Schulenburg, Memoranda of 6 April and 27 Julp 1919.
8 Niemaznn,
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announcéd the fall of the Emperor anc},thc Lrown
Prince, ‘*hardly Ureathing, EIH teeth Lhattering
and his eyes filled with tears’. The Emperor
then reappeared in the drawing-room with the
cry ‘T reason, Gentlerhen] Barefaced, outrage-
ous treasdnl' With feverish haste Re filled
telegraph form after *telegraph form ‘with a
manifesto of protest’.!

The Crown Prince supported Schuimburg in
begging the Emperor to resist. He found ‘some
support’ from Marschall and, ‘above all', from
Plessen. ‘Plessen's chivalrous loyalty was utterly
revolted byzthe dastardly action taken against the
Emperor and the dynasty. Both a seldier and a
man of the world, used to the strict observance of
forms, weighty and reserved in manner;he made
no attempt to qualify what he considered the

oper terms for these anti-dynastic manccuvres.’ ?
a‘hc Crown=Prince, supported by Schuleuburg,
posed that he should himself take over the
Eusmf:ss of restoring order im Germany, begin-
ning Wwith Cologne “This suggestion was not
even considered by the Emperor, who was abso-
lutely opposed to civil war In fruth, the
Emperor's anger tended to spend itself in words
and did not get as far as deeds.,

William II instructed Niemann, with the help
of General von Estorff, to cend off “cerwain private
telegrame'~ These were to be coded, and'arms
were to be collected at La Fraineuse. He asked

! Niemann. The Crown Prince.
127



THE FALL OF THE FAISER

Plessep, Marschall and Hintze t) inform Hinden-
burg and \Groner, who had left La Fraineuse, of
the new development.! He took leave of the
Crown Prince, who was bound for his new Head-
quarters at Vielsalm in Luxemburg. ‘At this
moment he gave the impression of knuwing’ what
he wanted’; his attitude of determination had a
calming effect on his son. ‘I had no idea when
I shook his hand that I should not see:him for a
year, and then in Holland.’

On leaving La Fraineuse, the Crown Prince
made a statdément to the soldiers of the Rohr
battalion, who were on duty at the deors, that he
was returning to his army group and that the
troops. should maintain their sawg-froid. The
Emperor. had promised not to abdicate and not
to leave Spa. The Rohr kattalion should con-
tinue .to watch over his safety. The soldiers
greeted the Crown Prinée with acclzuaations. He
had on several occasions inspected this particular
battalion, and was popuylar with it.* -

The Crown Prince reacted’ violently agaifist the
‘unprecedented action’ of Prince Max. No one
had ever approached him on the subject of his

1 According to the Crown Prince, the Emiperor also instructed
them to notify the Marshal of the decision he had just tzken,
nefnely, to rimain as King of Prussia at the head of such troops
as could be collected at G.H.Q.

2 T'he accuracy of this account, given by Niemanu; was con-
fifmed by an epewitness to Ligntenant von Schwering who has
told the story of the part played ac Spa by the Rohr battalion,
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rehuncistion of l%lﬁ throne. Hg had been neither
‘sounded, interrogated, nor listened to on the
subject.! The Chancellor’s view had been that
the abdication of William II would naturally
involve the renusciation of. the throne by the
Crown Prince, and all the Chancellor’s ¢ntourage
viewed the question in the same light. More even
than his father, the heir to the throne was con-
sidered #s a man with whom the enemy would
refuse to treat, as an ‘obstacle to peace’.* In the
event of the Kaiser’s abdicating, no one supposed
that the Crown Prince would succoed. ‘Accord-
ing to the views then generally held, such an
event would not have solved, but would have
doubled, the difficulties of the situation.’3

! Memoranda of 6 April and 27 July 1919.

* Memoirs of Prince Max.—The Chancellor expresses regret
that it was impossible for him to have an interview ‘with the
Crown Prinee'Gi> the subject of his renunciation of thé throne.
He points oot that there were dificulties in the way of such
an interview; since the Emperor would not allow the question
of hisubdication o be raised, it was impossible to discuss renon-
ciation with the Crown Prince. Furthermore, the Chancellor's
pet plan was the sppoihtment of a Lieutenant-General of the
Empire who, without prejudicing future developments, would
for some time have discharged the dutics of a sovereign. One
of the reasons which induced the Chancellor to prefer this
system to the accession of one of William II's grandsons, under
a regency, was exactly because, with a Lieutersnt-Geneial of
the Empire, it would be unnecessary to raisc the question of
renufitiiisiPwith the Crown Prince,

3 Friedrich von Payer, Foe Becimarn Holfwep bic Edere,
Frankfort, 1923,
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Schulenburg, whose intention it was to ledve
Spa at the same time as the Crown Prince,
his immediate chicf, went to take leave of the
Emperor. He had already left the Presence when
William called him backs After thanking him
for his Uevotion, the Kaiser repeated, 'l shall
remain King of Prussia. 1 refuse to abdicate as
King of Prussia, and I shall stay with the trpops.’
‘Let Your Majesty’, said Schulenburg,"come to
us, among your troops at' the Front. There
Your Majesty will be safe. Yout Majesty
promises me«in any case to stay with the army?’
“Yes,” said William, ‘I will stay with the army.’

After kissing * the ‘dear, strong’ hand held out
to him by the Emperor, Schulenburg visited the
Marshal,, at whose quarteys a sort of informal
Council of, War had been convened by von
Hintze.* His presence at the meeting could not
but be agreeable to the Emperor,

* » *

! In his Memsirs, Count Czernin, cx-Chancellor of the Austro-
Hunparian Empire, sharply criticises this custom ol kissing
hands, which at the Court of Beslin was ‘something quite
ordinary”. ‘At Vienoa', he says, ‘oné would never have seen
high officials kissing the Emperor's hand. Even the mostservile
would never have stooped to it.” Jm FFeltdriege, Berlin, 1919.

® In his Memeirs, the, Crown Prince makes-the following stare-
ment based on information supplied to him by his Chicf of
SurF: *Schulgaburg having pointed out to the Emperor that
it would be improper to allow the Revolutionary Government
in Berlin to conclude the armistice, His Majestyroy cwied the
General to visit Marshal von Hindenburg in order to:transmit
to him the order to take churpe of the nepodations and to
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The mu:e:tmg which Hintze had organised in the
Marshal’s quarters began about 3.30 p.m. At it
the Admiral raised three guestions:

(1) #as it materially possible to cancel the abdica-
tion pmn’a.r’mm’ in Berlin?

To this' question the soldiers replied in the
negative, according sto Hintze, Schulenburg
makes Hmdcnburg and Grbner responsible for-
this decision, since they were convinced that last-
minute efforts would only end in civil war and
thus aggravate the disaster in the field.

(2) Hould it be desirable to publish a protest
against the, Berlin proclamation which announced
the Emperor's abdication without kis consent?

On this point, says Hintze, the decision was
unanimous. In, existing circumstances tde pub-
lication of such a protest would be unfortunate,
but it would be desirdble to draw up a written
protest as z.Jocument fer use in the future! The
protest was to be submitted for the Emperor’s

assuin responsibility fos them. ‘Thjs strange story, which is
apparently nowhere elsesreferred to, would explain Schulen-
burg's presence at the éonference held a little lafer in Hinden-
burg's quarters. M:tjur Niemann confines himeelf to the state-
ment: “The situsdon démanded cool examination. Count
Schulenburg was 4o procaed to the Marshal.!

1 Hintze fails to add in his Norer that this procedure was
adopted on his propesal. This is explicitly stated,in the Mamor-
andum of 27 July 1919, in the drifting of which e collaborated,
as elicclisGshulenborg’s Memorandum of 26 August 191g.
The smgpestion has sometimes been attributed to Grﬁ-un, ef.
Nowaky The Collapie of Geniral Eurgpe, London, 1924,
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si;iv!nature and thereafter deposited ‘irr somiz
safe plice, r.e. in the Ministry of the Royal
Houschold or the ofhice of the Military Private
Sccretary’.

€3) How was the Emperoris safety to be ensured?

It was ntcessary to determine to whatiplace”the’
Emperor should withdraw, 2nd discussion centred
inainly round this question. ‘A discussion, en-
sued on the place of retreat which the' Kaiser
should choose, should the course of events compel
him to leave Germany. It was decided that
Holland should be proposed.’

Hintze, whose account of the discussion is in
domewhat involved terms, takes pains to throw
the full responsibility on the soldiers; * and indeed
it scemed  that they were the proper people to
assume such responsibility. “The soldiers pointed
out that the possible extension of the revolutionary
movement to the army would prevent ~ny further
guarantee of security being given. The question
was then considered in what portion of the army
the safety of the Manarch could best be assared.
It was found impossible td decide upon any
particular group, since the army as a wﬁgie Was
exposed to the revolutionary contagion. That
His Majesty should return to Germany was con-

leAkhough an ex-Admiral, Hintze clearly did not consider
himself as being one of ‘the soldiers’. He was the representative
of the Fereign Office at Spa; he had been Minister €2 Fueipgn
Affairs and had been chosen by that Office to represcnt it at
G.H.Q.
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didered to be muppurtun: and wellnigh impos-
sible, as a result of the insurrection and the oceu-
pation of the Rhine bridge-heads by the insur-
gents. As regards the possible depariure of His
Magesty for a nmewtral counery, the comparative
advantagds of Switzerland and Holland were dis-
cussed. It was agreed that Holland was easier to
reach.’

Schulenburg held language far less diplomatic.
He bitterly reproached Gréner, who, he said,
seemed to consider the news from Berlin as the
most natural thing in the world. Gréner replied
that in fact he was not surprised at the news, that
he had forescen what would happen and that the
course of events could no longer be controlled.’
Furthermore, Schulenburg coupled the declara-
tions of the Chief Quartermaster-General with
those of Hindenburg. ‘The Marshal and Gréner
stated that-the Emperor should at once leave
G.H.Q. and proceed to Holland. They could
no longer guarantee his safety even for the forth-
comifg night, The Rohr battalion, which was
on duty at Imperial' Headquarters, was no longer
sound, and bands of revolutionaries were already
on the march from Verviers to Spa,” According
to his own evidence, Schu!ﬂr;purg was alone in
maintaining that the safety of the Monarch was
not yet compromised i the army, and thit’it
would, ba ‘a serious mistake to abandon the
‘troops, who would not be abie to'held out against
the resulting demoralisition.” The others, namely
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Hintze and Marschall, supported the Marshal.
Hintze was requested to take the necessary steps
with the Foreign Office to ensure the immediate
departure of His Majesty for Holland.?

Gritnau confirms ‘and ‘ddg detail to the
information given by Schulenburg. ‘With the
approval of the Marshal,’ he says, ‘General
Groner stated that the personal safety ol the
Emperor could no longer be guaranteed at
G.H.Q. He had learned that the troops at
G.H.Q. itself were on the point of forming
Soldiers’ Couricils, and that no reliance could be
placed even in the Rohr battalion, which had
taken up guard duty in place of the troops who
had remained at Potsdam. It was to be feared
that the vevolutionary movement, which had
already reached Aix-la-Chapelle, would reach
G.H.Q:, and that the revolutionaries would
endeavbur to obtain possession of Army Head-
quarters. The heavy conditions which were to be
expected as preliminaries,to an armistice, topether
with the progress of‘the revolution, eliminated all
hope of withdrawing the army in good order. It
would, on the contrary, straggle back to Germany
in the utmost confusion. It was impossible any
longer to contemplate the Emperor’staying at the
Front. The retreat of the army made that
impossible and a false interpretation would be
1 The Memorandum of 6 April 1919 confirnis "dno Eltter
oint, which, as will be seen (pp. 245-246), is not v.ithout
importance.
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laced aipon thé Emperor’s action in Germany
itself.’

It would appear that Schulenburg stayed until
the end of the conference. He did not, how-
ever, seek further audience with the Emperor,
but* wen? direct to his_ headquarters. The
Crown Prince had already left, and the military
situation urgently demanded his presence with his
army gtoup. The Crown Prince regrets as ‘a
serious error’ the fact that neither Schulenburg
nor himself remained at Spa, or that they did not
carry off the Emperor to his own headquarters at
Vielsalm, which was not more than an hour's
motor-car run from Spa, If the Crown Prince is
to be believed, Schulenburg left Spa only because
he remembered ‘the unalterable decisions of the
Emperor’ at the moment when he took leave of
him. But it is not eiasy to reconcile this state-
ment with_the account.given by the officers who
accompanied Schulenburg. These officers stated
that Schulenburg said to them in a state of pro-
fourid emotion znd the liveliest indignation:
‘We have just bgeh at the Marshal's villa, dis-
cuaﬁini the question of sending Flis Majesty
away this very night to Holland.’

! This is stated in the Memorandum®of 27 July 1919, in the
drafting ef which Schulenburg himself collaborated. More-
over, the officers who had accompanied him to Jpa, and whose
recullrctoneare referred to by the Crown Prince in his Memoirs,
state ghat Schulenburg did not return to the Hotel Britanpique
untl about 4.30 p.m.
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The Marshal himself agreed t6 undertake the
task of acﬁuﬁinting the Emperor with the reEHes
given to Hintze's three cg,zestinns. It was about
4 p-m. ‘Wewent to His Majesty,” writes Hintze.
“Ihe Emperor received our, somewhat numerous
delegatiorr® with the cyy, “My God, (Herrje!) you
back again already?” Herstated that he had
instructed the Crown Prince to inform the troops
that he would remain King of Prussia, but that
he had abdicated as Emperor. He then turhed
towards General Groner and said, ‘You have no
longer a War Lord.'* Moreover, the Monarch
lost no time in breaking off all relations with the
Chief Quartermaster-General, although without
reproaching him directly in any way. His
attitude “of ;anger towards Groner, had been suc-
ceeded by a fit of sulkiness.

The whole “of this scene is recounted with
masterly discretion in the Memorandum of 27
July 1919. ‘The Emperor once again con-
demned the act of.violence committed by the
Imperial Chancellor, and asscrted that he had
declared his readiness to renbunce the Imperial
Crown only’ Vainly William sought for some

1 There were five persons in all—=Hindenburg, Griner, Mar-
schall, Hintze and Grinau. It would appear that Plessen came
late=,s Hintze notes that he was present, and this is confirmed
by the Memorsndum of 27 July 1919,

% Griner was, a8 has been said, a Wurtemberger, snd therefore
owed.no further allegiance to William of Prussia, since-there
was no longer an Emperor Willlafh,
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movement of approbation or sign of encourage-
ment in the group around him; but all keptsilence
since they had lost all confidence. Hintze con-
fines himself to the statement that ‘His Majesty’s
declarations took up a.good deal of time’,

Tirally, Flindenburg spoke, ‘He gave a sum-
mary of the results of the recent conference. He
showed that the army was not strong enough to
subdue fhe revolution. He mentioned Hintze's
proposal of a protest which would not be published
at the mument. ... Finally, he came to the
question of His Majesty's place of residence.’
As Hintze reports, ‘he set forth with complete
lucidity the questions which the conference had:
considered and the replies given to each of the
questions’. According to Gontard and Niemann,!
he stated: ‘1 cannot accept the responsibility of
seeing the Emperor haléd to Berlin by insurgent
troops and..delivered over as a prisoner to the
Revolutionary Government,’

Hindenburg's statement concluded with the
wordsy™ [ must advizse Your Majesty to abdicate
and to proceed to' Holland." This is what
General von Marschall stated on 6 and 7 April

! Gontard and Niemann Were not present at the conference
but they had first-hand knowledge of i, In Holland, they drew
up a memerandum which is reproduced inf Niemann's RBecolusion
gow Oden , . The language which their memorandum ascriea
to Hindenburg corresponds in all essentials to thy discussions
whicl® took place in the conference and; in actual form, with

what Hindenburg said a little later in the presence of Admivai
Scheer.
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1919 in the presence of Hintze dnd Schulenburg,
as alsorin thie presence of Count Westarp, one of
the leaders of the National Party. On g April
1919 Marschall repeated this declaration in the
most formal manner possible, before the same
Ecrs':ms and before, General von Plessen, *who

ad also heard Hindenburg. Von Plessen con-
fitmed the fact that the Marshal had said, ‘I
must advise Your Majesty to proceed to JHolland,’
but did not remember whether the Marshal had
also advised the Emperor to 'abdicate’. Hintze
hastily took rote of these declarations, as he did
of any which tended to minimise the importance
of the part he played on 9 November in forming
the Emperor's decision.

Details ore lacking as to the discussion which
took place in the presence of the Emperor after
the Marshal’s statement. No doubt with the
purest of motives, HintZe confines hiaself to the
statement: ‘I thought, and I had hoped, that the
first question would lead to a long discussion on
either side; but sach was hot the case, The
second question involved no more discussion than
the first, and all interest was concentrated on the
third question, that of the safety of the Emperor.’

According to thg Memorandum of 27 July 1919,
Ilis Majesty stated that he was in agreement
with the iflea of a protest which would not at once
be published, and said that thenceforward the
Marshal should take the supreme command and
lead the army back into Germany.

138



THE NINTH OF NOVEMBER AT S5PA

The reasons which in the morning prevented
him from remaining with the army were still
operative, and had even been strengthened by
events. The road to Germany was barred, since
the insurgents occupied the Rhine bridge-heads.
Moreover, the Armistice was imminent. The
German armistice defegation had crossed the
frontier lines on 7 November. The troops to
which His Majesty would go, whatever troops
they might be, would have no longer to fight the
enemy, ut only to return to Germany.

‘Oni the basis of the preceding discussions, and
in accordange with Herr von Hintze's advice and
that of the other persons present, His Majesty’s
departure for a neutral State was contemplated as
the final expedient, and Holland was considered
from this point of view to be the country indicated.’

According to Hintze, General von Plesser inter-
vened in the discussion da various occasiont, cry-
ing out, “Above all, no flight The ‘competent
authorities’—here the Admiral is clearly speaking
of the soldiers—explained ‘the difficulty of guar-
anteeing the Emperor’s safety if, as was probable,
the revolution affected the army’. .

In such a discussion’ the fate of Nicholas II was
an ever-present nightmare. ‘Might not a similar
fate threaten the Kaiser? ... Would the Ger-
man people submit to the eternal shzme which
would be inflicted upon it by the lowest of the low,
in ancattempt on the life of him who for thinty
years had been the-symbol of its dignity and
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grandeur?” ! Only a few months had elapsed
since ‘the tragedy of Ekaterinenberg. Perhaps
also there was some recollection of the sombre
prophecies of Heine, who, with the utmost pre-
¢ision of detail, had pictured: the march of the
Kaiser fo the guillotine, and had asserted’ that

1793 would be a picnic compared with the Ger-
man revolution.

At this point, Baron von Miinchhausen, who
was second in command, after General von
Plessen, of the Imperial Household Troops,
was summored into conference. According to
his evidence the troops in Spa and the. neighbour-
hood were at the moment sound, but he prudently
refused to give any guarantee for the future,

‘In view of the repeated declerations made to
me,” writes Hintze, *e.g. “it,is impossible to pre-
dict what the troops will do—their attitude is
doubfiul, etc.”, I proposed that in any case nego-
tiatidns should be set on foot for the Kaiser's
journey to Holland. Such negotiations would
take time and all preparatiohs necessary for the
Emperor’s reception in Holland would have to
be made beforehand in case a sudden departure
should become necessary.’

This is an intergsting point. It will be remem-
beped that at the end of the conference preceding
this final meeting with the Emperor, Hindenburg
had already instructed Hintze to take the neces-
sary steps to arrange for the journey to Helland.

1 Niemann, Kaiser und Reooiusion, Berlin, 1922.
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Hiatze was end@avouring to obtain from the
Emperor a decision which had already beenstaken
for him by the Marshal and the Generals,

The Memorandum of 27 July 1919 also states
that Hintze pointed out the necessity of imme-
diately taking prtlij_?ramry measures in tile event
of a journey to Holland being decided upon.
It mergly adds that ‘von Hintze, the Secretary of
State, was.instructed by His Majesty to take the
necessary steps’.

Hintze is more precise. He writes: ‘At this
}:omt His Majesty was convulsed with rage. Did

by any chance think that he was incapable of
remaining with his troops? I kept silence)
Hintze continues without the least transition,

‘upon which His ,Majesty ordered me to, take the
steps concerning which I had j Just spoken to him’.t
At this, Hintze left to carry out his mission. It
was now §.p.m.?

! In their joint Memorandum, Gontard and Niemann empha-
sise the word “preparatory’ by stating that “His Majesty agreed
that His*Excellency von Hintze should take the preparatory
steps for his receprion in Halland should such a course become
necessary’.  Similarly, the Crown Prince emphasises the fact
that no final decision was taken, “The Empernr had agreed
only that the preliminary steps for such a journey should be
taken.'

2The time of dn}r, wluch 15 mentioned by Hintze, coincides
exactly with that given in the Memorandum of Gontard whid
Niemann: ‘betwecn 4 and § p-m., Hindenburg and Hintze told
His Mujesty that the situation was growing wprse from moment
to momant, and begged him to consider the possibility of pro-
ceeding to & neutral country as & last resource’.  Similarly, the
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Hintze had scarcely left when Admiral ven
Schees arrived. He had been since April 1918
Commander in Chief of the German Fleet.
He was accompanied by his Chief and Assistant-
Chief of Staff, Captains von Levetzow and von
Restorff Although quartered at Spa, these*pet-
sons had hitherto played nd part during 9 Novem-
ber in the various conferences with the Emperor,
and had not seen him during that day. "Towards
4.30 p.m., Levetzow, who was in his quartérs at
Spa, had been informed by telephionic com-
munication from the Admiralty in Berlin that the
Emperor's abdication had been generally pro-
claimed, Greatly surprised, he called up the
Imperial aide-de-camp on duty. Hindenburg,

time given corresponds to that which can be implied from the
account of Le-Etzow, who, as will L& scen Jater (pp. 143-144),
visited ithe Emperor in compgny with Admiral ven Scheer,
zfter hiving, about 4 p.m., received 4 telephone cull from Berlin,
havinj; had an interviesw with his Chiefand a telephone conver-
sation with one of William's aides-de-camp, Finally, the tme
agrees more or less with that givensin the Memeoindum of
27 July 1919, according to which Hindenburg left the Emperor
about § o'clpck. Between the departure of Hintze and that
of Hindenburg there was only an interview with Admiral
von Scheer which would appear to have been extremely
short.

1 At the beginning of April 1918, Admiral ven Scheer had
tefiaced Grand Admiral von Heltzendorff as Head of the
Seekriegsleifung, which was to the nawvy what the Odersee
Heeresleitung was to the army. Magnos vor Levetzow, his
Chief Assistant, was Chiefl of the MNaval Swaff. Admirsl von
Scheer died on 26 November fgz8,

142



THE NINTH OF NOVEMBER AT SPA

Groner and Marschall were at,the time with the
Sovereign.!

*Shortly afterwards’ Admiral von Scheer and his
two assistants proceeded to La Fraineuse and
were immegliately intreduced into the presence of
the Emperor. ‘The Marshal’, writes Livetzow,
‘was with the Emperor,'and Gréner and Marschall
somewhat in the background. When we enteréd
His Majesty said: “Marshal von Hindenburg,
please be good enough to repeat to Admiral von
Scheer whit you have just said to me.” Turning
towards His Majesty, the Marshal repeated that
the army cquld hold out no longer, that the troops
were no longer with His Majesty, that there were’
no more troops loyal to His Majesty. “Would
to God, Sire,” he concluded, “‘it were other-
wise["

‘His Majesty repliccwith sovereign dignify and
admirable acalm: “If things are really as the
Marshal says, 1 cannot allow myself to be sur-
prised here. There is only one thing for me to
do—td"abdicate as German Emperor. [ remain
King of Prussia.”’

Restorff iz also a witness to the complete sang-
froid of the Emperor’on this occasion. He adds
that von Scheer supported Hindenburg by

1 Levetzow's evidence was published in the S#ddeussche Monaik
Aefte (April 1924). It is reproduced in Niemann®s Revs/ntion
oon Oden—Admiral von Scheer stated thas, he had nothing to
add to this account. Restorf also published his evidence, which
appeared in Niemann's book.
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stating that unﬁ:rt.unat:l}r it was impossible to rcly
upon ithe navy any longer.

On this, William II continued: ! ‘These gentle-
men know how I have been served by the Chan-
ccllor. Unknown to me and -without authorisa-
tion frdm me, Prince Max of Baden has this
morning proclaimed my abdication both as
German Emperor and as King of Prussia. This
is the way in which my last Chancello "has used
me.’'

Admiral von Scheer expressed his regret at the
situation of the navy if it were to be deprived of
its Supreme Head. William II replied: ‘I have
no longer a navy.’* On which he left the room,
after shaking hands with all present.

He alsa said to von Scheer: ‘Admiral, the navy
has let me down completely.’® His resentment
against the navy was deep and perhaps natural,
When he heard of the disturbances-at Kiel he
said’to Restorff on 2 November: ‘I cannot under-
stand how the navy, in which I have always taken
such an interest, “could so treacherousiy:betray
me. What a disappointment! The navy owed
everythinfr to me.” Similarly, Restorff mentions
the Emperor’s deep emotiof when on 6 November
he kept saying: ‘How can the navy be so treacher-
ous and ungrateful, the navy with which I have
been so Jong and so intimately connected?’

Four years later William II was to write: “What
hurt me more deeply than anything else was that

1 Levetzow. 2 fhid, ¥ Restorff.
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the revolution began in the Fleet, my pride and
my creation.’

After leaving his Admirals and Generals, the
Emperor proceeded to the room in which were
his aides-dt-camp on Juty. ‘His true feelings’,
writes the faithful Niexnann, ‘brought him to us,
where he really belonged.” From him the aides-
de-carhp dearned what had happened. Major von
Himrh.a-lﬂ received the following orders: ‘I shall
remain to-night at the Chéiteau. See that there is
a supply of arms and ammunition. The Marshal
has informed me that we may have td reckon with
attacks from the Bolshevists. All the aides-de-
camp must spend to-night at the Chéteaun.'
Count Nicholas zu Dohna-Schledien, the famous
captain of the German raider Moewe,”who had
been one of the Errpesor's aides-de~camp since
the spring of 1917, prssented himself foii audi-
ence on réturn from leave. William II said to
him: ‘I told Groner flatly that I would have
nothigg., more to dp with him. In spite of all
their proposals I shall remain at Spa.’! One of
the aides-de-camp’ proposed that a, guard of
officers should be formned. The Emperer person-
ally gave further instructions for security measures
with a view to a prolonged stey at Spa.? After
interviewing all his aides-de-camp the Emperer

! Crown Prinee Wilhelin, The Merreirs n_f‘ the Croton Privce
of Gergany, London, 1922,
2 Memorandum of Gonggrd%nd Niemann.
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retired into his study,! and for some time ge-
mained inwsible to any member of his entourage.

An extremely interesting point in the foregoing
is that, neither with the aides-de-camp nor in the
presence of the naval officers, was there any
question of a departure for Holland. Levetzow
says so in so many words. The Memorandum
olj 27 July 1919 explicitly states that ‘the Marshal
left the Emperor with no idea of any permanent
separation, but in the firm conviction thit he
would see his Imperial and Royal Majesty again
cn the following day and receive his definite
commands’.

! Niemann.



II

The Evening of g November at Spa—Hintze and Plessien inter-
wﬂf—Tfa’i‘ and Tﬁrj’# I‘-"-J.'r.f.l df Hrjrn'am{—-T..ﬁ'e K:ﬂ!ﬂ"l
~sfmal Decision,

A\ URING the evening, General von Plessen

spught information from the various Sections
of G.H.Q. The information he received showed
that” the Eﬂtuatmn was desperate.! In a private
conversation General Baron von Oldershausen,
who had been for two years Chief, of the Field
Railway Service, begged him not to put any
obstacles in the way of the Kaiser's departure.
Captain von Iisemann, who had been 'Drd:rIj,r
Officer attached, to the Emperor since, 1 August
1918, and had pre"musl been a member of the
Operations Bureau ot 43, H.Q., said to von Plessen
that in the-Operations Bureau all the officers, with
the exception of Captain Wever, who drafted the
communiqués,? considered it vitally necessary that

! According to the Crown Prince’s Memeirs, von Plessen's
personal investigations were such as to allow him to deny
formally the assertions of General Griner, who had mainmined
that the troops at G.H.{J. were no longer sound and could
not be relied upon.to protect the Emperor's person in any event.
In the short memorandum which he Publizhed in the spring
of 1919, von Plessen gave the information contained aséue,
the peneral sense of which is contrary to that of the Crown
Printe’s narradve.

! Captain Wever had drafted the communiqués since.the
autumn of 1917,
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the Emperor should leave as soon as possible.?
‘Prussia was dead, and her King alone.'® It is
more than probable—though there is no textual
evidence for it—that von Plessen informed his
master of these facts, facts over which William
I1 had an opportungty of thinking when he was
alone in his study. Von Piessen, who had always
betn inclined to resistance, dared not at the
moment take the responsibility of advising it.

About 7.30 p.m. he visited Hindenburg ‘and
informed him that, ‘after the confereiice of the
afternoon, His Majesty had decided to leave for
Holland. Von Plessen left the Marshal with con-
¢iderable emotion. When the Marshal asked
whether he could still pay a hurried visit to the
Empercér, von Plessen thought it his duty to
advise him' against it."® His pbject probably was
to avoid overiaxing the Emncror’s emotions. On
leaving G.H.Q. he met Admiral von Hintze on
the staircase, and both of them procceded to visit
the Emperor.

1 MNiemann, Reooluticn von Odew, lets it be understood that
the pessimism of G.H.0. was due to the statement of General
Graner, who ‘explzined the military situation to his zesistants
in its darkest aspect,

2 Schulenburg.

3 Memorandum of 27 July 1919. The Memorandum drawn
ug by Plessen, Schulenburg and Marschall, and published an
6 April 1919, said nothing of this visit of von Plessen’s to
Hindenburg, but the general indications given in the Memeéiran-
dum of 27 July 1919 are completely confirmed by thy very
socurate evidence of von Hintze.
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fAccompanied by Griinau, Hintze had left La
Fraineuse after ¢ p.m. in order to esgablish
telegraphic and telephonic communication from
the Imperial train with the Hague and with
Brussels, €nd to prepaye the way for the Emperor’s
journey to Holland. On the completion of this
business about 7 p.m., he proceeded to G.H.Q,
‘to anngunce the preparatory steps I had taken
in the event of His Majesty’s departure being
rendered necessary by circumstances. At G.H.Q.
I was informed that the troops there had formed
Soldiers’ Councils and lost their ciscipline, that
the Rohr battalion had refused to fire on the
mutineers,! that the Marshal had informed the

Emperor that he could no longer be responsible
for his safety at G.H.Q., and that Gencral von

1 This question has beeinthe subject of the’most Yvely dis-
cussions. Agcording to Lieut™von Schwerin the Rohr battalion
received from G.H.Q). sbout midday an order not to uze fire-
arms except in the event of a direct attack against the person
of the Emperor. In all other circumstances they were not to
use théir arms against Germans. Lizut. von Schwerin repre-
sented to his superior gﬁl'cr_r that such &n order was likely to
compromise the discipline of the battalion, and he took the view
that in such circumstances jt was no longer possible to guarantee
the maintenance of order. Rohr himself said the eame thing
about 3 p.m. to Mzjor von Minchhaussn, Sccond in Command
of Imperial Headquarters. Minchhausen promised to g, the
order rescinded, but at g p.m. stated that he had had no succss
and that he wos utterly 1n despair and was Jeavigg the army
In this way Schwerin explains the origin cf the rumours which
were Qurrent at Spa, actordipg to which Major Rohr reflised
to be responsihle for the discipline of his battalion.
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Plessen had been to interview the Marshal on the
subject in a state of co lph,te despair. This news
seemed to me to reveal the general situation of
the Emperor in 2 new light. I therefore decided
to ask His Majesty for orgers.}

Niemarin denounces as false, or in any case
greatly exaggerated’ the information which Hintze
had thus received from G.H. .Q., and seeg in it an
indication of the morbid spirit prevalent in_the
High Command.! A later chapter will show?
what exactly was the situation of the troops at Spa.

idintze was received by the Emperor at the
same time as von Plessen., “Without preamble
the General began to inforin the Emperor of
the preparations made for his departure, Imperial
train, motpr-cars, etc. . . . I congluded that His
Majesty had already decided to leave for Holland
and I r'epﬂrted the ncgotmt.ons I had had on the
subject with the Hague, both directly and in-
directly viz Brussels,’s

1 Since Hintze states that he had said nothing on the Subject
to the Kaiser, the informaticn in question had not hed the effect
that Niemannimagined. On the possibility of o misunderstand-
ing as regards the Rohr bamtalien (see the preceding note—what
Hintze was told as regards the rebellions spirit of the troops at
Spa seems exact), ¢ft Chapter IV, pp. 232-735. He was told
that a Soldiers' Council had been formed. It is certain that
suich @ Council was formed *during the night’. This news from
G.H.Q. makes no difference to the actual time of the events
in question; in Novcnber, 7 p.m. may be considered as being
‘the‘night’, and Hintze did not reach G.H.Q. until after p.m.

Cf. Chapter IV, pp. 232~235. # Von Hintze,
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H the Court Mdrshal and Major Niemann may
be believed, Hintze's part in this matter was by
no means 5o secondary as he states, Accérding
to them the Admiral urged the necessity of a
speedy denision. “The possibility alluded to by
the Marshal that His Ilajesty might be kidnapped
by his own troops was increasingly imminent.
His M;}jest}' yielded to the importunity of vbn

Hintze."®

! Memorandum of Gontard and Niemann.—So far as facts are
concerned, there is no great importance in the contradiction
between von Hintze and the Memorandum. The Memoran-
dum merely makes Hintze say what the Admiral, according to
his own evidence, had intended to say to the Emperor, and
what he had been giad not to have to say, because he thought
that the Emperor had already taken a decision. Butthe contra-
diction between von Hintze and the Nicmann-Gontard Memor-
andum is extremely integesting from the psychological point of
view. It shows how the Emperor's entourage 8lid their utmost
to throw on certain of his “dvisers the responsibility for his
departure. It scems fairly certain that about 7 p.m. von Plessen
announced to Hindenburg that the Emperor was going. Never-
theless, according to Niemann and Contard, the Emperor’s
departarc™yvas decided 3nly aftér Hintze's urgent intervention.
But Hintze's visit to tht Emperor was later than Plessen's
interview with Hindedburg. Hintze's evidence is so precise
that it is difficult to throw doubt upon it. Nevertheless, accord-
ing to Niemann (Revofution von Oben), Plessen did not visit
Hindenburg to communicate to him the Emperce’s decision
until afier he had scen the Emperor’ together with Hintze,
Although improbable, this is not after all of importance. Plészn
continued to run to and fro between La Fraincuse and G.H.Q.
It is perfectly possible that he saw Hindsnburg Yeveral times,
althowgh only one visitsis mentioned in the Memorandum of
27 July 191q,
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The Emperor had already dedided to leave ka
Fraineuse and take up his residence in his special
train.f When he reached the train, about 7.40
p.m., he told Hirschfeld and Ilsemann, the officers
on duty who accompanied him, that after calm
reflexionthe had decided to{'remain with the arm:,r
and fight it out to a finish’.® In the motor-car
wliich conveyed him to the train he said to them:
‘Plessen and Hintze have just put a pistol to my
head. I was to leave this evening for the Nether-
lands. In the heat of the moment I agreed, but
I,sannot really agree with such a decision. What
am [ doing? 1 am causing it to be known that
1 am remaining with the army as King of Prussia,
I am calling troops round me, and before they
arrive 1| am leaving for a destination abroad.
What would happeu if inspitesf all they remained
loyal to me and fought for me? Ewven if only a
few men remain loyal, T will fight with them to
the end, and if we are all killed, well, I am not
afraid of death. I should be deserting my wife
and children. No, ¥ is impossible! Iam stuying
here,” 3

1 According to information collected later by the Crown Prince,
the Emperor reached this decision diiring the evening afier an
interview with Plessen and Grinau, According to Schulen-
burg, he took the decisibn during the confirence abour 4 p.m.
with®Hindenburg, the Generals and von Hintze.

3 Memorandum of Gontard and Niemann. The Emperor's
reflexion canfiot havg been of long duration if die annourdced

hu new decision at 7.40, since about 7.30 he had decided to
léve for Holland. 3 Nieminn, Revolueion som Oden,

152



THE NINTH OF NOVEMBER A7 SPA

‘The same scene~took place on several occasions.
The natural revolt of his despaiting pride inspired
William IT with words or attempts at resistance,
with last-minute hesitations, and with temporary
recrudescelices of hope.! When he arrived at the
Imperial train he was informed of a telephonic
conversation between Count Platen and Prince
Eitel Fritz. Despite recent events, the Empress
was in gqod spirits and sent her best wishes to
the Emperor. *‘My wife is staying in Germany
and they wish to make me go to Holland.
No, such an action would be that of a master
who abandoned his sinking ship.’?

William told the Court MarsE&l that he would’
not follow the advice of G.H.Q. to leave the
army and the country. He preferred to*remain
to the end with the army and to risk his own
life. The idea of making him desert the army
was scangdalous. ‘It twould be tantamount to
cowardice.” He expressed the same views in
the presence of Plessen and Marschall,?

Wese ‘hese words sincére? » After a quarter of
an hour’s conversation with the Emperor,
Marschall and Plessen stated that the order given
for the departure tosHolland remained in forcest
But ‘at 8.30 pm., when we were sitting down to

VAccording to Ludwig ( #ilkeim der ﬁm:’rzr}, hiz whole en-
tourage knew that Williorm 1I was going to run away. *Bac
decorum was preserved.’

2 Dhary of orince August Wilhelm.

¥ Mesorandum of Gontard and Niemann.

¢ Second Memorandum of Schulenburg.
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dinner, the whole idea of leaving the country
seemed tor have® been definitely abandoned’
Plesstn, with a revival of hope, advised the
Emperor to remain with the army, and his advice
was enthusiastically received. The Imperial train
was wel guarded by thefRohr Battalion. His
Majesty could easily have stayed there until the
miarch on Aix-la-Chapelle and Cologne was begun
with loyal troops.'?

About 8 p.m. Captain von Restorff submittéd to
the Emperor the requests of Admiral von Scheer,
von Levetzow and himself to resign from the
Imperial navy, ‘His Majesty having been com-
pelled to abdicate’. At the moment, the Emperor
was in the Imperial train and was on his way to
the difiing-car. The officers, he said, should
remain at their posts and do their best to restore
order. + ““I'am staying here.too,” he said. When
I looked enquiringly at ¥is Majesty, he replied,
“I am staying here too," and struck the table with
his fist. “By all means,” 1 said, “let Your
Majesty remain ate G.H.Q. 94f not, ali~isslost.”
“I am staying here. 1 will ot go away.” After
repeating these words in the most energetic tone,
His Majesty proceeded to the dining-car.’?

During the evening, Niemann learned from von
Plessen that the Emperor, who might be leaving

1 Memorandum of Gontard and Niemann,

# Memoratidum of von Plessen.

# Restorff adds that Count Melthe, who was orderly officer on
duty, can confirm this interview.

154



THE NINTH «OF NOVEMEBER AT SPA

‘to~day’, wished td take him with him. Niemann
at once packed. He then went to visit his friend
Colonel von Tieschowitz, Head of Deparfment
at G.H.Q. Colonel Tieschowitz was convinced
that the Eniperor was ahout to proceed to Holland.
When Niemann arrived at thie Imperial train he
found everyone at dinner. ‘I had been afraid
that the excessive emotion of the last few houts
might have induced a certain lethargy in the
Emperor. = Nothing of the sort. His eyes were
full of life and energy, his face reflected calm
resolution. - He said that he would pass the night
in the traip, but utterly rejected any idea of
leaving for Holland.” Dinner was a melancholy
function, no one being in the mood for conversation,

Towards 9.30 p.m., Plessen said to Major Rohr
and to Lieut. von* Schwerin: ‘In the Imperial
train no one knows whather the Emperor intends
to go or to stay.”! The final decision was not
to be long delayed.

* w w

Hinfze had been informed sthat the Emperor
had expressed his determination to remain with
the army. From the staff mess,® he velephoned
about 9 p.m. to Grithau, who was at table with
William FI.' Some definite decigion, he said, must

! Evidence of von Schwerin. 2 Nowak.

® There are innumerable contradictions in the various accounts
of thus final incident. Acrording to his owr aotes, Hintze was
called up by Gritnau, who told him that the Emperor was aot
leaving. Griinan states that he was called up by Hintze.
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be taken, ‘'in view of any chdnge which might
be nec:ssary in the preparations already made.
If the departure were delayed, the element of
surprise in the plan would no longet: come into
play.”t In full agreement with G.H.Q., Hiptze
strongly advised that the original idea of departure

¥Memorandum of 27 July 1919. Although Hintze assisted
in the drafting of this Memorandum, it is considerabl} nearer
Grilnau’s version than that of Hintze. It repeats’almost-word
for word a portion of the Memorandum published on 6 April
1919 by Plessen, Marschall and Schulenburg. In his notes:
Hintze states that he was called up on the telephone by Gritnau,
who told him that the Emperor was not leaving; ‘I then observed’,
said Hintze, “that if the military authorities cbuld no longer
guarantee the Emperor's safety at G.H.Q. a delay might easily
have the, effect of eliminating the factor of surprise, and the
Emperor’s departure might be hindered by the mutineers among
the troops, I do not know whethei Griinau reported this
observation to His Majesty. I Bave not heard that he did.” It
was about the beginning of 1914 that Hintze senj his notes 1o
the Minister of the Royal Household, He could then no longer
have been in ignorance of events, zsince his telephone call had
been the subject of the most impassioned disputes. According
to himself, Hintze did rot tell Griinall to inform fie Emperor
of the unfortunate effects which might be entailed by delay in
his departures  On the other hand, Giiinau states that Hintze
begged him ‘both personally and og behalf of G.H.Q., which
was in full agreement with him, to repeat to the Emperor the
urgent advice to abide by his original decision to leave the
couptry’. The Memorandum of 27 July 1919, in the drafiing
of which Hintze took part, inclines to Grilnau’s version, und
it seems mogt probable that Griinau’s version s substangially
correct. In any®esse it is certain that Grinau considered
Hifitze's declaration as virtually a messige to be reported iy him
th the Emperor.
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sheuld be adhered-to. It was impossible to know
how events would develop. It Wwas dangc;@us to
wait until' it was too late. Moreover, onee in
Holland, the Emperor would be in a better posi-
tion to take steps qn behalf of the Empress, and
to' cuse her to come to him. An immedicte
departure was necessary. The situation had
got beyond control. From Aix-la-Chapelle and
Eupen the revolutionary movement threatened
to reach Spa, and insurgent troops were already
marching on G.H.Q. The roads to the front
had beer barricaded by the mutineers.®

It was not until after dinner, about 1o p.m.,
that Griinalt made the above communication to
the Emperor, who was at that moment leaving
the dining-car followed by Plessen and Marichall.®
He listened calmly 4o Griinau’s statement, which
was of some length, and,after a moment’s reflexion,
said: ‘Very,well. But not before to-morrow morn-
ing.’* ’R"mn, without a single look behind, he
went to his private apartment.

In the meantime, Marshal von Hindenburg, who

1 Grinau's version.

# Memorandum of Gontard and Niemann.

A Niemann, Rewolutiom viw Odew.—The Memorandum of
27 July 1919 speaks only of Plessen, but that may be merely
because Plessen collaborated in draftingd the Memorandum,
whereas Marschall was dead.

* Memorandum of 27 July 1919. According to Nowak,
Griniu's interview with William I was conducted almost in
a whisper. The Emperer eonfined himself to nodding and
saying: *Very well, We wsill teave to-morrow.’
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was worn out by the emotions of the day, had
gone e'rly.to bed: When G.H.Q. was informed
of the final decision of the Emperor th! news was
kept from him, so that his sleep shculd not be
troubled. ‘Without exception, his ass.stants were
sure that the departure of the Emperor was in
accordance with his own ideas and wishes.
Throughout G.H.Q). there was a general atmos-
phere of calm after storm.’?

During the same night the Crown Prince
reccived a letter which informed him of the.
decisions taken:

‘My Boy,

‘As the Marshal can no longer guarantee my
safety, and can no longer vouch for the troops,
I have décided after severe intefnal struggles to
leave the wreck of my army. Berlin is completely
lost and in the hands of the Socialists. Two

I Miemann, Revolution pon Ofen.  In the letter which Hinden-
burg wrote to William II on 28 July rgzz, he explicitly says:
“The statement that on, the evening cf g Novem'ar T pushed
for an immediate departure is a mistike which has been referred
to without my consent.' The lettertin question appeared in
the Deatsche Wochenzeitung fir die Niederlande, and is repro-
duced as an appendix to Niemann's Revofution von Oben,

% Niemann offers an apology for the words ‘my safety’, a3 a
result of which the viely had been put forward that the Emperor
thdight only of his own personal safery. “The first sentencr in
the letter does no more than trace the history of the fevolutionary
crisis as it appeared in the news from G.H.Q, *If the Enfperor
had thought of his own personal scfety it wounld have been
kidiculous to delay his departure®until the following day.'
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Gavernments have been set up there, one with
Ebert as Chancellor, the other b} the Inde rfndent
Socialists.

‘I suggestj that you should remain at your post
in order to maintaip good order among the trodps
until their departure for Germany.

‘Au revoir, if God wills.

‘General von Marschall will give you all furthér
details,

“Your stricken father,
"WiLLiam. "1

Very early in the morning of 16> November,
Admiral voa Hintze procecded to the station in
order, according to his own account, to take stock
of the situation. *“The Imperial train was no
longer there. The officials informed 1ne that it
had left before daybresk.’ The Emperor had
fixed the departure of the train for § a.m.? At
4.30 a.m., without any signal, the train moved
off, accompanied by a section of the Fourth Com-
fnn}r of the Rohr Battalion under the orders of

ieutenant Zehner, «“Two red lamps on the last
carriage were thesonly indications tq the few

! William I’ letter has béen the subject of various comments,
Ludwig holds the yiew that the Emperor told his son, *quite
simply’, that he had decided to go; buthe criticises the ‘cere-
monial stiffness’ of the subscription ‘your stricken father”,

¥ Memorardum of Gontard and Niemann,—Yielding to the
unquilificd insimence of his most responsibly military and civil
advisers, His Majesty ordered a departure for the Duteh frontjer
at § aan. on 10 November,'?
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persor.s present that the Emperor was. leaving
Germdy.'!

The train came to a stop at a ne ghbouring
station, where the Kaiser left it witl! a portion
of his escort.

E‘Lt 2 4.m, the Emperor’s chauffeur, Warnet,?
had been awikened, and had received orders to
prepare for a long journey. He was to leave
without the usual flag, and to remove any signs
which might cause the Imperial car to be récog-
nised by ‘patrols of the revolutionary army’. As.
a result of this order, about ten motor-cars left
Spa, proceeding at a moderate pace through the
‘cEtrk, foggy' night. Warner headed the cortége,
driving an empty car.

Suddunly, a car coming in the opposite direction
ave him a sign to stop, and then on the road
¢ reeognised the Emfperor, enveloped in an
overcoat. William II with three officers tock
his seat in the car, which started off at once.
Another car was placed in front and two others
followed.

They reached the Dutch frontier at 7.10 a.m.
It was just daybreak, and Sunday morning.

1 Memorandum of von Schwerin.
* Warner’s Memeirs have also been published.
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CHAPTER II1
THE NINSTH OF NOVEMBER AT BERLIN



Dacisions af ehe Social Democrats and the Chancellor——Prince
Max publishes thg News of Abdication—Edbert as Chan-
celior,

ITHOUT eritering into the details of the

Revolution in Berlin, a history dealing
withr the Kaiser's abdication should briefly explain
the course of events in Berlin on g November,
which snatched from William II the power which
he refused to abdicate.

‘Everythirig depends on Berlin and the Social®
Democrats,” wrote Haussmann on 8 November.
‘On their decision it depends whether the workers
remain in the “factories or come out’ into the
streets.” The ImperialsCapital was, as it were,
encircled by a ring of”fire. After the ports—
Kiel, Liibeck, Bremen, and Hamburg—after the
North-West—Hanover, Brunswick and Cologne
—aftey Munich, the flame spread on B'Nwem%ser
to Disseldorf, Frdnkfort-on-Main, Stuttgart,
Leipzig, Halle and® Magdeburg.

On the same day about noon, the Main Com-
mittee of the Reichstag met to discuss the situa-
tion. Despite the aged Groebet, the Centre pro-
nounced in favour of abdication, since the Socia}
Dergocrats thought that, if it were not proclaimed,
the flood of [’E"-"E%utiﬂn could no lodger be held in
check. The National Liberals took the same
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view. The Conservative Party alone reaffirmad
its ‘loyalty. to thé Wearer of the Crgwn’. An
overwhilming m.gcmy of the deputiesheld, with
Gothein, that ‘to retire voluntarily would be the

reatest service the Emperor could render to the
Stiate’.

bert anmiounced that he would tell his friends:
‘Until the Armistice is concluded we are agreed
that neither the Chancellor nor ourselyes should
take any definite action.' He re-stated thefor-
mula which had been used the day before by
Scheidemann to his colleagucs in the Ministry, and
the Party issued a manifesto prolonging until the
Armistice the time-limit fixed for its ulttrnatum.
‘The German delegation can only this morning
have arrived at enemy headquarters. Our with-
drawal from the Government would compromise
the possibiiity of concluding an armistice. We
have prolonged our original time-limit-for a few
hours, so that the first consideration may be the
cessation of bloodshed.’

In thé evening, howéver, tlie Execuiive: Com-
mittee of the Party was informed by its ac-
credited agents in the great manufacturing under-
takings of the Capital, that delay was no longer
possible. ‘The Independents and.the Spartacists
had mobilised their forces for the morrow and
fwere proclaiming a general strike. In, these cir-
cumstances the Social Democrats decided to leave
the Government and rally to the general strike if
abdication had not been announced by the follow-
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ing morning. ‘I was firmly convinced' wrote
Scheidem’inn, ‘that once the itone had fstarted
rolling, itsicareer could not be stdpped. . . . The
workers, and above all those in the large-scale
undertakings, were underfed and a prey to nervous
excitement. There was no calming them. ...
It would have needed a miracle to prevent mijni-
festatipns .on the morrow by the workers of
Berlin.

Helfferich met Scheidemann by chance that even-
ing. ‘If only the Emperor would abdicate to-
day!’ cried the Socialist leader. ‘If not, I cannot
be responsible for the consequences.’ ‘Suppose
he does abHficate; what guarantee can you give
then?” asked Helfferich. Scheidemann replied
with a shrug of, the shoulders.t

Early in the morhing of 9 November, Scheide-
mann put through a cal? to Wahnschaffe, Under-
Sccretary of State at the Chancellery, to ask
whether the Emperor had yet abdicated, Wahn-
schaffe replied that the news of his abdication was
expected 2t any moment. Scleidemann said that
he would wait another hour. ‘If the Other One
does not go, I shall go,” he said. At g &'clock, he
rang the Chancellery again, was informed that
there was still. no news and was asked to wait
until midday. ‘I must ask you’, he said, 'to
announce, my resignation to the Chancellor. 1
will forward it at once in writing .. You tell
me that I should not presipitate matters. I

' Helfferich: Der Iv'eltkrizg, Berlin, 1919,
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tell yéu you sheould not delay until it is too
late,'

The Chancellery soon became aware of the fact
that since 9 o'clock processions of workers were
op the march from all districts. “The revolution
hid befun punctually.’? From 1o o'clock on-
wards news began to pour in detailing the progress
of the movement, After an early telephonjc con-
versation with von Hintze at Spa, Wahnschaffe
made haste to tell Ebert that abdication was as
good as settled, and asked him to suspend the:
manifestations. Ebert went off to see what could
be done, but held out small hopes of the possi-
bility of stopping the disturbances. “The strcets
filled with demonstrators. The workers had
stoppedl work, and some of the troops were
fraternising with them.

Von ‘Payer recounts tlje agitation which pre-
vailed that morning at the Chancellery. At one
time, what looked like a Cabinet meeting would
be in progress; at another, isolated groups would
be fourd in discugsion, ‘There was @' perpetual
coming and going, and people kept drifting in.’

! Scheidemann’s letter ran as follows: ‘Berlin, g November
1918. To the Chancellor. 8ir, 1 have the honour to inform
your Grand-Ducal Highness that I resign my post as Secretary
of State. T have the honour to be, ete. (sgd.) Scheidemann.’—
€onrad Hausmann, who was also Secretary of State, writes
that he was told about g o'clock of the resignation of his Socialist
colleague (Berfine Tageblare, 21 November 1920} Prince
Max states that he was not informed:of it until 11 o'dak.
¥ Von Payer, op. cit.
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At 10,70, von Payer discussed the situatijn with
his fellowWurtemberger, Haudsmann, the¢ Secre-
tary of Stite, who summarised their joint dpinion
as follows:

‘If the Emperor gbdicates, Prince Max must re-
main. The Social Democrats should get*anotlfer
seat in the Cabinct; the Independents mightquc
offered an Under-Secretaryship. If the Emperbr
does not gbdicate, the Cabinet should resign and
declare that it cannot assume the direction of
affairs, as the result of the decisions of the Sove-
reign. In that case, the Kaiser would probably
ahdicate and, in this event, it would be desirable
for Prince Max to remain Chancellor. If the’
Emperor even then refused to abdicate, there
would be only one way to save the Reich from
the Berlin revolution, starvation and Bolshevism
—the Cabinet should assume dictatotial powers.’

And still the expected announcement of abdica-
tion, so e:}gcrl}r awaited at the Chancellery, did
not comerfrom Spd. Prifice Max was cdnvinced
that the revolutionary movement was irresistible.
But he still hoped to be in a position 4o canalise
it ‘in legitimate chtannels’, provided that the
Kaiser’s abdication was announced, the Chan-
cellorship given to the Socialist Ebert, and the
whole nation invited to elect a Constituet
Assembly. In this way he had a ‘faint hope’
of saving the monarchy. ‘Abdication was the,
only method of avoidihg complete ruin.’
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The f:lephonic conversations between the Chan-
cellery and, Spa hid left the Prince withi the firm
conviction that ‘abdication had been virtually
decided and that all that remained was to find
a formula for it.! He was aware that he was pot
formally entitled to publish the news of abdici-
tion without the Emperor’s consent. But he
thought it his duty to publish as an official decision
a resolution which he believed was already agreed,
and to publish it *at the moment when its publica-
tion would have the best effect’. Nevertheless,
although abdication seemed now to be a question
of minutes, he hesitated, ‘in view of the onus of
responsibility involved’.

Simons advised him urgently to take action for
the preservation of the monarchy. It was pos-
sible that the revolution might be stopped at the
last moment by the suddiy knowledge that abdi-
cation was an accomplished fact. Sinzons him-
self said: ‘For me the point at issue was whether
the Government could be handed over peaceably
to Ebert or whether it would pass into theshands
of the Spartacists after a bloody revolution in the
Moscow tnanner. ... [ knew that Ebert was
not in principle an oppenent of monarchy. I

1 As witnesses of the moral certainty jn the Chancellor’s im-
reédiate entourage &3 to the decision which was thought to have
been already taken at Spa, Wahuschaffc appeals to all the high
officials in Berlinuwho were directly concerned:—Solf] the

“Foreign Minister, Walter Simons, Ceunsellors Heilbrona, von
Prittwitz, Riesler, von Bornstedt, ete,
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advised the Prince to stretch every point rpssible
in order to publish the news?of abdication in
time. + . .

After consulting the Ministry of Justice, Simons
drafted a message announcing the Kaiser's abdica-
tion. He then proceeded to the Ministry of the
Interior, to discuss the question of a regency frim
the legal point of view.  Without waiting for His
return, Prince Max communicated Simons’ draft
announcement to the Wolff Bureau at 11.30 a.m.
The Prince was fully aware of the responsibility
he was taking upon himself. He had acted be-
cause the Kaiser had failed to act. The Imperial
reply was siow in coming, he had anticipated it’
because he saw no other means of helping to
save the monarchy. Nevertheless, his, hape was
illusory. It was ow too late to do anything for
the dynasty.

Apart from Simons, the Prince consulted no one
of his colleagues. The Minister of War read the
news in the papers and had no suspicion but that
it had been duly 3nd regulardy announced from
Spa. Wahnschaffe and Prittwitz themselves did
not hear the news until 2 p.m., aZ the very
moment when Admital von Hintze was telephon-
ing from Spa.. Thus, while Wahnscaffe was tele-
phoning to Spa and urging abdication more, in-
sistently .than ever, abdication had been sinde
11.80 an accomplished fact, thanks to the decision
of the Chancellor,

The proclamation communicated to the Walff
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agency by the Chancellor, and, through Wolffsto

the world, .ran as‘follows:

‘9 November —The Kaiser and King has decided
to renounce the throne, The Chancellor remains
irf office until the questiens connected with ‘the
abjlicatiun of the Kaiser, the renunciation of the
Cyuwn Prince of the Germtan Empire and of
Prussia, and the setting-up of the Regency have
been regulated. He intends to propbse tor the
Regent the appointment of Herr Ebert to the
Chancellorship, and the bringing in of a Bill to
enact that zlection writs be immediately issued
for a German Constituent Nationali Assembly.
'This would have to settle finally the future Con-
stitution of the German people; including any
sections df it that might wich to be included
within the Empire. .

‘(Signed) Max, Prince oF Bapew,
‘Imperial Chancellor.

It was not until several weeks later that William
II and the Crown' Prince themselves "gave due
sanction to this proclamation, the former by
abdicating as Emperor and King of Prussia, the
latter by renouncing his rights to the Imperial
and Royal Crowns,?

The following is the text of these Acts, as published by the
Wollf Burcau:

(1) In order to diipate certain misunderstandiags which have
wrisen on the subject of his abdicationp the Emperor William 11
hag, by an irremediable constitutionad act, renoupeed his rights
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Prince dMax’s proclamation was cried by the
newsvendors in the streets of Berlin from midday
onwards. Payer expressed the 'philosopllicview
that if it had succeeded in gaining time, the
Monarchy could ,not complain. But.the prp-
clamation came too late to secure a thtone for
William II's grandson.

L - L

to thiz thron® of Prussiz and to the rights therein implicit to
the Imperial German Crown. The decument in question is as
follows:

‘By these presents, I.renounce for ever my rights to the
throne of Prussia and' the rights therein implicit Yo the Imperial
German Crovn. At the same time, I release all the officials’
of the German Empire and of Prussia, as also all the officers,
non-commiszsioned officers and soldiers of the Prussian navy and
army, and of the contingents of the Confederate Swtes, from the
oath of allegiance which they ook to me as their Emperor,
Eing and Supreme War Lu:c!.

‘Pending the reorganisation of the German Empire, 1 expect
them to assist the & facse rulers of Germany to protect the
German people from the imminent dangers of enarchy, starva-
tion and foreign dominadon,

*Doné and*signed by my own hand,*with the Imperial seal.

*Wirtiam,
‘Amenoxcey, 28 November 1918)

L L L

{2) ‘By these presents, I formally :mdil definitely renounce all
rights to the throne of Prussia and to the Imperial Gepman
Crown of which I might staind possessed, whether as a rebalt
of the abdication of His Majesty the Emperor, or by any other
legal means.

WiLian.
‘Wemncew, 3 December 1918
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About midday? the Social Democratic delegztes
arrived at the Ckancellery—Ebert and Scheide-
mang, £ccompanied by Otto Braun, Gustav Heller
and Fritz Brolat. ‘The Chancellor received them
in the library. With him were von Payer, the
Vice-Chancellor, Solf, the Foreign Minister,
Héussmann, Count Rmdern Secretary of State
for: Finance, and von Bcrnsturﬁ' who had just
been recalled from Canstantmﬂp!e for thé purpose
of conducting negotiations with the United States.
A little later came Simons, and Scheuch the
Minister for War.

“With qui¢t lucidity ® Ebert stated that, in order
to prevent bloodshed, the Social Demdcratic Party
thought it necessary that the Government should
be handed over to men who epjoyed the full
confidence of the people® In this demand the

1 Haussmann says it was 1z o'cidck. Payer says, a little after
midday.

2 These are the words vsed by Payer. Similarly, Haussmann
remarks on ‘the shsolutely quict and Elnas.mt tones’ in which
Ebert put forward a deciz’on which was,none the less, inevitable,

¥ Thus Payer’s account.—In connbetion with this account,
which agrees pampletely with the Memairs of Prince Max, with
Haussmann's article in the Berfiner ng:ﬁ!a.fr of 21 November
1g20, and with the informaton centained in a letter from Solf
to Otro Hammann [ﬁ‘:fd’:r gus der Lerzrew Kairerzeir, Berlin
1922), Vorwdrts of § Jinvary 1922 maintined that Ebert and
hisfriends proceeded to the Cham::]:in:y not to demand power,
but to obtun news of the situation; it was Prince Max himself,
said Farwearts, whothbroposed that Ebert should te Chan::-!lor.
6o glso Conrad Hiinisch maintaing thar Ebert was invied to
become Chancellor (Friedrich Eberl, Kampfe und Ziele, Dresden,
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Independgnt Socialists were in full apgreement
with the Social Democratic majority. Ebert did
not yet know whether the Independents wiuld be
willing to enter the new Government, though he
hoped they would. But he would not reject the
co-operation of representatives of the bdurgeois
Parties.

Prince Max asked Ebert whether he wordld
or could’ guarantee the maintenance of order.
Scheidemapn replied that all the troops in Berlin
had gone over to the Socialists. On Haussmann
demanding proof of this, Scheidemann proposed
that he should satisfy himself by going the round
of the barratks in a motor-car, accompanied by a
Socialist leader.

The Chancellgr reminded his hearers zhat he
had proposed the convocation of a National Con-
stituent Assembly to decide on the tuture Con-
stitution of Germany. Ebert expressed his agree-
ment with the proposal. It is a question whether
he stated that he would himself take the Chan-
cellorship. Payer "dpes fot svemember. Payer
asked Ebert whether it was the intention of the
new Government to exercise its functidns within
the general framework of the Reich. Ebert
replied in the affirmative.

1927). Finally, Pastor Felden, who was a great friead and
admirer of the first President of the German Republic, asserts
that in the forerfoon of g November, at & secrt interview, Prince
Max hepged Ebert to taks the Chancellorship { Eines Memicken
Weg, B:em:uh 1927).
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Prince Max stated that he and hiz Cabinet
would consider the question raised by the Social
Demograts. Hé then withdrew for about a
quarter of an hour to his own room, with some.
qf those present. But there was no proper Cabjnet
meeting and next to no discussion. ‘Discussion
was useless; in actual fact the power already rested
with Ebert.”! Resistance seemed out of the
question. Max of Baden notes that no éne raised
any objection when he proposed to hahd ovér his
office to Ebert.* He pointed out that he had.
offered his resignation two days earlier, and that
the attitud¢ of the troops made it impossible for
the Government any longer to inaintain its
authority.?

The Prince and his colleagues then returned
to Ebert and his friends. - He asked Ebert
whether hé was willing, to assume the post of
Chancellort ‘It is a ﬂeav-_-,r task, but I will
undertake it," was the answer. Solf then asked,
‘Are you prepared to carry on the Government
in accofdance with therConstitution?” ‘Yes,’ said
Ebert. ‘Even with the Monarchy? persisted
Solf. ‘Yesterday’, replied Ebert, ‘I could have
given an unconditional affirmative to this ques-
1 Payer, op. cit, ‘

2 According to Nowdk, it was Salf, the Foreign Minister, who

frst made the proposal.

 Haussmann, article in the Tagedlast, 21 November 1920,

4 Payer does novremember whether Prince Max made any
statement to Ebert. The account,given above follows the
account given by Prince Max in*his Memoirs.
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tiog; to-day I must consult my friends.” Prince
Max endeavoured to press the point: “We must
now solve the question of the egenty.’, ‘It is
too late for that,’ said Ebert; and behind him his
Party delegates repeated in chorus: “Too late, too
latel’” ‘The Monarchy’s day was done.

Thus began the new régime. Ebert was already
addressed as *Chancellor’, and acted as such. Tle
at oncl issued an appeal in which he stated that
Mazx of Batlen had handed over to him the govern-
ment of the Reich, and, through the ready pen of
Conrad Hinisch, he urged calm on the people,
in 2 manifesto signed *Ebert, Chancellor’. Payer
mentions the somewhat lengthy discussions,
among various groups of those present, concern-
ing the Minist?r of War, the Military Goyernor-
ship of Berlin, the.attitude of the troops, and the
convocation of a National Constituens Assembly.

Ebert then sent for repiesentatives of the extreme
Left. Three Independents, Oscar Cohn, Ditt-
mann and Vogtherr, arrived at the Chancellery
‘with an air of tonsiderable embarrassment’?
With them Ebert went into an adjoihing room.
At his request he was accompanied by Payer and
Solf, The brusque tone of the interview is to be
attributed to the fact that two old antagonists,
mortal enemies, were broughtsface to face, ‘In
an imperious tone’ Ebert told the Independ®nts
that the Social Democrats had decided to take
over the government. As Chancillor, he wished

1 Vian Payer.
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to ask them whether they were ready to co-opegate
in the government and to agree to the co-operation
of other Parties. The Independents, ‘who showed
no great signs of confidence’, said that they would,
consult their friends. After giving them a some-
what restricted timelimit for an answer, Ebert
went off to lunch at the Reichstag, where the
deputies of his Party were assembled.

Scheidemann, however, had forestalled him. A
vast crowd of workers and soldiers had pathered in
the Parliament Square, and he had addressed them,
from a window of the Reichstag Building. ‘Com-
rades, he said, ‘the Monarchyehas fallen. The
majority of the garrison has joined us. The
Hehenzollerns have abdicated. Long live the
great German Republic! Fritz Ebert is forming
a new Government from all the Socialist groups.
Our duty és not to let the people’s victory be
sullied, See you to it thaf our security is guaran-
teed and the Republic made safe from any dis-
order! Long live the free German Republic!’
It was about 2 o'glock that Echeidemann, amid
the frantic applause of the niob, thus placed him-
self at the,head of the Revolution and proclaimed
the Republic.?

1 A year later Conrad Haussmann was talking over past events
with his former collergue, Scheidemann. “Scheidemann con-
firpked the fact that on 9 November 1918 he had proclaimed
thie Republic, between 1 and 2 o'clock, after Max of Baden
had handed over the government to Ebert, and, after the datter
had left the Chencellery on his way to the Reichstag. Hauss-
mann attached the utmost impertance to this cardinal quicstion
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Scheidemann thus played the part of dews ex
machina. Ebert was surprised and indignant.
Red with anger he struck the taI;Je, and cried out
to Scheidemann: ‘You had no right to proclaim
the Republicl't But Scheidemann ha«f shown
insight in divining the prevailing currents of
public opinion. Already, from the offices of
Forwdres a2 Council of Workers and Soldiers had
issued a :proclamation headed ‘Long live :-.':'lle
Socialist Republic’.? And about 4 o'clock Karl
Liebknech®, who had on 21 October left the
prison where he had been confined since 1916,
waved the red flag from the historic balcony of
the Schloss, from which Frederick William IV
had bowed humbly to his people in 1848, and
from which, in August 1914, William 1I had
promised his soldiers that they should dll return
to their homes ‘before the leaves fall from the
trees’,

The Empire was bankrupt and disappeared at
a single blow. Ingapable of maintaining itself,
it mad® no attempt st resistance. The cases of

of time. For David had told him that the incider? took place
between 10 and 11 o'clocks “In that case, Scheidemann and
Ebert would have been guilty of the basest form of deceit in
their relations with the Prince and with ws.’ Haussmann notes
this conversation in his private diary, under date of 21 Octuber
1919,

* Philipp Scheidemann; Memoirs of @ Social Democrat, Londen,
1g2g, .

®Ricfard Muller: Die Novamber Reeolusion, Vienna, 1925,
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street-shooting, which took place here gnd there,
and caused one qr two deaths, particularly in the
neighbourhood pf the Schloss, are attributable
solely to misunderstanding of the true situation..
From 1.15 p.m. onwards, processions of workers
had begn filing pash the Chdncellery. At 1.qo
p.m., the first red flag was seen in the Wilhelm-
strasse; it was on a motor lorry on which were
abbut ten soldiers, one civilian and a'machine-
gun. It was greeted with prolonged cheering.
After this, many cars passed decoratéd with red
flags.1

PE;;;'EI goton the telephone to Spa, and personally
explained what had Eappened. He, spoke with
General von Plessen, and then with General
Groner. ‘It was a thankless task,’ he said. ‘I
got the impression, which is confirmed by our
own expertences, that at Spa no one was prepared
for such news. They wére taken completely by
surprise,’ Payer himself does not seem to have
been altogether aware of the true situation, so
quickly were events moving. «He told Helfferich,
whom he saw in the afterfioon, that no change
was intended in the monarchical Constitution; a
regent would be appointed, and there would be
a Cabinet of Social Democrats, with perhaps an
admixture of Independents, though the latter
Jvére opposed to co-operation with the bourgeois
Parties.?

Prince Max*had now lost all his iliusions. His

! Haussmann, gp. cfr. & Heclfferich, gp. &t
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one desife was to leave Berlin. His object was
to meet his wife at Ascherslthen ip Prussian
Saxony, and return to Baden, picking up, on the
way his brothers-in-law,! and the Duke and
Duchess of Brunswick, sob-in-law and daughter
réspectively of the Emperos who for the’last few
minutes had been denouncing him as a traitor.
Between § and 6 D;Ehck, he went to take lehve
of Ebert. He states in his Memoirs that Ebert
pressed hjm to remain, to become ‘Lieutenant-
General of the Reich".2  But he refused. He was
unwilling to co-operate with the Independents,
who were to join the new Government. At the
last, he adjured his successor to do his utmost
for the Reich. ‘I have already given it two sons,’
was Ebert's simple answer,

The following morning Ebert ceased to be
Chancellor and the two Socialist Pasties formed
a Provisional Council of six People’s Commis-
saries, all Socialists—three Majority Socialists,
Ebert, Scheidemann and Landsberg; and three
Independents, Haase, Dittmaa and Barth.

! Havssmann, ap. efr,

*This proposal of Eberts, which was unknown until 1927,
came as a great surprise to'the Socialists, Though he does not
question it, Hermann Mailler sees in it no more than an act of
‘excessive courtesy’ on Ebert’s part. {Article in the Review,
Gesellschaft, 1927, IX.) Max of Baden died on 6 Novelbgr
1929.
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Telephonic Compersations betveen Spa awd Berlin—Hintze's
Communication—{onee vations between Hinize and Waln-
sehaffe, avd Simons av  Pripee Max,

HROUGHOUT the morning of 9 Novem-

ber, the Chancellery, in despair, poured
out telephone message after telephone message.
Its despairing calls were the means of informing
the Emperor's entourage of the disorderly events -
in the Capital and of increasing the despondency
which weighed on Spa. They confirmed the
pessimistic views of General Gréner. This was
admitted even by the Crown Prince.

At the Chancellery, Wahnschaffe, Under-Secre-
tary of State, spent almost the whole morning on
the telephohe. He spoke, not only with Hintze
but with Griinau, Hirschfeld and Schulenburg.
From time to time his place was taken by Pritt-
witz or Simons, who spoke with Griinau, Hirsch-
feld ad GeneraF Groner. Hintze hase since
poured forth the vials of his indignation on the
wretched Wahnschaffe. ‘The telephone was con-

sistently occupied by Herr von Wahnschaffe, who
incessantly urged abdication. . . . “In the name
of the Imperial Government,” he reiterated lds
haught}r insistence, “His Majt:sry must abdi-
cate. . . ." Ogp more than one occasion | pro-
tested ﬂgamst his tone.'

When Max of Baden became Chancellor,
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Arpcld Wahnschaffe had returned to the head-
ship of the Chancellery, which he had held under
Bethmann Hollweg from 1909 to 1917., On
10 July 1917, in a letter to the all~powerﬂll Chief
Quartermaster-General, Lu{endorff, Wahnschafte
referred to a saying which syas current irr Parlia-
mentary circles, and attributed it to Ludendorff:
‘If Bethmann Holliveg remains Chancellor ave
shall lése the war." In the national interest’ he
urged that'Ludendorff should deny the authorship
.of the statement. Ludendorff did not reply until
Bethmann Hollweg had resigned, and then, on
18 July, replied that he did not think it-opportune
to issue a slenial. Wahnschaffe strongly main-
tained his point in a further letter of 21 July.
LudendorﬂP?eHlied on 27 July with a wuiolence
which did not prevent Wahnschaffe frdm return-
ing to the charge for the third time an 31 July.
Finally, Ludendorff complained to Bethmann
Hollweg’s pious successor, and Michaelis notified
Wahnschaffe, who left the Chancellery a few
days later, of the ‘unwarrantable’ tono of his
letters,!

So too now Hintze denounced the ‘vmwarrant-
able’ tone of the telephonic messages with which
Spa was bombarded on 9 November by the

! Schwerdtfeger. In his Memoirs, von Michaclis states that
he would witlingly have collaborated with Wahnschafe, who
was & childhood’s friend; but Wahnschaffeywas determined to
follow, Bethmann Hollweg into retirement, having been his
chief political colleague.
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impatient though legitimate enthusiastn’of «the
Under-Secretary of State to the Chancellery.

Hintze would kave preferred to speak personally
with the Chancellor. He several times asked to
do so, and was prom?sed that he should; but_ the
Chancellor did not, comre to' the telephone; or
rather, he came only after 2.30 p.m., when Spa
héyl been informed of the préclamation published
by'the Wolff Bureau.

The Chancellor’s story is that he tried vainly to
get speech with the Emperor. In support of his.
assertion may be quoted a remark of Major
Niemann,raccording to which an aide-de-camp
came to the Emperor and said that Prince Max
wished to speak with him on the telephone. The
Emperor had just requested Hindenburg and
Groner to supply him with exact information, and
was on hig way to the garden of La Fraincuse.
Niemann’s account leaves it to be supposed that
William II went into the garden in order to avoid
speaking with the Chancellor, and that General
Schulexburg was. privy to This design., “The
Chancellor would only have harassed the Emperor
with a request for abdication’ . . . Schulenburg
warned the Kaiser against.premature decisions.
The military authorities in Berlin should be asked
whether their information was the same as that
of the Chancellor, and nothing should be done
until replies were received from the officers at
the front convened at Spa.’ -

Although the Emperor Jdid not speak with his
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Chanckllbr on the gth, at least Spa had telephonic
communication that day not on]y with the Chan-
cellery, but with officials of the Ministry 1t:vf' War
and of the Foreign Office The officials at Spa
spent the whole morning 3n the tﬁiephcrne, and
it'is really impossible tohccept Ludwig's ciiticisms
that ‘the imperial instrument declined to receive
the tidings of that Ninth of November'.! Never
had the telephone been so incessantly in use.”

Hintze gnd Griinau succeeded one 4nother at
the telephone in the room assigned to the aide-
de-camp on duty, where, during a part of the
conversation, were the two aides-de-camp (Major
von Hirschfeld and Captain von I[lsemann), von
Gontard, the Court Marshal, and General von
Marschall. When any sensational news was
announced, Hintze ran into the garden to keep
the Emperor informed of events.

* - L ]

The conversation of 9 November between Berlin
and Spa would szem to, have begun gbout g
o'clock in the morning with a message the im-
portance of which svas decisive. There is still a
certain mystery about it,

In s Memoirs, Max of Baden refers to a state-
ment made at 9.15 a.m. by von Hintze, who
called up the Chancellery from G.H.Q. ‘The
Supreme Command had resolved to report to
His Majesty at once that in thd event of civil

' Emil Ludwig, WWilk¥lm der Lceeite, Berlin, 1926.
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war the Kaiser would not be able to reckon on
the support of thg armed forces, and that, in view
of the difficultyt of provisioning it, the Army
would not be in a hosition to carry on such
accivil war. Wahnsthaffe's remark, “in these
circumstances therg is no alternative left to
the Kaiser but abdication”, went uncontra-
dicged.’

This account of Prince Max is in complete agree-
ment with the statement published by Wahn-
schaffe himself. ‘About ¢ a.m. Hintze made-
me a most serious communication from G.H.Q.
G.H.Q. was now convinced that the troops at
the front would no longer follow His*Majesty for
the purpose of putting down the troubles in Ger-
many. The Marshal and the Chief Quarter-
master-General had determined so to inform the
Emperor. Hintze and Griinau were about to
proceed to the Marshal for a preliminary dis-
cussion of the conference which would be imme-
diately necessary with His Majesty. 1 at once
said ovir the telephone that in such circum-
stances I saw no further means of avoiding abdi-
cation, [vwas not contradicted.

Hintze, who is clearly amaous to avoid any
personal responsibility, gives a .very different
accpunt in his Nires, which were written befigce
tiie publication of Wahnschaffe's and Prince
Max's observations.

‘In the morning I was called to the telephone.
There was a message frofh the Chancellery for

184



THE NINTH OF WNAVEMBER AT BERLIN

trahsmission to His Majesty. At my request,
von Griinau immediately took notes on the
spot of the communication, which was as
follows:

‘At 9 o'clock a general strike broke out. Nb
confidence can be placed in the troops. Fven the
new troops are unwilling to obey orders,

‘The_ Socialist Secretaries of State, Under
Secretaries, of State and Ministers have left ‘the
Government.

‘Scheidemann, Ebert and others have stated
that they think it possible to maintain peace and
order if the Social Democrats assuihe a pre-
dominant position in the Government. They
wish to come to terms with the Government.
They are opposed to Workers' and, Soldiers
Councils, and wish to carry on the Government
and give seats in the Ministry, as circumitances
may digtate, to the Independents and also to

representatives of other Parties. [t is impossible
to risk a battle.”

It is of little importance whether Admiral von
Hintze tel!ephnnedﬁ on his own accoufit, or was
called to the telephonte although he had not asked
to be put through to Berlin This is a mere
detail. The essential point is that Hintze makes
no mention of his ‘extremely serious’ statement,
of which Wahnschaffe and the Chancellor speak,
nanpely, the decision taken by G.H.Q. to inform
the Emperor that the trodps would not follow
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him in the event of civil war. ‘In commen with
all of us,’, writes Wahnschaffe, ‘the Chancellor
thought that, after Hint2e's communication on
the subject of the attitude of the troops at the
front, the question offabdication, which had been
continually suggested by'telephone and telegram
throughout the previous days, would be taken
into serious consideration in the conference with
His Majesty.’

In his Memoirs, von Payer also mentioned the
important information received from Spa by the-
Chancellery. He confines himself to saying that
it came from G.H.Q., but does not mention
Hintze. Be that as it may, the corimunication
in question was made without the knowledge of the
Emperor or of his most intimate gdviscrs, in par-
ticular, General von Plessen. During the follow-
ing five holrs the people at Spa were discussing
the question whether or no the army would
remain loyal to the Emperor, whereas the Chan-
cellery, on Hintze's information, believed that
this question had already been settled én the
negative.l

A further perusal of Hintze’s Nores throws into
yet stronger relief the contradictions between his
own narrative and the testimony of the officials
at the Chancellery. The point at issue was cleily
thie desire to throw on someone else the respon-
sibility for abdjcation.

When the message from Berlin had been tgans-

1 Nicmann, Repolution von Oden.
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:'i-ibedﬂ Hintze asked with whom he was speaking,
‘When I had repeated the question more than
once,a voice from Berlin replied that Wahnschaffe,
the Under-Secretary of S:ate and Head of the
Chancellery, was at the ocher end of the wire,’
Hintze summarises hissconversation with Wahn-
schaffe in the phrase, ‘The 'streets of Berlin are
running with bloed? Wahnschaffe declared that
that he had used no such language. ‘All those
present in the room from which I was telephoning
to Spa’, he says, ‘declared that neither Simons nor
myself made use of any such expression. 'Griinau,
who was sharingd with Hintze the wogk of tele-
phonic communication between Spa and the
Chancellery, knew nothing of any such ridiculous
exaggeration,” Although the Chancellery had
not, in all probability, transmitted any sbcﬂlarm-
ing formula to Spa, it must be admitted, that it
could hardly announce any news that was not
alarming.

According to Hintze, Wahnschaffe’s statement
was a§ follows: "The streets of Berlin are.running
with blood. The Spandau Artillery, which was
called in, has gone over to the insurgentg, together
with the Third Regiment of the Foot Guards,
and the Battalions of Jigers, who were regarded
as-sorps d'élire.  His Majesty should be informed
of these facts and advised to abdicate.’

Hintze more than once refused to transmit such
news to the’ Emperor until confirmation had been,
recéived from the' competent authorities, He
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asked Wahnschaffe for the sources of i, infor-
mation. ‘Herr Wahnschaffe stated that the mili-
tary authorities had transmitted the news to the
Chancéllery. I asked, what military authorities?
He replied, the Minister of War. I then asked
to speak personally withe the Minister of War,
hu+t he did not come, and I repeated my request in
vain.’

Hintze cut off from the Chancellery and' vainly
tried te put through an urgent call to the Military
Governor of Berlin.  He then visited the Emperor
in order to ‘keep him informed of the information
transmitted by Herr Wahinschaffe, of the doubts
which he had himself raised in connection with
this information, and of the attempts which he
had mgde to check the news’ According to
Hintze, Hindenburg expressed no opinion on
these telephonic communications. But Plessen
loudly approved Hintze's criticisms and accom-
panied him to the telephone box.

‘Herr Wahnschaffe had already rung up again,’
notes th= implacakle von Hinfze, ahnsghaffe,
on the other hand, complaing bitterly of delay in
securing communication with Hintze and Griinau.
Prince Max writes: ‘I shall never forget the agony
of this senseless, inexplicable wait that followed.’
Wahnschaffe had rung up again in order to trans;
pit the latest military news, which was worse than
ever, and concluded as follows: ‘“The Chancellor
urgently begs His Majesty to abdicaté, otherwise
all§s irrevocably lost. Abdication might still Save
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the dynasty.' Hintze ‘flatly refused’ to transmit
any such communication to thg Emperor, and

rotested "energetically’ against the form in,which
it was couched. He asked to be allowed to speak
to the Chancellor. *They promised that 1 should;
but the Chancellor did nbt come to the teléphone.
I told His Majesty the full details.’

From Spa, General von Plessen held several con-
versations with Wahnschaffe, whose place at the
telephone gvas afterwards taken by Scheuch,
Minister of War. According to his own state-
ment,* General Sgheuch reached the Chancellery
about noon, when news of the abdication was
being cried in the streets. On his way through a
room ‘chock full of pecgale‘, he was summoned by
Wahnschaffe, who cried out from the telephone:
‘Herc is the Minister of War,  Carry on with the
call. General von Plessen is on the Eelephone.’
Plessen agked for particulars of the military situa-
tion, ‘I told him', says General Scheuch, ‘of the
attitude of the Fourth Jigers, the Northern Re-
serve, eertain units of the Giiard*and the Jaterbog
Artillery. Inreply to further questions from him,
I told him that the information came fiom news
brought directly to the Ministry of War and from
a detailed communication from the Military
Governor of Berlin, The General expressed a
wish to hear the Governor's account. I did my
utmost to sarisfy him, but I was informed later

' Letter from General Scheych to Wahnschaffe, publishedain
the Deutrche filgemeine Zs::'m.qg of f2 September 1910,
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that no communication could be éétf&bliihed
between (. H.Q), and the Governor.' 2

Hintge was orice more with the Emperor when
he was recalled to the telephone. On this occa--
Eion Wahnschafte pointed out the futility of re-
sistancé and renewed the urgent request of the
Governmeni to the Emperor to abdicate. Hintze
asked if he could speak with the Mirister of War.,
‘Taey promised me that I should, but instead of
the Minister one of his assistants, Lieut.-Colonel
van den Bergh, came to the telephone.’ The
Minister of War had just spoken with General
von Plessen. Van den Bergh, who had already
had a conversation with an officer at G.H.(),, told
Hintze that the casualties at Berlin amounted to
about ithirty or forty killed and ;.wounded. Cer-
tain troops, the Third Regiment of Foot Guards,
the Spandau Artillery an,g a battalion of Jigers®
had gone over to the insurgents, The attitude of
the garrison of Berlin was uncertain. In reply to
questions from Flintze, the Minister's assistant
stated that the Military Goyernor’s staff took the
same view of the situation.

Van den Bergh then spoke with Plessen,
‘General von Plessen was unwilling to belicve

1, General Schulenburg was wrong in stating, in his fast
dilemorandum, that there had been telephonic communication
between Spa and the Miliary Governer of Berlin,

2 Hintze and Piyer speak of the Jigers of Libben. As a
matter of fact, the Jigers in question wore those of Naumburg.
The Jigers of Liibben wiere not at Berlin,
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thut the) Fourth Jagers had refused to obey orders.
He requested me to transmit to the Military
Governor of Eerlin His Majesty; orders to make
an immediate report to His Majesty on the
military situation in Berlin.' 1

I¢ was now about 12.30 p.m. Prince Max had
an hour ago forwarded to tht Wolff Bureau the
note announcing the:Kaiser’s abdication, and was
engaged in lianding over his powers as Chance'jor
to Bbert. But Spa krew nothing of this; no
more did Wahnschaffe, who was tied to his
telephone,

Van den Bergh's information was welcomed by
Hintze, whq states that it created a certain atmos-
phere of hope in the Emperor’s entourage. Gen-
eral von Plessen stated more than once that at the
very least we should wait to see wlat would
happen if the troops fired on the mobi.®

Van den Bergh stated that the majority of the
troops were mutinying, but n::intn::d.J out that in
the streets of Berlin the fighting was not very
serious.? It is truz that he did not add that the

! Report of Lieut.-Colonel van den Bergh to the Ministry of
War, 25 July 1919, quofed in Niemann, Revolution cow Oben.

®The Memnmn:?um_uf 6 April 1919 also takes the view that
Lieut.-Colonel van den Bergh had painted the situation at Berlin
‘in far brighter colours’ than had thes Chancellery, On the
other hand, the Crown Prince notcs in his Memairs that’ the
news transmicted by van den Bergh, ‘which was anything bat
good, tnnﬂrmeﬁd the previous communications of the Govern-
ment,

'Tis point is #lso made In she Memorandum of 27 July 1919.
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very calmness of the revolution was a propf of its
complete tnumph The Imperial régime, which
was already ‘thetancien régime’, made virtually no
resiftarce at all.

Hintze, who was convinced to the contrary, rang
up Wahnschaffe, and asked him how van den
Bergh's information could be reconciled with
what he, Wahnschaffe, had giver. It would
appear after all that the streets of Beilin were not
‘runnipg with blood' Wahnschaffe repliedsthat
he had merely transmitted the military news which
had reached the Chancellery, and with unweary-
ing msmtence began his tale anew. ‘The pressure
here is intolerable. The Chancellor earnestly
begs His Majesty to abdicate, This cntrﬂat}r
should be conveyed at once to His Majesty.’

HintZe conce again asked to speak personally
wita the Chancellor., He was told to wait a
moment and the Chancellor would come; but the
Chancellor did not come. Hintze infofmed the
Emperor of Wahnschaffe's despairing request,
and it was then thpt William IT-decided to abdicate
as Emperor but not as King of Prussia,

While Hintze was with the Emperor he was
called up on the telephone from the Foreign
Office. Captain von llsemann took the call and
transcribed the message from the Wilhelmstrasse,
which was as follows:

‘It is believed that the workers and sbldiers will
this afternoon proclaim a Liebknecht Govern-
ment, The existing Government is powetless
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agamst@such action.  All the troops in the count
have gone over to the Sociahsts. His Excellency
von dem Bussche is of opinion that in Berlin and
the neighbourhood the troops, with one or two
exceptions, will take up a similar attitude. Ha
begs His Excellency voh Hintze to use his influ-
ence to securf the immediate abdication of His
Majestv in gider to 'save the dynasty, which, in
default of such abdication, is certainly beydnd
hope.”

'I]‘;;m complete pessimism of Baron von dem
Bussche was the more remarkable in that, several
weeks carlier, this Under-Secretary of Siate at the
Foreign Office had caused considerable irritation
in Parliamentary circles by his excessive optimism.
The unduly favpurable news which he had com-
municated on 29 September to the Main Com-
mittee of the Reichstag;, on the subject of Austria-
Hungarg and Turkey, had been contradicted by
Stresemann, the National Liberal, and David, the
Social Democrat, had reproached him with show-
ing ‘a complete lack, of political acumen’® in his
ngl:imistir: exaggerations.

on dem Bussche’s cry of anguish azrived too
late to exert any influence on the Emperor’s
decision, which was already taken. William 11
would abdicate as Emperor but not as King: of
Prussia,

While the drafting of this act of.abdication was
being laboriously completed by the combined

! Memeirs of Max of Baden,

193 0



THE FALL OF THE KAISER

efforts of one Admiral and two Generals (Hirrtze,

Schulenburg and Marschall), the Chancellery con-
tinved to showér tclephone calls on Spa. Berlin

stated that ‘it is now a question not of hours but-
Of minutes.? “We were incessantly disturbed in

our work’, writes Hintze, ‘by Herr Wahnschaife,

who continued to repeat, “the Emperor must
abdicate immediately”." General Gchulgnburg,

wko had been at college with Wahnschaffe, went
to the telephone and endeavoured to soothe him
by saying: ‘Definite decisions will shortly be
taken.’

Schulerburg refers in slightly greater detail
to his conversation with Wahnschaife. “Wahn-
schaffe', he said, ‘demanded an act of abdication
withinsa few minutes. I answered that so wvital
a resolution could not be taken in a few minutes.
His Mnjcity had taken his decision, which was
in course of being reduced to writing. The
Government must be patient. In half an hour’s
time the final text would be available.’

Schulénburg’s evidehce is in contradictien with
the repeated assertions of Hintze. ‘Herr Wahn-
schaffe continued to press us, though no one had
said a word on the subject of His Majesty's
decision, I emphasised the impartance of such
tactics on our part, in order not to prejudice ary
Gecision which His Majesty might, take. As
soon as the act-of abdication was drafted, weold
Herr Wahnschaffe that His Majesty was about

! Memoprandum of 27 July 1919,
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to ¢aks a decision, but did not tell him what
that decision was. Herr Wahnschaffe asked for
information on this point, and> I categorigally
refused to give it. | was unwilling to iAdicate
the probable purport of the decision so long as
suth decision had not been finally taken by gl—lis
Majesty.

In point of fact—and this is clear from Schuleh-
burg’s evidénce—the mystery with which Willam
II's Hecisign was surrounded was not so complete
as Hintze makes out, Even before the act of
abdication had been read out, the Chancelle
knew that the Empcrﬂr had abdicatsd. ‘The
impression af everyone at the Chancellery’, writes
Max of Baden, ‘was that at G.H.Q. events
were shaping themselves as they were n3turally
bound to do after the report of the®Supreme
Commanders—i.e. that the Kaiser wis peing to
abdicate We were to receive the text of the
act of abdication within half an hour.' Even
if the telephone communication received by the
Chancgllery had been exactly what Schudenburg
said it was, the Government of the Reich could
give it no other Interpretation than, that the
Emperor had decided to abdicate, and that all
that was now being drafted was the formula in
whith the declaration of abdication should be
clothed.

But Schulenburg’s conversation, cannot have
been the determining factor in inducing the
Chancellor to publisA thesnews of abdication
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through the Wolff Bureau. Chronological exam-
ination of the facts shows that Schulenburg’s con-
versation was certainly posterior to Prince Max"s
decision to publish. Schulenburg telephoned
sfter William II had abdicated as Emperor, that
is to fay, after 1,15 p.m. The Chancellol’s
manifesto was handed to the Wolff Bureau before
midday.

Atfter William 11 had signed the act of abdication
as German Emperor but not as King jof Prussia,
so carefully drawn up by his advisers, Hintze.
called up Wahnschaffe on the telephone—it was
after 2 o’elock—and according to his own evidence
spoke as follows: ‘“Here is His Majesty's decision,
which pleasenote. Iwillreadit.” ‘Before taking the
message,’ he continues, ‘Herr Wahnschaffe wished
to know “whether the Emperor had abdicated.
Without ahswering him I begged him to listen
to the Emperor's declaration. [ was only at the
second sentence when he burst in with the cry:
“But that is ridiculous. The Emperor must also
abdicaté as King® of Prussia. He must.do so
according to constitutional law.” 1 requested
him to hear my message to the end, since it was
a message from the Emperor He finally con-
sented to do so, after several more interruptions.
At.the end he said: “Now listen to me. This is
tie proclamation which we have published.”’

At the very.moment that Wahnschaffe avas
talking to Hintze, Simons or Prittwitz—Wahn-
schaffe cannot remember*which—called out to
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hims that Special editions of the papers were bein
sold arinouncing William I1's abdication both as
Emperor and as King. He wids given the text
ublished by the Wolff Bureau, to which of course
Elintze had} in his turn to listen. ‘The partss,
notes the Crown Prinze, in anger, ‘wcre now
reversed. It.was Berlin whith dictated and His
Excellency von Hintze who had to listen and take
note of what'was said tohim. The ex-Secretary of
State immediately protestedagainst thisprocedure.’

‘Hintze at once asked, “Who published this
message and when was it published?” Herr
Wahnschaffe's reply was not explicit, ] insisted
upon a clear and definite answer and asked to
speak with the Chancellor, After considerable
hesitation, Herr Wahnschaffe made me the fol-
lowing reply, which Herr von Griinau’ noted on
the spot: “This communigué of the Wolff Bureau
has just been published. ~ The decision to publish
it was taken after the news had been received from
G.H.Q. that the Emperor’s decision would be
taken within a few minutes.”

Hintze replied that'it had been announced on the
telephone that a decision was taken, biit that no
allusion had been made to the nature of that
decision. ‘Herr Wahnschaffe replied that that
#vosswhat he had told the Changellor, and that the
Chancellor had replied that it was impossible that
the, decision could be any other than that pub-
lished, after"what had been communicated to His
Majesty, and after what had happened at Berlin.’

197



THE FALL OF THE KAISER

Hintze once again asked to speak to the. Chan-
cellor, and repeated his question, who was
rcs.ﬁmnmblﬂ for publication? ‘Herr Wahnschaffe

teds “Here 1s Herr Simons who will give you
all the necessary information.” It can easily be
understvod why, in prestnce of a situation the
extraordinary cumpﬂcanon of whick he had not
uritil now been in a position to“understand,

Wahnschaffe eagerly abandoned the" telephone,
at which he had practically been postei] since the
beginning of the morning, not to take it up again
that day.

Simons,. who took Wahnschaffe’s place at the
telephone, stated that there was ‘nothing to be
gained' * by the act of partial abdication com-
municated by Hintze. E]r.: deﬁ:qded my publi-
cation of the news to the Admiral,’” writes Max
of Baden. «‘According to the information given
by G.H.Q., we had acted in the firm copviction
that the Emperor had taken an absolute decision
to abdicate. Hintze made out that his telephonic
messages did not“allow of any conclusion, being
drawn as to the nature of His Majesty’s decision.
Simons atserted the contrary. In any case, we
shpuld never have been able to tantcmphtt the
idea of a partial abdication, an idea impossible alike
for political and cbnstitutional reasons.’

Simons then gave over the telephone a some-
what lengthy, gxplanation of the situation in
Berlin: ®

" Memorandum of 27 July 1914, 2 Hintzes Notes.

198



THE NINTH OF NOVEMBER AT BERLIN

‘At Berlin the troops have pone over to the
Social Democrats. The Socialist leaders have
visited the Chancellery and demanded that the

overnment should be transferred to themseives.

he Government is of opinion that the publicatiog
ofcthe news of abdication by the Wolff.Bureau
is the last pogsibility of prescrving any initiative
for the Mon-rchy.

‘The Wold Bureau is already occupied by a
Woskers' and Soldiers’ Council.

‘The Mihistry of War has placed itself at the
disposal of the new Government. It can no
longer rely on the troops and it cannot do without
the new Government if it is to maintain supplies
for the army. The Ministry agrees that a repre-
sentative of the new Government should co-
operate with the Military Governor of Berlin,
and that another representative should be placed
at the Ministry of War. Troops reported as
having fnutinied are: a battalion of Jigers (with
machine-guns), two batteries, several companies
of the Alexander Regiment, the Third Rggiment
of the Guard, and the troops which were guarding
the Sresrinerbahnhaf.

“The Military Governor informs us that he has
no more troops fit for action, and that he can no
longer even protect the public.buildings.

*The new Government gained control of aftairs
between 1 and 2 o'clock.’

Sitnons’ explanations were still insufficient for
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Hintze. He once again asked for Priice NMux,
whom he persisted in calling the Chaacellor,
despite the handing over of power to the ‘new
Goverpment’, and asserted that the Wolff des-
patch was contrary to the Emperor's decision.,
‘Finally', he said, ‘the Chancellor came to the
telephone. I explained to him the yarious objec-
tions which I had already put forward, and asked
kim who had sanctioned the publicatien of this
communigné, when had it been published, <and
who was responsible. After some hesitation and
reflection, Prince Max rephied: “The situation
made it impossible to suppose that any decision
other than that indicated in the commynigué would
be taken by His Majesty. I approved the
communigué after it had been published.”’ In
point of sfact, Prince Max had’ approved the
communigué before publication, but was not anxious
to add yet further to a responsibility the burden
of which he felt already to be crushing. "He con-
fines himself to writing in his Memoirs: ‘At the
other epd my last-moment aftempt to save the
monarchy was looked upon 4s a conp d'étar.
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Prince Max and Wilitam I,

AS a reward for having held the post of
Chancellor through five weeks of stbrm and
stress, Princz Max of Baden suffered the worst
of tribulations and has been unsparingly calum-
niated. He has been compared to Philippe
Egilité! the has been suspected of dark pruts.
and has been accused of ‘felony’.* The accu-
sation was that he wished to ruin the Hohen-
zollerns, either because he was the sor-in-law of
the Duke wof Cumberland, or because, in his
ambition for office, he aspired to the title of
Licutenant-Geperal of the Empire, and even to
the Imperial Crown.?

William II never forgave either the Prince or his
Secretarjes of State, ‘These fellows’, he said,
‘wanted to pet rid of me. . .. But their attitude
was equivocal. They behaved as if they did not
want a republic, without underitanding that their
policy led straight to the republic. Attempts have

! Pommersche Tagespost, 10 October 1918,

¥On 9 August 1919, the Kreuzzeitung commented severely
on the “felonions’ behaviour of Max of Baden, in criticising an
articks which he had written to cxplain his policy on g November
1518, Similarly, the Dewtscde Zeitung represents him as ‘the
man who, by his lying proclamation of abdication, opened the
fload-gates of disaster and ruined the army™

¥ Colanel Schwerdtfeger referred to all these calumnies before
the Committee of Enquiry of the Reichstag.
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often been made to interpret their acts by sayjrpg
that they aimed directly at such-a consummation.
The equivocal gonduct of the Chancellor led
many people to the conclusion that he was working
tg unseat me, in order himself to become Presi-
dent of the Republic, after the intermediate stage
of Lieutenant-General of the Empire. It is cer-
tamly an injustice to Prince Max to father such
calculations on him. Such ideas are wnthinkable
in ah ald princely family of Germany.’

William 1I was convinced that hislast Chancellor,
the ‘destroyer of the Reich', as he calls him,
allowed himself to be out-generalled by the Social
Democrats, who led him completely by the nose.
‘Scheidemann’, he says, ‘kept his cullﬂagucq in the
Mlmstr} 1Enﬂrant of his real intentions, and
pushed ‘the Prince from one stagé to another by
asserting that the Socialist leaders could no longer
control the masses. He thus led the Prince to
desert the Emperor, the Princes and thé Reich.

Later on, he overthrew this feeble “poh-
tician™’

So too the Crown Prince asks with bitter irony:
‘Are there to-day any simple souls who genuinely
believe that the German dynasties would not have
fallen if the Emperor had agreed to abdicate in the
early days of November? or who maintain even
that there was still time during the morning of

9 November, and that the Revolutioh was not
dlrl:l:l'!ld against the Monarchy, but sulely against
the person of the Emperori’
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Te all this Prince Max replies: ‘1 am still con-
vinced that before the évening of 8 November,
and even well on into the forenoolt of g Novempber,
before the mass of the people had sallied dut into
the streets, if the Kaiser had followed the way Jf
safety which I pointed Gut to him, we shodld have
had neither the Revolution nor the Republic of
the Workers' Councils, nor the Kapp Putsch, nor
the murder of Erzberger. I should have heen
able'to lead Germany into the way of peace: The
reforms achieved by my Government would have
been safeguarded, and Germany could have
developed her reforms without breakingswith the
past. . . , There would not now be two Ger-
manies face to face, in opposition under two
different flags.’
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CHAPTER IV
THE ATTITUDE OF THE ARMY



I

Tihe Troops af Ejir.e’:'n—nﬂeuraf von Sedeuch and Gettrmor von
Linsingen.

"TENERAL VON SCHEUCH had become
Minister of War on g October in succession
to General von Stein’who was too much of a Con-
servative td work with the Socialists. Scheych,
who was ag Alsatian, was the Emperor’s pérsonal
choice Long service at the Ministry of War
had given him sqme slight experience of the ways
of Parliaments, and his work as Head of the
Kriegsamt had brought him into touch both with
the business world and the workers. Prince
Max speaks highly of his imperturbable calm,
which, however, did not prevent him’ later on
from challenging Ludendorff to a duel.

In the evening of 7 November, the Chancellor,
together with the War Minister, received General
von Linsingen, the Military Governor of Berlin,
who eypressed his gbsolute conviction of being
able to hold the Capital. The troops at his
disposal were not numerous, but they were
excellent; and he was determined to act with
energy, if not.even with brutality and, if need
were, to use artillery. Scheuch shared Linsin-
gen's confidence. So, too, the next day, Colonel
vons Wrisberg, one of the Goverto=s immediate
subgrdinates, said to the Burgomaster of Berlip,

! Memoirssof Max of Baden,
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the ex-Minister Wermuth: “The tioops in Berlin
are sound and every hour more most depend-
able troops are tbming in."

Unfoitunately, however, the naval mutineers
arrived almost at the same time frcm Hamburg
and Hanover, and the High Comriand became
nervous. In the atterncon of 8 November, von
Linsingen resigned. He had ordered an aero-
plane attack on the trains carrying the 1 msurgcnt
sailors' to Berlin. In some distress, the aviation
authorities appealed to the War Minister, who—
unknown to Linsingen—was ahout to l}e put in
command of all the troops in the interior of Ger-
many, Scheuch cancelled the Governor's dra-
conian order, basing his decision on the instruc-
tions ¢f General von Hoppner, Commander-in-
Chief of the Air Forces, who on g9 October had
deprecated the use of aerananes in any action
where friend and foe could not be distinguished.?

During’ the evening of 8 November, Scheuch
was still optimistic about the, situation. *We in
Berlin'; he said to Prince Max, ‘are garrisoning
a besieged fortress; everything depends on our
holding Berlin. . .. The army must relieve us.'

1 Adelf Wermauth, Ein Beameenieber, Berlin, 1922,

2 The Generals to whom Scheuch appealed in July 1922 as
judzes of his military honour agreed that General von Héppner
kad formally condemned the use of aeroplanes in street fighting.
Scheuch alzo forbade their use for attacks on trains carrying not
only naval mutineers, but peaccable travellers.  But i expressly

rozommended the use against traing, and generally in the seagple
against the Revelution, of-armoured ears,
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Hfs optimism was shared neither by the Chan-
cellor flor by tpe Vice-Chancellor, von Payer, nor
by Wahnschafje, the Under-Secsetary of State at
the Chancalltary, who considered that the troops
in,the interio” of the country were in full proces3
of lemoralisation. They were crumpling ap with
a éjt:rsistenc}r that was most afarming. ‘From all
sides on 8 Novembér we were informed of the
formation of Workers' and Soldiers’ Councils.
The officers were disappearing or merely loo¥in
on, where they were not expelled or maitrcatecﬁ
It was considered good news when it was learned
that a particular body of troops asserted its loyalty,
but stated tRat it would refuse to march against
Germans.” !

In these circymstances, it needed only a Social
Democrat with a loud, strident voice and bf proved
courage, the Deputy Otto Wels, once‘a journey-
man upholsterer in Berlin, to appear, on the
morning of g November, at 8 o'clock, and make
a speech in the drill ground of a Berlin barracks,
for the troops to go over at onct to the cause of
Social Democracy.

A battalion of Jigers had been specially ordered
by Berlin from Finland on 8 November, for the
maintenanceof prder;thesewere the 4th Naumburg
Jdgers, They were housed in the Governmsnt
offices in the Wilhelmstrasse. Even a civilian lika
vone Payer, the Vice-Chancellor, had his doubts,
on the evening of 8 November, as to these troops;

1 Lafer, op. wit,
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they did not seem to him particularly well choden
for the defence of the existing crder. Fle was
notsurprised whtn on the'inorning »f g November
the battalion disbanded itself on \he pretext of
fnsufficient rations. ‘This fearful netws . . . under-
mined ‘the whole fabric of our confidence,’?

About 11 o'clock that morning the journalist,
Colin Rpss, who was attached, as lieutenant of
reserve, to the Press Department of the Foreign
Office, arrived at the Chancellery and there gave
a description of the scenes of fraternisation
between the troops and the demonstrators. At
the same time, David, the Social Democrat,
informed the Chancellor that his Party was doing
everything in its power to placate the mob. It
would be dangerous, he said, to yse arms against
them. Frince Max requested the immediate
attendancé' of the Minister of War, so as to
enable a decision to be taken on the guestion.
Colin Ross telephoned  on his own account to the
Ministry of War that the soldiers must not use
their arms. Forwdrss took a similar step—clear]y
a useful one in time of revolution. Special
editions of the Socialist papet were distributed to
the soldiers, with the caption: ‘No Firing, by
Order of the Chancellor.’

(@n his arrival at the Chancellery Scheuch found.
&cheidemann and the Socialists closeted with

1 Memeirs of Piince Max of Baden.
2 This telephone call would not appear to have inducegd the
War Minister to take & dezision.
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Priice Max. While he was giving his view of
the shtuation, Lieut-Colonel wvan den Bergh
handed him ?.-F’ telephgne messagt from von Lin-
singen, as foliows: “Most of the soldiers rcfuse to
fire on the faob. Soldiers’ Councils have beed
sef up. In shese cifcumstances, should fite-arms
be used? The Governor demands an immediate
answer.'

Scheuch replied that the troops should not fire
unless thedives and property of the citizens were
in danger, or if necessarg for the protection of
public buildings. Scheidemann objected. ‘We
can protect ourselves,” he said. Scheuch main-
tained his osder.

Van den Berph was given the answer: “There
can only be a question of protecting the life and
property of the citizens where directly threatened,
No use is to be made of fire-arms for other objects
than these.’” When van den Bergh transmitted
this order he was answered : “The Goverrtor wishes
‘me to say that the troops will probably now refuse
to shost even for the protectiofl of publit build-
ings." As a matter of fact, without wgiting for
the decision of the War Minister, the Military
Governor had, about midday, issued a General
Order against. the use of fire-arms: “Troops are
not to employ their arms even for the protection
of public buildings.’

e most violent discussions hmve arisen con-
cerping all the militarv orders given and decisions
taken at Berlin on g November. The prohibition
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of the employment of fire-arms would appear°not
to have been decided by the Charcellor and his
Government, Prince Max asserts: that never at
any moment did he either impose or advise any
limitation as regards the use of arms. On the
other hand, he admits that his view was that, with
unsound troops, any attempt at armed resistance
would hdve led to the triumph of the extremists,
Similarly, the Vice-Chancellor Payer holds that
the Governor's prohibition was nectssary and
justified by circumstances. General von Lin--
singen had given on his own initiative an order
which tke Government would itself have given.
‘And so the civil and military authositigs capitu-
lated without a struggle and without any attempt
at resistance,’ 1

The whole story is the usual one of the confusion
inherent in” disaster. It was not until the evening
of 8§ November that the War Minister received
from the’ Emperor the command-in-chief of the
army of the interior, and it ;was not until the
morning of 9 November that the Governor of
Berlin was informed of the decision which placed
him under the orders of the Minister. He had
already resigned, as was announced by the Wolff
Bureau during the evening of the 8th. Apart
froin the War Minister and the Military Gover-
nbr, the officer in command of the Guard had

! Helfferich, ep. efr. He asserts that the Cabinet Fforbade
grmed resistance. e heard this, he said, from a Minister during
the afiernoan of g Novembir.
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istued special orders to the troops in Berlin as
follows: On § November, that they should not
use their arms unless shey wereattacked by the
enemy; on 9 November, that they should pof fire
upless they avere attacked.

Scheidemann takes the view that the revolution
covered von Linsingen ‘with an eternity of ridi-
cule’. As a matter of fact, this old, Generul,
whose ‘very ugliness lent him dignity, and who
was'renowaed for his achievements on the Rudsian
front at the head of his army group, was no more
a figure of fun in Berlin than had been at Kiel
the famous Admiral Souchon, who had capitulated
to the mutingers, or than had been at Hanover the
indomitable General von Hinisch, who had been
made prisoner by his own troops. For a milita
leader there can be no more formidable tfial than
a military revolution. In November g1 almost
the whole of Germany was obsessed with the in-
evitability of the revolution, and this explains the
fact that the change of régime was carried through
§0 caail{' and without any -particularlp violent
upheaval. .Among the elements of the population
who were loyal tos the Kaiser, scarcely anyone
made the slightest attempt at resistance in favour
of the maintenance of the Emperor or the mon-
archy, As von Payer says: ‘Everyone knew that
such an attempt would have been utterly absusd
and therefore criminal; it would have led merely
to useless bloodshed and would have enhanced the
opportunities of theBolshevists and Communists.”
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Tihe Bpa Conference of Officers fFom the Frome—Remwlts and

Criticiims.
N order to convince the Emperor of the neces-
sity of an immediate withdrawal the main argu-
ment emnloyed by G.H.Q. was the testimony
iven aguinst the loyalty of the troops.by ‘officers
rom.the front who had been summoned to Bpa,
G.H.Q. had convened regimental chiefs, briga-
diers and divisional generals, to the total of fifty
officers of high rank, all comnfanding units at
the front. ‘Among 'them were neither army
commanders nor corps commanders ror chief
staff officers nor staff officers.’*  The officers in
questiof k=longed to the army groups commanded
by Prince. Rupprecht of Bavaria, the Crown
Prince, and General von Gallwitz. Neither the
extreme Right nor the extreme Left of the front
was represented, cither because G.H.Q. con-
sidered that these-sectors were too far from Spa,?
or because G.H.Q. feared that they might be to
some extént infected by the revolution® by reason
of the proximity of one sector to Cologne and of
the other sector to Strasburg.
1 Apcount, published if the Crown Prince’s Mearoirs, given by
an, officer who had accompanicd General Schulenburg to Spa,
® 80 says General Kabisch, who wrote two aficles on the
question in the Kd/dcde Zeirsng of 18 Janvaryund 8 February

1922,
8 8uch s the asertion of Nowak.
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©f the fifty officers invited, eleven were unable
to corae as the result either of motor-car break-
downs or other circumstances. Thirty-to arrived
on 9 November before 11 a.m., having madé all
speed to Spa, and were present at an address
grven by Hindenburgs Seven, who arsived a
little later, were in time to answer the questions
put by G.H.Q.

Severil 'of these officers, in particular General
Kabnsch, Major Hiinicken,! and an officer.whose
name is unknown, who accompanied General
Schulenburg, and who, at the request of the
Crown Prince, drafted a statement of the inter-
view which was published in the Crown Prince’s
Memoirs, have described the scene of which they
were the reluctant witnesses. The detailed nature
of their accounts does not preclude a cerfain ten-
denciousness in describing events,

On 8 November, at 10 a.m., General Kabisch
received from his Corps Commander the order
to leave his division, in company with another
officer who was mentioned by name, and to pre-
pare for an absence of several days. He was to
proceed to Army Headquarters, Thefe he was
told that ‘Bolshevism, which was extending its
power over the whole of Germany, was paralysing
all resistance to the enemy’, ard that G.H.Q. yas
anxious to interview representatives of the arrgy

! KMajor Hinicken’s memorandum wad published in the
military review, Areiflerikorps, and appears as an annex to
Niemann's Revolution vog Déen.

215§



THE FALL OF THE KAISER

at the front. At Spa, where he arrived during: the
morning, he heard a major from Wurtember3 state
that South Germany was Jemanding the abdica-
tion of the Kaiser. This intervicw revealed to
kim aa situation which he had not previously sus-
cted.
chake next the account of Major Hiinicken.
Hinicker was a keen fighting soldier, and in
1919 was to form a volunteer corps dn ‘the
Eastzrn marches’. On 8 November, 1918; he
was in'command of a regiment which was en-
camped at Brévilly in the Ardennes. At 1 p.m.
he was called up on the telephone from his
Divisional Staff and ordered to put on his best
uniform and be ready at 4 p.m. A motor-car
would then take him probably to the Crown
Prince, for what reason was unknown. At 7
p.m. he arrived at the Headquarters Staff of his
Army Corps, namely, the First Reserve Corps at
Cugnon in Luxemburg. There he learned that,
with another regimental commander, he was to
be taker to Spa. These two had been chosen
because their regiments had distinguished them-
sclves in"the recent fighting, It was thought
probable that they were to be asked for informa-
tion concerning the peneral situation and the
mortal of the troopé.
They left Cugnon at 4.30 a.m. on g November,
and a few hours Jater ! arrived at Spa. They went
1 Hiinicken says about 10.30. 'This is scarcely likely, because
Hilnicken heard Hindenburg's speech, and, as will be scen
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to the Hotel Britannique where were the offices
of G.H.Q. After showing their papers they were
allowed to enter, and faund themselves in a large
room, the dining-room of the hotel, with about
thirty other officers of high rank. Although tired
after their night journey, which had followed on
several weeks of heavy and continuous fighting,
they were somewhat pleased to have been con-
voked and to feel that they were a! G.H,Q.
‘They were both chilled to the bone and glad to
be in a warm room; but they were also hungry
and were sorry that no lunch appeared to have
been prepared for them.

There was a general recognition of friend by
friend actording as officers recognised one another
in the group. Conversation was carried on, but
almost in a whisper, so great was the general
impatience to know what was toward ‘Conjec-
ture followed conjecture as to the object of the
meeting, The general impression was that it was
prebably connected with the Armistice, which
everyone felt to be imminentd Suddenly, the

encral calm was broken by a General bursting
into the room and.rushing through if, crying:
‘Detestable lies] Everyone here has gone mad.’
It was General Schulenburg.

later, that speech must have been made before 10 a.m.; ualess
on this point<Hiinicken's evidence is superior to that of many
othér witnesses-

! Crown Prince Wilkelm, T2e Memoirs of the Crown Prince
of Gernsany, London, 1930,
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At this point Colonel Heye of GCH.Q. arrived
and called the officers present round him. He
welcomed them qp behalf ¢f the Marshal, who, he
said, would gladly have received them personally
but was detained on urgent busiress by the
Emperer. Heye explained to his hearers the
extreme gravity of sthe situation. Within Ger-
mény itsglf the cry was for«an armistice at any
price. There had been trouble, even in thé army;
many of the categories hitherto excysed from
active service had refused to proceed tothe front,
The Colonel stated that he wished to ask the
officers present two questions, t6 which each of
them should reply individually, after carefully
examining his conscience, and without ‘allowing
himself to be influenced in any manner whatso-
ever,

The questions were as follows:

(1) Hhar is the attitude of the troops to the
Emperor?. Would it be possible’ for the Emperor
to regain comtrol of Germany by force of arms, at
the headeof his trosps? ;

(2) What is the attitude of the troops to Bol-

1 According® to Hinicken, Colonel Heye arrived about 11
o'clock. As a matter of fact, he should have arrived about 1o
o'clock, since Hindenburg spoke to the officers after he did,
elthough, as will be séden later, Hindenburg probably spoke
before 10 o'clock. According to Kabisch, Colonel Heye arrived
‘shortdy before 10 o'clock’. The officer who saccompanied
Schulenburg, whose®account has been published in the Crdwn
Prince's Memoirs, states that Heye started to speak aboyt 9
o'clock, and that the mectinz was £2pd for ¢ a.m.
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shewiom?  HWould they march against the Bolshevists
in Gemany?.

Heye had scarcely fifiished rgading out these
questions when, contrary to his previous announce-
ment, Hindenburg arrived. On orders given, the

roup of officers gathered round the Marshal,

rderly officers, on duty at the doors, indicated
that the doors were docked and that tho meetihg
was private,

The Marshal then addressed the meeiing.?
He warmly thanked the assembled officers for
their help, and explained the situation. The
revolution, he said, had broken out in Germany.
The Kaiser’s abdication was demanded. G.H.Q).
hoped to be able to oppose the demand, provided
it could obtaig from the army the support and
the guarantees necessary to enable it to take action.
Hipdenburg explained the Emperor’s personal
views qn the situation. ‘The question to be con-
sidered’, he said, ‘is whether His Majesty is in
a position to march to Berlin at the head of his
troops,,there to reggin possession of the Imperial
and Royal Crown. In such circumstances a
right-about-face would be necessary, and contact
with the enemy, who would naturally continue

! The officer {(name unknown) who accompanied Schulenburg,
whose memorandum of the meeting is reproduced in Tie
Memirs of she Croon Prince of Germany, London, 1922, makes
na mention of any specch by Heye previous to Hindenburg's
arrival. But Hunicken’s account, which i far more detailed,
makgs Heye speak before Hindenburg arrived, and his evidence,
which is confirmed by Kildsch, would seem to be conclusive.
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the pursuit, would have to be broken. The objéct
would be to reach Berlin by a series of marches
during two or three week{ of continuous fighting.
The rjilways could not be relied upen.'t The
railways, telegraphs, supply depots: and Rhine
bridge-hieads were in the hands of the insurgerns.
The supplies of the army were by no means in-
exnausuble. If the insurgents cut off supplies,
the army' was threatened with starvation.

In these unhappy circumstances thg Maishal
expected the officers to do everything in their

wer to maintain the strictest discipline. He
relied op them, and wished to make them person-
ally responsible for doing their duty to the end,
as he was doing it. Whatever happened, he him-
self woyld remain at the head of thg-army and lead
it back im0 Germany.?

Major Hiinicken describes this unforgettable
scene with much emotion. There stood hig former
Corps-Commander, Hindenburg, whom he had
not seen since 1910, with a face of a sickly greyish
pallor, profoundly serious and sad. His fists were

1 Schulenburg’s Memorandum of 26 August 1919, Schulen-
burg says thit his account iz that of two witnesses.

2 Schulenburg's Memorandum of 7 December 1918, —The
General's account is taken from a witness. According to Major
Hitpicken, the Marshai showed how the commissariat af the
army would be compromised if the supply depbts on the lines
of communication and in the interior of the %country were
pillaged. The railways could no longer be relizd upon for the
transport of food or munitions.

# Hiinicken,
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tigh«ly, almost conwulsively clenched; his eyes
were ¥2d, no doubt with tears. By his side stood
Groner, impassive and unfathgmable, Behind
them, General von Plessen could no Jonger
restrain his itears and was holding his handker-
chief to his eyes.

After his address, the Marshal and his escort
left the room. It is'certain that his spkech whs
not a long ‘one.! It was not his custom’ to make
long speeches.  But what he did say told, Major
Hiinicken says the impression created by Colonel
Heye's altogether unexpected speech was made
yet more arresting by Hindenburg's intervention.
“There was 3 silence as of the tomb,” he says;
‘not a movement, not a whisper. Each of us
looked about~for some seat or secluded corner,
ta think over what we had been told and to reflect
on a situation of which we had hitherto known

! In the"Memorandum published in the Press on 27 July 1914,
which is a narrative the sccuracy of which is pudranteed by
Hindenburg himself, it js stated merely that, before waiting on
His Majgsty, the Marshyl hastily greetéd the officers, all of
whom had not yet arrived. In point of fact, Hindenburg did
make a statement, although a brief one, on the general sitvation.
He could not bave spoken at any great length. It%would scem
certain that the conference with the Emperor, at which he was
present, began about 10 o'clock. Thus is the tesimony of
Majot Niemann, who was walking with the Emperor inythe
gerden of La Fraineuse when the Marshal was announced. So
too the impoftant Memorandum of 27 July 1919 fixes the
beginning of thé conference with the Emperor at 10 o'clock,
In bs report of 26 Auguy 1919, Schulenburg wrote: ‘abant
12 o'clock’.
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nothing.! General Kabisch got the impression
from Hipdenburg’s speech that the Marshal
thought. that any resistance would be uscless.
An offcer who had just listened to the Marshal
said to Schulenburg: ‘The situations was painted
for us in such gloomy colours that it could "be
predicted what the officers would say—namely,
that the army did not want civil war.'t Later,
two witnesses added: “The situation “which was
the Faison d'éire of the Marshal’s quastions was
so desperate that a reply favourable to His.

Majesty could hardly be expected. In such cir-
cumstarces it was impossible for the army to be
with the Emperor,” One of these officers was the
officer whose memorandum is reproduced in the
Crown Prince's Memeirs. e regrets bitterly that
the Marshal, who was universally honoured as.s.
great leadér, should have been compelled to show
himself ‘in so paltry an attitude, which,.in any
view of the situation, differed absolutely from
what we had expected and hpped of him’ He
deploret] the glodmy picture of the situation which
Hindenhurg had painted, ‘filling in all the details
himself",

1 Schulenburg secms to think that this confidence was made
to him before the meeting with the Emperor, at which he was
preeznt with Hindenburg, This seems very unlikely. Schulen-
brirg had passed through the room in which the officers were
assembled before Hindenburg made his speech.® This appears
from Major Hilnicken's narrative. After miking his speech
Ilindenburg proceeded immediately, to the conference with the
Emperor at which Schuleftburg was present.
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Gradually the officers began to form themselves
into groups and exchanged their gloomy impres-
sions. The consternation of zll present was
general, amounting almost to complete and utter
callapse. There was general indignation against
the insurgents, and vows were registeredsto pay
them out one day for their treason.

An officerfrom G.H.(Q.! asked to be allowed to
speak, ‘in order to explain the situation, "since,
judging by their comments, the officers present
did not seem to know or understind it With
brutal frankness 'he detailed the triumphant pro-
gress of the insurrection. At Kiel the Navy had
mutinied. Hamburg, Libeck, Cologne and the
greater part of, Germany was in the hands of the
insurgents, who held all the Rhine bricge-heads.
‘T'he troops in the rear were retreating ia disorder,
and some of them had gone over to the Revolu-
tion., The supply and munitions depdts were
being pillaged. Telephonic and telegraphic com-
munication with the rear was aimost completely
interrupted. The King of Bavaria and the Duke
of Brunswick had already abdicated. <A% Berlin
civil war might break out at any moment. The
troops at the front were supplied with food and
munstions for a few days only. The army was

1 Major Hitnicken cxpresses somewhat bitter regret that hie
does fiot know thz name of this officer. It whs probably Major
-von Jtilpnagel, whom General Kabisch records as having taken
part in the discussion,
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threatened with a great disaster.! The collapse
of Austria has made the military situatica des-
perate. The Itglians aré' in a position to invade
South Germany and we have no reserves to send
Against them. 'We must accept an armistice-what-
ever its terms may be. #We are at the enemy’s
mercy.'?
- - »

Thus the last illusions of the assembled officers
weres dissipated. Then began the interrogation
for the purpose of which they had been summoned,
to Spa. It was about half-past eleven. One point
made by Major Hiinicken is worthy of emphasis:
most of the officers thought out their replics by
themselves, and did not converse about it with
their nearest neighbours or tak¢-advice. This
detail makes their evidence yet more important,

In twos and threes the officers passed in order
into an adjoining room where Colonel Heve noted
their statements. The first to be called were the
officers of the army group of Prince Rupprecht
of Bavaria.

Major Hiinicken went in with a General and
another-:Major, These latter had just been
questioned and Hiinicken’s examination was be-
ginning when, about 12.30 p.m.,, several officers
arrived in a state of great excuement losking
vrgently for Colonel Heye, who was wanted by
1 Hinicken,

280 Kabisch, who summarsies thus the staterzents of Heye
and Sm]pnagcl
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Hmdenburg. Heye andwered that he had still
to collect the replies of about a quarter of the
assembled officers, and’that he -would come as
soon as he had done so. Shortly afterwards, a
staff-officer grrived. Colonel Heye was to wait
at ence upon the Emperor. Asking the General
whom he had just interrogated to carry on with
the examination of the other officers, ?fcye: took
with hifh the notes concerning the replics alrcady
recerved, and left hurriedly for La Frainause.
According to his statement made later, he was
unaware that the subject of discussion at La
Fraineuse was the Kaiser's abdication,

The results of the officers’ Referendum were as
follows:

(1) Hould inde possible for the Emperor 1y regain
wontrol of Germany by force of arms, at tAe head of
his troops?

One officer only was of this opinion, while
twenty-three expressed the contrary view. Fif-
teen replics were ambiguous. Among the latter,
Hinicken held that the troopy would :remain
loyal to ghe Emperor and that th:g would un-
doubtedly fight a fareign enemy, if wrid were;
but that they would need rest and ‘moral prepara-
tion’ before beginning a struggle against an enemy
on the ‘home front’.

(2) Hould the troops march against the Bolsheviss
in Germany?

Ei'ght ofhcers thought that they would not.
Nideteen were doubtfal of the attitude their men
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would adopt to Bolshevism. Twelve, of whom
Hiinicken was one, thought that a period of rest
was indispensable in order to prepare the men
for the struggle, which could be undertaken under
the most favourable conditions if the security of
their homes and families appeared to be threat-
ened.

Major Hiinicken thought that the answers given
might hive been other than they were if an army
lead.r such as the impetuous General Schulenburg
had appealed to the enthusiasm of the officers,
Fe was sure that they would have been favourable
if the Emperor himself had apheared and made
an appeal to their loyalty.

At the close of the interrogation the officers took
a solemn oath to maintain absolute silence as to
what had occurred. Colonel Heye had explicitly
stated that ‘no one should speak of the business
even with other officers. At the end of the meet-
ing the senior officer present would receive the
word ef honour on this point of all who had been

resent.’! Ewvents were soon to release the officers
E—om their oath, Max of Baden hpd already
issued<tl;z news of the Emperor’s abdication.

Luncheon, offered by G.H.Q., began about 2
o'clock. ‘Naturally enough, the only talk at lunch
was of the Emperor, the armistice and the gloomy

1 Hipicken. According to Nowak, one of the officers present
urged secrecy ‘so that there may be no possivle chance of the
Emperor's being accused of fomenting civil war'. According to
Kabisch, it was Hindenbyrg hims81f wlo imposed secrecy.

226



THE AJTITUDE OF THE ARMY

prespects for the future.?? . The extreme depres-
sion which prevailed at table was yet further
accentuated when news’arrived of William II's
abdication and of events at Berlin., Nevertheless,
it was, ‘astonishing’ to what an extent these officers?
whe in the mnrnin%lhad-b-ccn ‘extremely depressed
both morally and physically’, row appeared ‘differ-
ent men in the afterneon when, after a redt, a wadh
and sothe food, they talked over theirycigars'®
After lunch the party broke up, some retumning
to the front immediately, while others postponed
their departure until the following day.
* * *

This meeting, which would seem to be unpre-
cedented T the history of the German army, has
been severcly. criticised. General Schulenburg
was not disposed to trust to the judgment of
officers who, coming from the front, where they
received next to no information of events in the
outside world, were suddenly confronted. with the
most alarming news. They were all under the
impression of the retreat which the Germon army
was at the moment carrying out, and they arrived
at Spa numbed with cold after a mosi-Stiguing
night-journey. 'Their physical and moral condi-
tion cannot have been without influence on their
judgment.’

One of Schulenburg’s companions—the officer

1 Hiinicken,
2 Crown Prince Willielm, Ths Mewsirs of the Cromwn Prince
of Gerarany, London, 19237
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from whom the Crown Prince took his inferma-
tion—also deseribes the utter demoralisation of
the officers, whe were thus 'an easy prey to dis-
couragement and pessimism’.  Almost all of them
Rad come straight from depressing ang exhausting
fighting, which had beesn going on for wecks.
Dr%any of them hady lightly clad, just come off a
night-journey of several hundred kilometres in an
open cart ‘They knew nothing of thé general
situation and could only accept blindly the unduly
unfavourable information current at S5pa, and,
could make no attempt to pick the simple truth
out of so confusing an embroidery.

Major Htiinicken also condemns the meeting,
to which he had himself been summoned. He
criticises the questionnaire, above al] for its political
character. It was clear that the one object of
G.H.Q. was to cover itself. The vc? idea of
the meeting was unsound. The soldiers who
took part in it had formed the habit of receiving
clear and precise orders, and of carrying them out
to the bast of their ability, with the most gbsolute
confidenge in their leaders. The wholg order of
things v 2ow reversed ; the High Command was
asking for the advice of its subordinates. “The
right course would have been to ask for the impos-
sible from above, if the best possible results were
tc be obtained, The difficulties were there to be
overcome.’

General Kabisch took the same view. The rank
and file of the army should receive its inspiration
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fromeabove, and should fiot be expected to inspire
the High Command. He regretted that he had
not answered G.H.Q. as followst *We are nat in
the army to give advice, but to carry oyt your
orders. Order us to sacrifice our lives to main-
taih discipline, and we are ready to do so, But
we cannot and will not express opinions on
p-::aliticadl questions. You should not thfow on'to
us a responsibility which is wholly yours,’

The Crown Prince himself rebukes G.H:2. for
having hastily summoned a ‘council’ of officers
from the front, 'without the authorisation of the
army group and army commanders’. And the
unknown officer who supplied the Crown Prince
with his information would have preferred to see
the Chiefs of, Staff of the various armies Sum-
moned. He considered that to hear the officers
from the front without the knowledge of their
respective staffs was a picce of incomprehensible
negligence., “Was G.H.Q. by any chance afraid
of the views of the Corps-Commanders and the
Chiefs.of Staff? There was nb reasonefor any
such fecs' .

Hintze would notappear to share thiview. In
the report which he drew up a few weeks later
for the Minister of the Roval Houschold, he
called the meeting of officers from the front a
‘military Parliament’ (Milizarpariament, Armie-
patlament), and added that he used this term in
no. critical sense. He left it to be understood
that, in such tragi ¢ircurastances, it might well
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be thought desirable not to have recourse to the
army groups or armies, if the real spirit of the
tropps was to be discovered. Until g9 November
the official reports had becn ‘cowlenr de rose’
They described the troops as sound and -their
moral fs excellent, with rare exceptions: e.g. the
18th Landwehr Division and the 6th Bavarian
Division, which had refused to fight.

It is vnderstandable therefore that G.H.Q.
shouid have wished to short-circuit the army
staffs, and obtain information, as Hindenburg puts.
it in his Memoirs, from ‘a number of officers in
command of Jarge units, men of the soundest
judgment and worthy of all confidence’.
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The Army at the Front and the Troops at Spa—General Griner's
Pasirion,

THE question whether the troops at the front,
in general, and those at Spa, in particular,
were or were not loyal, has been the subject 'of
the most* heated argument. The oppanents of
abdication, have reproached G.H.Q. for-being
more alarmist than accurate. The various units
traduced have found defenders to assert the
excellance of their moral. None the less, the
evidence proffered by G.H.Q can hardly be
questioned. The moral of the army was growing
daily worse.

As early as 4 November, after the last review
held by the Kaiser, some unfortunatz incidents
were reported. The Kaiser had visitad the ath
Army, which was under the command of General
Sixt von Arnim, in the army group of Rupprecht
of Bawvaria, and had conferre¢ decorations on
soldiers.chosen from fourteen different divisions.
On his way back it was noticed that.i;wong the
troops whom the Imperial party met there was
‘an atmosphere of studied aloofness, cold looks,
and even marked disaffection’. ‘The troops hardly
troubled to give the customary salute.! William

L ﬁicmann, Kiirer und Peoslation ~—Restor F.—In his Memoirs,
William IT makes no a]iufiun to this ‘cbverse of the medal’,
He confines himself to suig that he was ‘everywhere joyfully
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II reports the unafiimows evidence of the arthy
commanders: although the troops at the front
were still well discip ined, the same was not the
case with the troops in Germany itself, and soldiers
came back from leave in a very bad frame of mind..

On g November, on his way to Spa, the Crown
Prince came across ‘men worn to skin and bone,
fuli of wietchedness and resentment, locking as
if they wpuld never again find any hepe’or joy
in lifesr. . . These scarecrows of men crushed
under the weight of Goed knows what horror,
were our soldiers of yesterday. Clenched fists and
muttered oaths were only too sure indications of
the new mentality that had conquered part at
least of our army, which had once been so proud
of its impeccable correctitude.’

* » *

The troops at Spa numbered about §,000, to-
gether with about soo officers at G.H.Q,. One
battalion—the Rohr battalion—was on guard
duty at Imperial Headquarters. A battalion
officer, Lieutenant Count Ebephard von Schwerin,,
has reproached General Griner for having sug-
gested deyhts in the mind ef the Emperor and
of G.H.Q., as to the reliability of this unit.* ‘The
saluted by both officers and soldiers’. A Sayon regiment was
particularly enthusiastic:

1 Sehwerin tells the following story in explanation of General
Groner's mistrust. There was a certain sentry-post near the
General's villa, “Ofie of our men, who was asquainted with
sentry-duty,as men are in garrison work in the interior, lefi his
poit for a few moments, and, was surgrised by the General.
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first Soldiers’ Council furmec® at Spa urged that
the bgttalion should be disarmed and threatened
to cut off its supplies.

Nevertheless, the apprehensions of G.H.Q.
would seem to have been in great part jubtifiect
O 9 November, after about 4.30 p.m., the
majority of the rank and file-ceased to salutc the
officers, and formed groups in the streels of Spa.
So, too, the soldiers attached to various staff head-
quarters in the town gave proof of a very bad
spirit.! 1n the evening ‘there was considerable
unrest. Groups of soldiers stood about talking
and gesticulating wildly; officers hurried here
and there; while the Belgians looked on in ironical
curiosity. The streets were filled with motor
lorries, fire-atms were being unloaded before the
offices of the staft. General Gréner had given
instructions for each block of buildings to be put
in a sfate of defence. On the Imperial train the
wildest rumours were current as to the imminence
of an attack by the mutineers. The Second-in-
Command of Iimperial Headquarters painted the
situatior aswashiscustom,in thedarkest colours.™
1 Hinicken.

3 Miemann: Kefser und Reoslution.~The Second-in-Command
at Imperial Headquarters was Baron von Milochhaosen, who,
as has been stated, swaited on the Ediperor and Hindenburg
during the afternoon. Lieutenant von Schwerin speaks of him
as a chief *fll of understanding and amiability”. He saw
Manchhausen hgain about g p.m, Minchhausen indignantly

deglared that he would not *have anything 1w do with it’, and
that he had resigned from the arry.
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A Boldiers’ Courfcil was set up even before
William II's departure during the night of g—10
November. It was composed of the motor-car
staff and of the sailors attached to the Wireless
Servicd! On the morning of the r1oth, the
services in question ceasad to operate. ‘I was
extremely surprised that even at G.H.Q., with
its*hundréds of officers, the Soldiers’ Council had
been able so soon to seize power.'*  On the even-
ing of the 1oth, certain soldiers of the Rohr
battalion took part in a mecting of the Council.
On the 11th the Rohr battalion had its own
Council, and G.H.Q. officially “recognised the
Soldiers’ Councils in order to avoid disturbances.
There had at one time been a possibility that all
the efficers at G.H.Q. might be arrested by the
Councils,® Discipline deteriorated still further as
a result-of these events, and for several days may
be said to have disappeared altogether.

Erzberger, who passed through Spa during the
morning of 12 November, noted that ‘the soldiers
did not salute their officers and the motor-cars,
were carrying red flags. . . . The officers’ epaul-

1 Bchwerifde=¥i rcording to Schwerin, G.H.), issued inform-
ation as early as the evening of 7 November that a Soldiers’
Council was in course of formation at Spa. Schwerin aszerts
that the information was unfounded.

2 Restorff.—Restorft left Spa on the afternoon of the 1oth.
Hé crideises G.H.Q. for not having made the slightest attempt
to protect itself apgainst the Scldiers” Councils, 3nd for having
g0 quickly accepted the view that their eupremacy was some-
thing inevitable. 3 Erzberger, op. cit.
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etfesehad been removed.” Mass desertion was
quite common. ‘“The trains were crowded with
soldiers standing on the footbrards and seated
on the roofs of the carriages.” Erzberger con-
cludes: ‘Simjlar scenes were witnessed in Kussia.'
* L L
One division which was supposed tq be par-
ticularly sound had been established since’
November in the neighbourhood of Verviers.
Its missian was to protect G.H.Q. agarnst a
revolutionary movement directed, from Aix-la-
Chapelle and Cologne, and even! to force the
Rhine crossings and retake Cologne. This was
the Second Division of the Guard. At the con-
ference held during the evening of § November,
General Groner stated that the division ~ould no
longer-be relied upon and would no lenger obey
itsofficers. In his Memoirs Max of Baden dttaches
great émportance to the defection of this divisien.
Schulenburg admits that the division had not
fulfilled the hopes entertained of it, but adds that
this was hnrd?y surprising. The troops were
physicalissand morally exhausted by uninterrupted
ﬁ% ting, and unfitted for so difficids 3 task.
eneral von Friedeburg, who commanded the

Second Division of the Guard, has denied all the
stattments concerning the revolutionary attitude
of his troops;® he asserts that his men held cut
! According t& Mex of Baden.

*fGenerel von Friedeburp’s denial was not published unti] 1
Augast1g27  Irwill be found in Miemann®s Repodesion pon Oden.
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against the general revolutionary infectionsuntil
10 November. His account is a marvellous
picture not only of the really desperate situation
of hiql_divisiun, but alse of the universal dis-
orgamsation,

“The smost recent battles had eaten up the Best
of the troops. . . . The men's clothing was torn,
their equipment defective, and the men themselves
were apathetic and worn out. The eftettives were
reduéed to a minimum, infantry regiments con-
tained no more than two battalions of 200 men,
and only some of the guns had artillerymen to
serve tkem.! On § November the transport of
the division towards the German frontier was
begun, The earlier trains left at the appointed
time, but for the later trains there was a wait
of twenty-four or thirty-six hours, sometimes
through the night and under rain.  “Trains passed
decorated with red flags. In the stationz were
undisciplined hordes of men who were anxious
only to return to Germany.... A portion of
the railwaymen ‘were on strike and the soldiers
had themselves to make up the train=- Some-
times thesway had to be cleared by a threat from
the machine-guns.’

The division did some work in resisting pillage
by the men of other units. At the railway stdtion
at Liege they repulsed by force a crowd of leader-
less soldiers, partly drunk, who wizshed to take
by assault the train which was occupied by a
detachment of the .division. ‘At Herbesthal
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station trains passed decoratedwith red flags and
filled with a howling mob. Thousands of leader-
less soldiers were crowded in the station in an
attermmpt to return to Germany, and greater or
smaller groups of soldiers could be seen without
officers and in disorden, passing :ﬂang ths roads
on their way back to German}r

Even if ¢he above account proves that until
1o November the Second Division of the Guard
remained stoically at its post in the midst of the

eneral flood of demoralisation, it would seem
that G.H.Q.’s and General Groner's pegsimism
was not without foundation.

In view of the furious criticisms with which
he was assailed after 9 November 1918, Groner
appealed in 1922 to a Court of Honowyr against
one of his most violent traducers, Gensral-Count
von Waldersee. This Court, which was com-
posed of Generals von Boehn, von Below, von
Khl, von Held, von Ziethen, Johow, von Hiilsen,
Finck yon FincKepstein, and svon Eisenhardt
Rothe and Colonel Grautoff, satisfied itself that
‘the accusations braught by General Count von
Waldersee against the general mentality of General
Groner and the motives which determined his
action are unjustified. In the most difficult cir-
cumstances, General Gréner acted according to
his conscichge and conviction, helding that thus
he could best serve the interests of his country.’

Eight months after'che events of g November,
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at an aimost equally kragic moment, General
Groner was to act as he had acted on g November
1918, The question at issue was whether the
Treaty of Peace was to be accepted. On behalf
of the officers of the Rcicl-lswchr, General
Maercker, whose duty it was to protect «the
National Assembly, stated that if the peace was
actepted the Reichswehr woyld no longer support
the Government and could no longer he respon-
sible far the maintenance of order. ‘This', writes
Erzberger, ‘was the first military revolt of officers
in the new German Republic. No other descrip-
tion can, be given of the attitude which the officers
took up at this juncture. The critical moment
seemed to have arrived for Germany : the dilemma
between anarchy in the event of signature and
anarchy in the event of non-signature” At this
moment, during the night of 22 June 1919,
Erzberges, received a telegram from the Chief
Quartermaster-General, Groner. In it the Gen-
eral stated that, ‘speaking not as an officer but as
a German', he cpnsidered it gbsolutely necessary
that the Treaty of Peaceshould besigned. :After
that,’ adds Erzberger, ‘there iwas some hope that
anarchy could be averted if the Government main-
taihed a firm attitude.’
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T ke j’mmqr to Holland—* Death in Jr.rfaa?'a—{:!rman
Commenss.

N his Memoirs William 1I gives an exttemely

summary account of the events of g Newvember.?
His main object is tu justify his decision to go to
Holland., I wished to save my people from civil
war. . . . All my advisers recommended me to
-proceed to a neutral country in crder to avoid
civil war. . . . [ was subjected to a fearful inter-
nal struggle. As a soldier, I revolted against the
idea of dgserting the brave troops who were still

1In a footnote William 11 refers the reader for an account of
*this fatal day’ and the preceding days to the *notewertdy account
published by Major Niemann', In the few pages which he
devotes to the events of g Novemnber he adopts the following plan:

1. Duting the morning Max of Baden informs the Emperor
of the necessity of abdication (g lines);

z. In the presence of Schulenburg and the Crown Prince
Griner states that the armgy cannot continue to fight Ge 3 lines);
*3. During this conference telephone call follows telephone call
from Berlin Samphasising the growing danger of* revolution
(B lines);

4. William IT decides to abdicate as Emperor but not as King
(B lines in justification of this decision);

5. From Berlin the Chancellery replich that complete abdica-
ton has been proclaimed (one page devoted to reproaches
addressed to the Chancellor);

6. All the Emperor's advisers recommena him to proceed to
Helland (2 pages in justification of the departure to Holland
as the least of various evils)
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loyal to me. On the other hand, there was the
declaration of my enemies, who were unwilling to
conclude with me a peace which would be toler-
able for Germany, and my own Government's asser-
Yion thiat only my departure for a foreign country could
avert &vil war.

There would seem:to be no trace of this assertion
of the German Government, in the despatches or
messages addressed by Berlin to Spa..- [t is cer-
tain <hat the Government hcggeg and prayed
William II to abdicate, but it did not request
him to leave Germany, and this is in particular
the decision—{evasit, erupit, excessit, abiity—
which has been made the subject of the bitterest
reproaches against the Kaiser, as a deféction and
a desertion such as to discredit him for ever in
the eyes of his people. It is therefore of interest
to exzmine closely the conditions under which
this decision was taken,

Before he took down from William's dictation
his message of abdication as Engmmr, von Hintze
had never heard.the Kaiser allude to such a possi-
bility, and states that he was surprised at the
Emperor’s sudden change of front. sut he also
recalls the conversation which he had with
Griinau when, after the Imperial decisivn, the
two of them left 1.a Fraineuse; it would appear
that the Emperor had for several days discussed
the question of abdication with his entourage and
was prepared, if necessary, to abdicate as Emperor.
Clearly Max of Baden had not altogether wasted
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his.breath in talking of ahdication to the Zmperor.
The idea was not now so far from the Emperor's
thoughts that it was impossible for him' to resign
himself to it. But although William II had lost
almast all hope of remaining Emperor, he thought
that he could still remain King of Prussia. He
was tinwilling to degrade himself either too far or
too soon. \

Later on in Holland, the Emperor stated to
Niemann that since the end of October it had
been cleat to him that he would have to sacrifice
himself. In his Memoirs he also taises his final
decision “to the hicights of a sacrifice’. ‘1 left all
personal considerations in the background. I
knowingly sacrificed my person and my throne
with the idea that so I could best servethe
interests of my dear country. Germany had had
enough of war. She must be spared givil. war."

So too the Crown Prince, in his Memojrs, draws
from the general situation the conclusion that the
Emperor had not gone to Holland on his own
initiative. 'On the contrary, he struggled as far
as possible against any attempt fo solve the ques-
tion on th&e lines. If finally he yielded through
sheer war weariness, this was solely Deciuse of all
the devices put into operation to undermine his
conwictions and to make him recede from his own
resolutions, The persons in his own immediate
entpurage, his official advisers, and above all the
higher officiiils of G.H.Q)., will kindly remember
witat I say, and canmpt but agree with it.’
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The Cfown Prince's appeal was answered by
Hindenburg.? Hindenburg points to the definite
nature of the dgcision taken by the Emperor on
g November on the unanimous proposal of all his
¢ompetent advisers. “The danger was that Yoyr
Majesty would sooner or Jater be taken prispner
by the insurgents and delivered over to the enemy,
whether at home or abroad. Such a disgrace to
the Fatherland had at all costs to e dverted.
Durinz tne afternoon of g November I adwised
Your Majesty, on behalf of us all, to go over into
Holland, as the last chance, which then seemed
to me to be merely a tempdrary expedient.
Even to-day I consider that the proposal was the
right one.’

It .was beyond doubt that Hindenburg made
this proposal to the Emperor on the afternoon of
g November; but the idea of going into Holland
was not a, chance improvisation conceived at the
Jast moment in the form of a wild flight which
might have been provoked by the progress of the
Revolution and events at Berlin.

Previously, during the morning of 9 November,
in the course of the conversations in ‘he garden
of La Fraineuse, the Generals discussed the
question where the Emperor could go if he did
rot remain at Spa. ‘Some recommended Swit-
zerland. The Marshal, however, preferred Hol-
land. In that.monarchical State the Emperor
would certainly be more sympathetically received,

! In 2 letter of 28 July 1922, addressed to the Emperor.
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and 3pa was no more than sivty kilometres from
the Dwtch frontier.'* Agcording to vog Plessen,
Hindenburg had, even before 9 November, sug-
gested to the Kaiser that he should go to Holland,
He had spoken of it to him 4s a possible refuge
‘several days earlier’.

It has even been suggested'that there had been
some question of the kind for a considerable time.
It was stated that a Dutch General who had been
-autHorised to wvisit the German front had been
interviewed on the subject.* This was General
van Heutsz, ex-Governor-General of the Dutch
East Indies. Lieutenant von Schwerin reports
that towards midnight of 8—g November, his
chief, Majot Rohr, was called to G.H.Q. He
was instructed.to make ready for the next morning
a company of his battalion to carry cud military
exercises showing modern methods of*attick, for
the benefit of a Dutch general. ‘Scldiers are
accustomed to reflect upon orders received only if
the execution of them is likely to be difficult. In
1 Memotzndum of 27 fuly 1914.

* Hintze's Nozes. On 8 April 1919 von Plessen sared in the
presence of Hintze, Schu'enburg, Marschall and Count Westarp,
that Hindenburg had spoken to the Emperor of proceeding to
Holland several days before g November.

® Frankfiirter Zeitung, 11 November :g18. According to the
categorical statement of Scheidemann in his Memoirs of a Social

Demacrar, London, 1929, the Kaiser had known since the ond

of Getober thi:}dn: Dutch frontier was opetsto him, the personal
intervention of'a cermin August Personage on the side of the
Alhes having dissipated certain hesitations on the part of the

Durch Government,
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this case there Was no such difficulty, We
thought these exercises otrange at such a moment,
bute attached ner,particular importance to them.'
‘The exercises began at g a.m. next morning and
lasted two hours. ‘Later, we wondered what
interest the Dutch general who was at Spa on g
Novembar could possibly take in such evolutions.?
The existing accounts of the events of o November
say nothing of his presence, and I doubt whether
all the departments concerned knew .cf.it.’
Schwerin thus leaves it to be understood that the
Emperor’s journey to Holland had been arranged
without the knowledge of the Emperor. The
same statement is to be found in Niemann., As
early as 7 November it was announced in Holland
that the Emperor would take up his residence in
the district of Apeldoorn. ‘At Berlin there had
been foresight enough to secure that all the
necessary*arrangements were made. ... Is it
possible ‘that certain high officials were con-
vinced that William II would go to Helland,
and so fnade the necessary arfangements for the:
journey?. It is impossible to do more.than raise
the questjon. Judging by Schwerin's evidence,
the answer would have to be in the affirmative,
since according to him, on g November at 12.30
p.m., and consequently at a moment when the
Emperor had taken no decision of the kind,

1 Enquiries moade among certain eminent Dutcamen have con-
vinced the author that General vap Heutsz’ presence at Spa
of 9 November was fortuitens,
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Majos Rohr, on his rejurn from G.H.Q., said
to his Lieutenant, ‘During the night the Emperor
will leave the army and proceed to Holland.'
Orders were given to detach a company to mount
gnard over the Imperial train to which thé
Sovereign was to procged on leaving the Chiteau
of La Fraineuse.
L #* L

It is no concern of this study to consider the
question whether William 11 was wdl »r ill-
advised in deciding to leave Germany for Holland.
The Emperor himself has done his utmost to
justify a decision which filled some of hjs most
devoted adherents with consternation.

‘Some say says the Emperor, ‘ “the Kaiser
should have committed suicide” But my firm
convictions as a Christian were against this. Be-
sides, peoﬁle would have said of sne, “The
coward ! e is evading his responsibility by
suicide”  Others say, “The Kaiser should have
proceeded to the front, have charged the enemy
at the head of a detachment and sought death in
a final attack™.’ All sorts of people have held this
view. In one of his numerous ‘marginal notes’,
William IT himself wrote, in June ‘1974, on the
subject of Albania, ‘the Prince ! should fight and
conguer, or die at the head of those who remain
loyal to him’. At the end of October 1918 Count
Avgust Eulenburg thought that the Emperor
would join the army and endeavour to find a hero’s

T Witfam of Wied.
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death. The former Seeretary of State for the

Interior, Clemens von Delbriick, who had suc-

ceeded the ardent Conservative, von Berg, on

October as the En’lPtr{:r's Chief Civil Private

ecretiry, left for Spa‘on 8 November with the
object of dying at his King's side.t He arrived
at Spa five hours after the Kaiser's departure,
On behalf of the Junkers of Pomerania, the ex-
Chancellor Michaelis, ‘President’ of the province
of Poriieriinia, informed the Empress ? of a similar
desire on his qwn part and begged her to submit
the scheme to her husband. At the subsequent
receptien William II did not exchange a word
with him.

Happening to be alone with the Emperor for
two-hours on 3 November, Admiral von Hintze
‘cautious'y’ explained to him the desirability of
his preserce at the front among the fighting
trnars. William II agreed and stated that he
would go to the front. Three days later he told
Hintze, who had just returned from Berlin, ‘I
was reecived with enthusissm at the front.
Further ‘diplomatic’ questions revealed that the
Emperor had not passed beyond the depéts on the
lines of communication where the recruits were
stationed. “This was not at all the sort of journey

! Nowak.

*In his Memoirs Michaelis makes only one very discreet
allusion to his suggestion. ‘It was a matter f infinite difi-
culty to show the nmoble lady how the Emperor cquld
pieserve the monarchy for the Gesman people.”
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intended’, even though acraplane bdinbs had

fallen fairly close to the Imperial entourage and a

little” later near the Imperial train, an incident

which gave William 11 the oppbrtunity to recite

‘in a serene but subdued Yoice’ the wordsyput by

Shakespear® into the mouth of Julius Cepsar:
‘Cowards die many times before their deatha;

The valiant never gaste of death but once.

OF a1 the wonders that I yet have heard,

It seems to me most strange that men shoultl fryr;
Seeifig) that death, a necessary end,

Will come when it will coma.”

Hintze had toid Groner that the Emperog should,
in his view, visit the front. Groner stated that
the Marshal would never agree. Later, he told
Hintze that on scveral occasions he had spoken
with von Plessen of this idea, and that cach
tinze Plessen had replied, ‘Surely you would not
expose the Kaiser's Ef'cl’ e

roner himself reports that, immediately after
Drews' visit, he said to Generals von Marschall
and vop Plessen that the Emperor's posjtion was
untenable. ‘He should visit ‘the front, not to
review thé troops and to confer decorations, but
to look for death. He should go‘io sbme trench
which was under the full blast of war. If he were
mortally wounded, it would *be the finest death
possible. If he were wounded, the sentiments of
the German people would be completely changed
towards hin.' The two Generals both stated

L Mien ann, ol siser pad Repoalution,
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that such an idea; was out of the question.?
Hindenburg alscdisapnioved of the idea. He
was unwifling tq allow . the Emperor to rufi the
risks incurred in ‘actioh.

Schulenburg writes tnat Griner should have
approacked the Emperor directly. ‘He would
not have been refused!” WNone the less, in his
Mebnoirs, William 11 discusses only to reject, the
idea of ‘pmcc,eding to the front in searche6f death.
‘It wou'd Kave had the effect not only of preventing
the armistice, which was eagerly awaited by the
people, and for which we were already in nego-
tiation, put also of needlessly sacrificing the lives
of our best and loyallest soldiers.” So too the
Crown Prince. ‘It was impossible #or the Em-
peror to proceed to the front, to fight and dic
there, fordear that such a decision might give rise
to false intgrpretations likely to prejudice German
interests represented and defended at that very
moment at the armistice conference,” The faith-
ful Niemann paints the picture mere vividly still:
‘Seek deeth on the field of battle?. Timgs have
changed. Was the Kaiser to wait in some ditch
of a trench for the merciful missile which would
put him ot of i-is misery? Was he to burrow in
some shell-hole, only to fall perhaps wounded

1 Evidence of Graner af the Minich trial, October-Novamber
1g25. At this period von Marschall was dead. Plessen stares
tliaf Gréner never held any sach language to him, but he adds
that if any such suggestion had been made to him he would,
in the interests of the dynasty, have pefused to sulpmit it to Lis
makter. .
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into the hands of the entmy} From the sublime
to thg ridiculous

. . 0w

Apart from the fanatical monarchists, there is
very little agreement in German public dpinion
as tb the cnticisms wliich might be madé on the
events of 9 November, and dn the final-act of the
drama, the retirement to the ‘ease and comfort’
of a neutral country.® In support of this view it
will be enough to point to the contrast between
the exaltation of Emil Ludwig, ‘a writer of the
Left’, and the prosaic version of a man far remeoved
from the field of romantic literature, suclt as von
Payer, ex-Vice-Chancellor, one of the Old Guard
of the Demucratic Party.

While Ludwig stresses the ‘theatrical’ natuce of
the ‘confused, pathetic scene” which tosi place on
g Novémber, Payer emphasiscs’ their inost ordin-
ary and natural aspects. ‘If I had hdd time to
imagine the course of events in advance 1 should
probably have formed a somewhat different idea
of so catstrophie dn upset of the existing régime
—an idea of more viclent events from which the
spirit of “business’” would have been altogether
debarred. On g November itselfi got the impres-
sion that this historic event could have taken no
othen shape than this extremely ordinary one,
Everything in this extraordinary history hape
pehed in the most ordinary mantier. Apart from
those in the immediate entourage of the Sovereign,

E. Ludwiy WFilfplm der Zoveite,
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all concerhed understood! perfectly well thit the
destructicn of the moncychy and the transfer of
power to the masses vlre faits accomplis by mid-
da{ on 9 November. There could henceforth be
only ohc question at sue, namely, the question
of clothing these faits atcomplis as simply as
possible +An some ‘formula of juridical con-
firmation.’

In company with those who reproachetl William
II with having deserted not only his post and his
armies, but also his wife and children, Emil
Ludwig holds that the “fifth act’ of abdication
‘could sonly have fittingly ended with a shot
behind the scenes, or else a ride to the battle-
front *Ten words to his assembledbfhicers “To
the ‘front”, and with the old Prussian Hurrah!'
—Or, ‘F{2d he not perpetually appealed to the
Great Fretierick? Frederick had always karried

oison abbut him.'

This is not Payer's opinion, who claims that his
conclusion is the simple one to be drawn by
commorf sense and complete 'mpartiatty from
the history of 9 November. Payer takes the view
that William 11 was wrong nct to leave the scene
earlier, antd that-he would now appear ‘in 2 better
light if he had on his own initiative and in good
time sacrificed himself for the Reich’. Wien it
wes roughly awakened by the disaster, the country
overwhelmed the Kaiser with its angér; but *by
his departure the Kaiser r¢ndered hiy people,a
twofold service: voluntarily; by decicing against
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the wild ride to death which was expectd of him
by people who were eveh moressentimental than
he was, and by thus abanc *ning the idea of further
useless slaughter; involuntatily,*by relieving the
Reich, by his departure to gutﬂh territegy, of
all political? responsibility on the subject of his
person’. His presence in Germany would have
been a serious embarrassment. Otto Pfammaﬂn,
who fof hearly thirty years was head of the Press
Bureau at the Wilhelmstrasse, also considers that
the Kaise?’s departure considerably facilitated
the heavy task GfF:*.hc civil and military authorities
of the Reich. A Social Democrat like Tudwig
Herz goes so far as to maintain, not without
irony, that the chief service rendered to Gejynany
by William I during the thirty-one years of his

reign was rendered when he left it.2

1 udwip Herz, Die dbdonkunr, LeiEzig,-'Igz_q.‘
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